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          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: My name is Dan

          3  Garodnick.  I am from Manhattan, and I am the Chair

          4  of this Subcommittee.  I wanted to start by

          5  recognizing my colleagues who are here today.

          6  Starting with the members of the Subcommittee,

          7  Council Member Inez Dickens, to my right.  Also

          8  Council Member Maria Baez, all the way on the far

          9  left.  We're also joined by Council Member Maria del

         10  Carmen Arroyo, and Council Member Helen Diane

         11  Foster, both of the Bronx.  We're glad they're here.

         12                 Since many of you are here for the

         13  purpose of offering testimony on the Yankee Stadium

         14  matter, please make sure that you have filled out a

         15  speaker's slip indicating that you wish to testify,

         16  and put it in the hands of one of our very able

         17  Sergeants-At-Arms.  And please write clearly and

         18  whether you wish to testify in favor or against.

         19                 But before we get to the Yankees,

         20  this Committee first has to address a couple of

         21  housekeeping matters. Applications from the

         22  Department of Housing Preservation and Development.

         23  We are going to very briefly deal with that at the

         24  outset, and then we're going to turn to the Yankee

         25  Stadium matters.

                                                            11

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2                 The Yankee Stadium redevelopment,

          3  which is ULURP No. 78 to 88.  And it's very clear to

          4  me that there are a number of people in the room

          5  today who wish to have their voices in that

          6  discussion. First of all, I just want to welcome you

          7  to the City Council.  We are very glad that you are

          8  here joining us today.  And as we have planned, I

          9  want to note that members of this Committee will be

         10  considering all that we hear today, and will not be

         11  voting at today's hearing.  There is going to be a

         12  special meeting on April 5th, at 9:30 am for the

         13  purpose of voting on this matter. You are all, of

         14  course, welcome to come and join us on April 5th.

         15  But this is the opportunity today to testify, speak,

         16  and be heard.

         17                 So let me get started with our first

         18  items of business, and I'm calling HPD to the

         19  witness table.  We have Carol Clarke and Annemarie

         20  Hendrickson.  I'm going to start with pre considered

         21  Third- party Transfer 20065259HAK.  Ms. Clarke.

         22                 MS. CLARKE: Right.  These items are

         23  for the transfer and disposition of property and a

         24  related tax exemption and the third party transfer

         25  round 5b action.  All the affected Council Members

                                                            12

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  have concurred with the action that's proposed

          3  today. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: I'm also going

          5  to call pre considered Third- party Transfer

          6  20065260HK.  Ms. Clarke, the same statement for that

          7  one?

          8                 MS. CLARKE: That is correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

         10                 I'm now going to open the hearing on

         11  pre- considered Mother Gaston Apartments.  Number

         12  N060249HAK.  Ms. Clarke.

         13                 MS. CLARKE: Yes.  This is in Council

         14  Member Dilan's district.  He's approved of the

         15  project.  It proposes the development of four- story

         16  building on Mother Gaston Boulevard, with

         17  approximately 50 residential units to be developed

         18  as supportive housing.  Supportive housing provides

         19  loans to qualified nonprofits and community- based

         20  organizations to build permanent, affordable housing

         21  for formerly homeless individuals, and disabled

         22  persons.

         23                 On- site case management services are

         24  provided, to ensure that the tenants have access to

         25  all job training, education, health care, and other
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          2  social services.  Thus, in essence, supportive

          3  housing combines permanent, affordable housing with

          4  access to social services, to help end chronic

          5  homelessness in New York City.

          6                 We recommend "yes".

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

          8  Clarke. Questions.  Seeing no members of the public

          9  wishing to testify in favor or against this matter,

         10  I'm going to close the hearing on pre- considered

         11  Mother Gaston, N060249HAK.  And I'm going to move on

         12  to Land Use Nos. 60 and 61, which are related.  They

         13  are South Jamaica 1URA Plan, New Foundations

         14  C050422HUQ, as well as C050423 HAQ.  Ms. Clarke.

         15                 MS. CLARKE: These are items to

         16  facilitate the development of a New Foundations

         17  townhouse development in the district of Council

         18  Member White, who does approve of the action. And in

         19  addition, there is an amendment to the South of

         20  Jamaica One Urban Renewal Plan, that is in the area

         21  of Council Members Comrie and White.  And they are

         22  in concurrence.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Can you

         24  describe the New Foundation plan?

         25                 MS. CLARKE: The New Foundations is a
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          2  development that is two units of housing in

          3  Community Board Number 12.  Mr. Sam Wu of CDC

          4  Builders is the developer.  It's located at 115- 40,

          5  115 42 Sepsen (phonetic) Boulevard.  New

          6  construction on vacant land.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          8                 Seeing no members of the public

          9  wishing to testify in favor or against this matter,

         10  I'm going to close the hearing on Land Use Number 60

         11  and 61, related matters.  And move on to Land Use

         12  Number 48, non- ULURP Number 20065167HAK, a number

         13  of properties in the district of Council Member Eric

         14  Dilan.  I'm going to call on Ms. Hendrickson.

         15                 MS. HENDRICKSON: Good afternoon

         16  Chair, Council Members.  The site consists of six

         17  buildings that are scheduled for sale under the

         18  Neighborhood Entrepreneurs Program.  The developer

         19  is Joseph Norton Realty, LLC.  When the buildings

         20  are sold, they will be renovated with a construction

         21  loan from HPD, and Low Income Housing Tax Credit.

         22  Six buildings will be renovated, and will provide 34

         23  units of affordable housing.  The developer has met

         24  with the Council Member who has indicated his

         25  approval.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Can you please

          3  briefly describe the Entrepreneurs Program?

          4                 MS. HENDRICKSON: Sure.  The

          5  Neighborhood Entrepreneurs Program selects

          6  community- based developers to renovate and operate

          7  occupied residential buildings as affordable rental

          8  housing.  Developers were selected pursuant to a

          9  Request for Qualifications, and have experience in

         10  developing occupied housing in the particular

         11  district.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

         13  Hendrickson.

         14                 Seeing no members of the public

         15  wishing to testify on either side of this matter,

         16  I'm going to close the hearing on Land Use 48, non-

         17  ULURP 20065167HAK, and open the hearing on two

         18  matters in the district of Council Member Inez

         19  Dickens.  Land  Use 50, which is non- ULURP Number

         20  20065169HAM.  Land Use 52 is non ULURP Number

         21  20065171HAM.  Ms. Hendrickson.

         22                 MS. HENDRICKSON: These two sites,

         23  again, are scheduled for sale through the

         24  Neighborhood Entrepreneurs Program. The first site,

         25  the West 131st Street cluster, consists of five
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          2  buildings.  Once renovated, they will provide 48

          3  units of residential housing, with five commercial

          4  spaces.  Land Use Number 52, also scheduled for sale

          5  under the Neighborhood Entrepreneurs Program, the

          6  developer is Francis Sumoir (phonetic).  Once

          7  renovated, there will be seven buildings with 67

          8  units of affordable housing, and three commercial

          9  units.  Both developers have met and secured

         10  approval from the Council Member Dickens. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

         12  Hendrickson.

         13                 I'm going to recognize Council Member

         14  Dickens.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 For Land Use item number 50, the

         18  designated sponsor for the development of this five-

         19  building, multiple dwelling, is Global, and this is

         20  their maiden venture in the Harlem real estate

         21  market.  Post- construction plans call for 48

         22  dwelling units, and five commercial spaces.  The

         23  dwellings will be totally rehabilitated, and

         24  financed through home funds, low income tax credits.

         25    Seventy- five percent of the units will be
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          2  affordable, while the remaining 25 will be rented at

          3  market rates

          4                 Currently, 21 of the 69 units are

          5  occupied.  I have received assurance that adequate

          6  relocation facilities will be provided to the

          7  affected families with minimal interruption to their

          8  daily lives.

          9                 In Land Use item 52, this is a seven-

         10  building, multiple dwelling.  The principal of the

         11  construction is Mr. Francis Semois.  The principal

         12  of New York Residential Works.  Post construction

         13  calls for 67 dwelling units plus one unit for a

         14  superintendent, and two store- front commercial

         15  spaces.

         16                 Four of the multiple dwellings are

         17  listed in the National Registry.  The buildings will

         18  be totally rehabilitated, using low income housing

         19  tax credits.  Twenty percent of the units will rent

         20  at market rate, that's 13.  And the balance, 54

         21  units, will be very affordable rents, in accordance

         22  with the tax credit rent.

         23                 As both of these projects are an

         24  accelerated UDAP, I have asked the developers in

         25  both instances, to reach out to the Community Board
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          2  to enlist their cooperation.

          3                 Chairman Garodnick, withstanding

          4  introduction to CV10 in Manhattan, I recommend

          5  approval.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

          7  Council Member Dickens.

          8                 Seeing no members of the public

          9  wishing to testify on this matter, these matters,

         10  Land Use 50 and 52, I'm going to close the hearing

         11  on Land Use 50, 20065169HAM.  Close the hearing on

         12  52, 20065171HAM.  And open the hearing on Land Use

         13  Number 96, non- ULURP 20065302HAK, which is in the

         14  district of Council Member Vann.  And Ms.

         15  Hendrickson.

         16                 MS. HENDRICKSON: This building is one

         17  vacant building, one located at 189 Clifton Place.

         18  It is scheduled for sale to Housing Development Fund

         19  Corporation formed by the Pratt Area Community

         20  Council.  Once the building is renovated, it will

         21  provide four condominium units.  Council Member Vann

         22  has previously approved this as a rental, and is

         23  pleased that the building will be converted to

         24  condominium home- ownership units for the community

         25  residents.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          3                 Seeing no members of the public

          4  wishing to testify on Land Use 96, 20065302HAK, I'm

          5  going to close the hearing on that matter.  And open

          6  our final UDAAP application, Land Use 98, non ULURP

          7  20065304HAK, in the district of Council Member

          8  Dilan.  Again, Ms. Hendrickson.

          9                 MS. HENDRICKSON: This Land Use Number

         10  98 is consists of one vacant building located at

         11  2966 Fulton Street.  It is scheduled for sale to a

         12  Housing Development Fund Corporation formed by the

         13  not- for- profit sponsor, Cypress Hills Local

         14  Development Corporation.  Again, it's one additional

         15  home that would be sold under the Neighborhood Homes

         16  Program, which provides home ownership opportunities

         17  for the community residents.  This is a add- on to a

         18  previous package that has been approved by Council

         19  Member Dilan. So the total package will be 12

         20  buildings, that will provide 12 homes to the

         21  community residents in Council Member Dilan's

         22  district.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

         24  Hendrickson.

         25                 Again, seeing no members of the
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          2  public wishing to testify on this matter, I'm going

          3  to close the hearing on Land Use 98, 20065304HAK.

          4                 We are going to couple all of the

          5  items we have heard together, with the exception of

          6  Land Use Numbers 60 and 61. At the request of the

          7  Member involved, in who's district those properties

          8  sit.  And we are going to couple together the rest

          9  for the purpose of the voting.  And I'm going to

         10  call on our Counsel, Carol Shunn (phonetic).  And

         11  the Chair recommends an "aye" vote on these matters.

         12                 MS. SHUNN: Chair Garodnick

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Aye.

         14                 MS. SHUNN: Council Member Baez

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye.

         16                 MS. SHUNN: Council Member Dickens

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Aye.

         18                 MS. SHUNN: By a vote of three in the

         19  affirmative, none in the negative, and no

         20  abstentions, the aforementioned items are approved

         21  and referred to the full Committee.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 We are now going to turn to the

         25  Yankee Stadium redevelopment, which is ULURP Numbers
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          2  78 to 88.

          3                 Thank you Ms. Clarke, Ms.

          4  Hendrickson.

          5                 These are all applications from the

          6  Department of Parks and Recreation.  As I explained

          7  earlier, if you wish to testify on this, please take

          8  a moment to full out a speaker's slip, which can be

          9  obtained by our Sergeants- at- Arms.  And I want you

         10  to know that members of the public will have an

         11  opportunity to testify for two minutes each.

         12                 Just to give you a sense of how this

         13  is going to go today, so there's no mystery, we're

         14  first going to hear from the Parks Department, which

         15  is the applicant in this situation.  Then we're

         16  going to have questions from members.  Because we

         17  have so many people wishing to testify, I

         18  unfortunately have to limit the number of questions

         19  from the members of this Committee.  So we're going

         20  to limit that to one or two questions for each

         21  member.  And I hope that you will cooperate with me

         22  on that.

         23                 After the Parks Department, we will

         24  hear from the Yankees and then we will hear from the

         25  Bronx Borough President and members of the public.
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          2                 What I'm going to do when it's

          3  becomes the time for the public session is, I'm

          4  going to call several people at a time up to the

          5  witness table over here.  I will give you a little

          6  heads up, we'll call it an "on deck".  And you  --

          7  sorry  --  and just so you know, please be ready to

          8  come to the table as soon as I call you, because we

          9  obviously have a lot of people who want to testify

         10  today.  And I'm going to try to move this along

         11  expeditiously.

         12                 Just so you know, this hearing will

         13  be open today until we have heard from every member

         14  of the public who wishes to be heard on this matter.

         15    So we are here.

         16                 Please understand also, that I will

         17  be extending that courtesy to every member of the

         18  public who wishes to testify. And I understand that

         19  there are very strong views on both sides of this

         20  issue.  And I expect everyone in this chamber to

         21  behave with decorum.  And I want you to understand

         22  also, that we're going to have to abide by those

         23  timelines in light of the fact that there are so

         24  many people.  And I'm going to apologize in advance,

         25  if you're time is up, I am going to force you to
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          2  wrap it up.  And it's not because I don't respect

          3  your words or your testimony, or disagree with you

          4  in any way, it is just that we need to move this

          5  along.  So let me just apologize in advance for

          6  that.

          7                 So we're going to start off the day

          8  with the applicant, which is the Department of Parks

          9  and Recreation.  And Commissioner, nice to see you.

         10  If you would just identify yourself, and your

         11  colleagues, and you're free to begin.  Thank you.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Thank you and

         13  good afternoon Committee Chair Garodnick, Committee

         14  Members, and Members of the City Council.  I'm

         15  Adrian Benepe, Commissioner of Parks and Recreation,

         16  here on behalf of Mayor Bloomberg, First Deputy

         17  Mayor Patty Harris, and Deputy Mayor Daniel

         18  Doctoroff.  And joined here, by Assistant

         19  Commissioner Joshua Laird, and Deputy Commissioner

         20  Michael Primeggia, of the Department of

         21  Transportation.

         22                 Thank you for inviting us to testify

         23  on behalf of the Yankee Stadium Development Project.

         24    Following a brief overview that I will provide,

         25  Assistant Commissioner Joshua Laird will discuss the
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          2  substance of the project.  We are also joined by

          3  staff from a variety of agencies, who are here with

          4  us today, who will assist in answering any questions

          5  you may have.

          6                 First, I'd like to say that this

          7  project is a clear sign of the Administration's

          8  commitment for the revival of the Bronx.  Throughout

          9  the borough, projects are beginning to take shape

         10  that will improve the quality of life for Bronx

         11  residents, workers, and visitors.  These include

         12  plans to spur economic development in Hunts Point

         13  and around the HUB, build affordable housing in

         14  places such as Melrose Commons, and create retail at

         15  the Bronx Terminal Market.

         16                 As Parks Commissioner, I have a

         17  particular interests in balancing economic

         18  development against sensitive policies for

         19  sustaining public open places.  It is in the Bronx,

         20  more than any other borough, that the commitment to

         21  this principle is manifest. Now it is projected that

         22  the Bronx will grow by over 150,000 residents over

         23  the next 25 years.  By that time, indeed within the

         24  next decade, we will have largely rebuilt the Bronx

         25  Parks System, with funding commitments being made
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          2  today.

          3                 You probably know that 25 percent of

          4  the land area of the Bronx is parkland, which is a

          5  higher percentage than any other borough.  With

          6  plans to build new greenways along the Harlem River,

          7  Bronx River, and the Hutchinson River Parkway, with

          8  new parks to be developed from Melrose Commons to

          9  the eventual transformation of the Pelham landfill,

         10  the Bronx Park System is growing again.  Between

         11  just Yankee Stadium, the Croton Water Treatment

         12  Plant, and the Bronx River, we will commit almost

         13  $500 million over the next five years for new and

         14  improved parks.  As planning for the redevelopment

         15  for the Yankee Stadium has advanced, we have

         16  listened intently to the comments of local residents

         17  and elected officials, and we have responded with

         18  adjustments to our plans that we hope will make for

         19  an even better project.

         20                 The economic benefits of the Yankee

         21  Stadium project are strong.  First and foremost, the

         22  plan secures the future of the Yankees in the Bronx

         23  for the next 40 years.  The team will pay for its

         24  stadium and for its upkeep.  Now this is no small

         25  matter. Under the current lease, the City winds up
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          2  paying for the ongoing maintenance and repair of the

          3  aging and outmoded current facility, a cost that

          4  threatens to soon outpace the revenue we receive

          5  from the team.

          6                 The project will also bring new tax

          7  revenues, approximately 3,600 construction- related

          8  jobs, and 900 permanent new jobs to the City.  In

          9  fact, the City's Industrial Development Agency,

         10  which will vote on financing the stadium project,

         11  following Council approval, has projected tens of

         12  millions in net economic benefit for the City as a

         13  result of this project.

         14                 It is our hope this afternoon to

         15  clear up some of the misconceptions about the plan.

         16  For starters, this is hardly a precedent in New York

         17  City.  Shea Stadium KeySpan Park, the U.S. Tennis

         18  Center, and even the new Icahn Stadium are all built

         19  on parkland.  The Tennis Center is particularly

         20  relevant in comparison.  When plans were made to

         21  move the U.S. Open from Forest Hills in the late

         22  1970s, a large swathe of the Flushing Meadows Corona

         23  Park was made available for the new sports complex.

         24  During the 1990s, the facility was again expanded

         25  further into the park for the construction of the
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          2  new Arthur Ashe Stadium.  Both of these projects

          3  were controversial in day.  Both are now generally

          4  acknowledged as having been great deals for New York

          5  City.

          6                 Some have also criticized plans to

          7  build some of the replacement park facilities atop a

          8  parking garage.  In fact, the one garage in question

          9  will be below the grade of neighboring streets.

         10  Park visitors will be able to walk right onto the

         11  roof of this garage from the surrounding sidewalks.

         12  There are many examples of parks on roofs across the

         13  City.  For example, few visitors to Bryant Park

         14  realize they are walking on top of the stacks of the

         15  New York Public Library below.  Most of Riverside

         16  Park, from 72nd Street to 125th Street is built on

         17  the roof of a massive train tunnel.  Union Square

         18  had to be almost completely demolished for the

         19  original creation of a subway station below its

         20  southern half in the 1920s and '30s.  And the

         21  outboard swath of Battery Park might not have been

         22  created except for being on top of the Brooklyn

         23  Battery Tunnel, and the highway underpass.  Even

         24  today, as we speak, Battery Park has been opened up

         25  for the creation of a new South Ferry Station, which
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          2  will soon be covered over, hidden from view again,

          3  and the park retrieved for visitors.

          4                 Some have expressed concerns about

          5  replacement parks as being scattered and over a mile

          6  away.  This is not the case. With the exception of

          7  the tennis courts, all of the replacement playfields

          8  are concentrated in the new complex of athletic

          9  fields planned for Macombs Dam Park, and are

         10  literally across the street from their present

         11  location.  The new waterfront park is three quarters

         12  of a mile in actual walking distance from the

         13  current location of the tennis courts.

         14                 The histories of Yankee Stadium and

         15  the parks that surround it have long been

         16  intertwined.  Although land from Macombs Dam Park

         17  was first acquired in 1897, the full present- day

         18  park was not assembled and improved until after

         19  Yankee Stadium was constructed in 1923.  The land

         20  for John Mullaly Park was also acquired around the

         21  same time, in 1924.  As with the stadium itself,

         22  time has taken its toll on both parks.  They are

         23  cleaned and maintained, but heavy use has inevitably

         24  worn playing fields down to dirt.

         25                 The stadium project brings an
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          2  opportunity to reinvest and reinvigorate these

          3  surrounding parks.  Just as the Yankees intent to

          4  construct a new stadium that incorporates the

          5  heritage of the field with the advantages of a

          6  modern ballpark, the City's commitment to public

          7  open space will advance the legacy of the Bronx Park

          8  System, while creating new green spaces, state- of

          9  the- art playing fields, and revitalized

         10  waterfronts.

         11                 Joshua Laird, our Assistant

         12  Commissioner for Planning and Natural Resources will

         13  now briefly summarize the project and the ULURP

         14  actions before you today.  Thank you.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: Thank

         16  you Commissioner.   Chair, Committee Members.  As

         17  most of you know at this point, the project would

         18  allow for the creation of a new Yankee Stadium

         19  across the street from its present location, on a

         20  site encompassing a portion of Macombs Dam and John

         21  Mullaly Parks, that extends from 161st Street to

         22  164th Street; and from River Avenue to Jerome

         23  Avenue.  There would be no impacts to John Mullaly

         24  Park north of 164th Street.

         25                 The project would also allow for the
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          2  construction of four new parking garages, three of

          3  which would also be in Macombs Dam Park.  New parks

          4  will be constructed that will more than replace all

          5  of the land, and all the park facilities by the

          6  stadium and the garages.

          7                 In total, the new stadium and a new

          8  garage to be placed at its north end, would displace

          9  two ballfields, a running track with an interior

         10  soccer field, eight handball courts, two basketball

         11  courts, and 16 tennis courts.  A second garage would

         12  displace two ballfields and 24 handball courts, but

         13  would be replaced by a new park on the top deck of

         14  the parking structure. The third garage in Macombs

         15  Dam Park would replace an existing surface parking

         16  lot.

         17                 In terms of land area, 15.1 acres of

         18  parkland would be displaced for the new stadium and

         19  the garage at its north end. However, 16.1 acres of

         20  new parkland would be created and mapped for the

         21  project.

         22                 Looking at the project from a slight

         23  different perspective, in terms of usable recreation

         24  space, the stadium and the new garages would

         25  displace 22.4 acres of recreation facilities, but
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          2  the project would create a total of 24.5 acres of

          3  new park facilities.

          4                 Let me briefly summarize the Land Use

          5  actions before you today.  There are 11

          6  applications, but I'll summarize the approvals.

          7                 First, they will allow the City to

          8  enter into a long- term lease with the Yankees, for

          9  the construction of the stadium on portions of

         10  Macombs Dam and Mullaly Parks.

         11                 That will allow the City to enter

         12  into a long- term lease for the construction and

         13  management of stadium parking facilities on public

         14  parkland.

         15                 They will approve special permits for

         16  the creation of a new stadium parking garage on

         17  151st Street and River Avenue.

         18                 They will approve the creation of a

         19  major concession for the new waterfront tennis

         20  facility.

         21                 And lastly, they will map new

         22  parklands comprising the old stadium site, Ruppert

         23  Place, two small parcels along River Avenue and

         24  157th Street, and the new waterfront park.

         25                 Our goal is not only to replace the
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          2  lost recreation fields, but also to create parks

          3  that offer more recreation, will last longer, and

          4  which will be as great an asset to the community as

          5  is the existing park.  Based on community feedback

          6  heard during various public meetings, we've revised

          7  the proposed site plan to better reflect the

          8  concerns of local residents.

          9                 Far from scattered or remote, the

         10  plan would create just two new major park areas.

         11                 We will create a 5.4 acre waterfront

         12  park and tennis center along the Harlem River.

         13  There will be 16 courts, and a nearby tennis house,

         14  located in a rehabilitated historic building that

         15  was a part of the Bronx Terminal Market.  This would

         16  also contain maintenance and operation facilities

         17  for our new parks. The waterfront park will connect

         18  directly with an additional 2- acre open space

         19  parcel to be created in conjunction with the Gateway

         20  Center at the Bronx Terminal Market.  Thus we will

         21  create a new 7 and a half- acre park, which by

         22  comparison, is roughly the size of Rainey Park in

         23  the Longwood section of the Bronx.

         24                 The major new open space will be

         25  located just south of 161st Street, between Macombs
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          2  Dam Bridge and River Avenue, just across the street

          3  from the site of the new stadium.  Nearly 17 and a

          4  half acres, it exceeds the areas of Macombs Dam and

          5  Mullaly Parks displaced for the new stadium, by over

          6  two acres.  This "central park" would have two

          7  components: East of Ruppert Place, Heritage Field

          8  will be nearly a nine- acre open space on the site

          9  of the current Yankee Stadium.  Trees arranged to

         10  recreate the stadium's bowl will ring this park.  In

         11  its interior, Heritage Field would be natural grass,

         12  and it will have three ballfields, as well as a

         13  large playground along Ruppert Place.  West of

         14  Ruppert, the central park will feature four

         15  basketball courts, another playground, a four-

         16  hundred meter running track, with an interior soccer

         17  field and bleachers, a comfort station, Little

         18  League field, and nine handball courts.  This open

         19  space, which will sit atop two levels of below-

         20  grade parking, will be more easily accessible to

         21  park patrons than the existing sunken field, as

         22  visitors will be able to walk right onto the fields

         23  from the surrounding sidewalks.

         24                 The synthetic turf we will use for

         25  these fields, like our approach Citywide, would
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          2  provide high- quality play and withstand a much

          3  greater intensity of use than natural grass.

          4  Although I should note that of all the playing

          5  fields we're replacing, only one of the four

          6  ballfields with the synthetic turf, the other three

          7  would be natural grass.

          8                 Together, these new open spaces

          9  incorporate all of the athletic fields displaced by

         10  the project, plus two additional basketball courts,

         11  two brand new playgrounds, and a new community park.

         12

         13                 We will compensate for the loss of

         14  trees displaced by the new stadium by replanting

         15  according to our stringent tree replacement formula,

         16  known as basel area.  This means that we will plant

         17  well in excess of 10,000 new trees throughout the

         18  area, creating greener streets, and replacing the

         19  collective environmental function of what is lost.

         20                 The City will soon issue an RFP for

         21  the development and management of the new parking

         22  garages.  In response to comments from the community

         23  and local members of the Council, a provision of the

         24  RFP will allow the future operator to keep the

         25  garages open to the neighborhood for non- baseball
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          2  parking.  We expect to make this public parking

          3  available, and during the regular season up to a few

          4  hours before game time.

          5                 Parks is committed to constructing

          6  these parks simultaneously with the new stadium,

          7  beginning with the waterfront park.  We will start

          8  later this year with the waterfront work, and will

          9  also convert one of the existing Yankee parking lots

         10  into a temporary park throughout much of the

         11  construction project.  We also intend to accelerate

         12  the construction of garage A so that a portion of

         13  the new park on its roof can be completed before the

         14  new stadium.  Ultimately, any capital improvement to

         15  a park or playing field requires that the facilities

         16  is closed for some period of time, but we are taking

         17  steps to minimize the loss of community playing

         18  fields during construction.

         19                 Building these replacement parks is

         20  an absolute legally binding requirement of the

         21  project, but we hope not to stop at this.  The Parks

         22  Department is assessing additional improvements to

         23  Mullaly, Franz Siegel, and Joyce Kilmer Parks that

         24  have been suggested by members of the Bronx

         25  delegation, as important to the adjacent community.
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          2  With support from the Council, these projects, such

          3  as renovating the Mullaly Park plaza and playfields

          4  just north of 164th Street, and reconstructing

          5  ballfields in Franz Siegel Park would provide

          6  tangible benefits for all area residents.

          7                 The City is committing over $130

          8  million dedicated to renovating and creating new

          9  parks in this community.  This compares with an

         10  average annual capital investment of $24- to $30

         11  million across the Bronx in recent years.

         12  Comprehensive capital investments of this sort are

         13  extremely uncommon.  In fact, between the Yankee

         14  project  --  and again, as the Commissioner said,

         15  between the Yankee project, Croton mitigation funds,

         16  and recent allocations to the restoration of the

         17  Bronx River, nearly half a billion dollars will be

         18  spent on remaking the Bronx System over the next

         19  five year.  It is a time of unprecedented investment

         20  in this borough's public open spaces, and a

         21  remarkable commitment by our community leaders at

         22  all levels of government.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         24  Laird. Commissioner.  You're now available for

         25  questions.
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          2                 Let me first start out by recognizing

          3  that we have been joined by the Chair of the full

          4  Land Use Committee, Council Member Melinda Katz, of

          5  Queens.

          6                 I'm going to start us off.  I'll

          7  limit myself the way that I promised I would limit

          8  everybody else.  I'm concerned about the timeline of

          9  construction of replacement parks. Obviously, you're

         10  dealing with the potential of a great deal of

         11  construction here on existing parks, and you even

         12  acknowledged in your testimony that it is certain to

         13  be the case that there will be periods of time in

         14  which these facilities are not available to the

         15  public for use as parklands.  Can you help us figure

         16  out exactly the timeline for each of these elements,

         17  so that we can figure out here when you will have a

         18  temporary park at the first location you mentioned?

         19  The fixing up the parks north of 164th Street.  Take

         20  us through that.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: There

         22  will be some athletic facilities available

         23  throughout the project.  But they'll change

         24  throughout the years of construction.  This season,

         25  obviously, if the stadium goes into construction
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          2  this May, the ballfields and the track in Macombs

          3  Dam Park would be closed.  Approximately half the

          4  tennis courts, the northern bank of eight tennis

          5  courts would remain open to the public, and the two

          6  little Yankee fields adjacent to the existing

          7  stadium would also remain in play for this season.

          8                 We are looking at possibilities for

          9  creating a temporary running surface, not a 440-

         10  meter running track, but a running circuit for

         11  recreational runners, either around the little

         12  Yankee fields, or in Mullaly Park that would come

         13  into use this season.

         14                 Next year in the   --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: I'm sorry.

         16  Can you just  -- can you show us, when you say that,

         17  can you just show it to us on the diagram?  I think

         18  that would be useful.  Yes, I know it's a small one,

         19  but

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: The

         21  stadium construction will take out the track and

         22  these two ballfields this Summer.  The northern bank

         23  of tennis courts remain in play.  And these two

         24  ballfields remain in play.  The temporary running

         25  surface that I mentioned would either be around the
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          2  infield, or up here in Mullaly Park.  And that is

          3  for this, 2006, season.  Next year, during 2007, we

          4  will have started construction on the waterfront.

          5  We'll open this site sometime during the Summer.

          6  Tennis is proposed to go here.  The permanent

          7  tennis.   We are open, at the suggestion of local

          8  Council Members, to doing temporary playing fields

          9  on this waterfront site, putting off the

         10  construction of the tennis until more of the local-

         11  used ballfields are put back into play.

         12                 We would also convert this surface

         13  parking lot, which is a future garage site, into a

         14  temporary park.  It would have a synthetic turf

         15  surface with a running track around it, so that by

         16  next year, we'll have a much better running surface.

         17    And it will have either a soccer field or a

         18  baseball field --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: You would

         20  start that simultaneous with the construction of a

         21  new stadium?  Is that what you are saying?  You'd

         22  start that this  --

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: That's

         24  right.  Both the waterfront work and the conversion

         25  of this parking lot will start this year, so that
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          2  they will be ready for play next year.

          3                 In 2008, this temporary park is still

          4  in play, the waterfront park is still in play.

          5  These ballfields are out of commission now, but we

          6  are working on finishing the parking garage that

          7  goes here, and the permanent running track will be

          8  coming into play by 2009.  At that point, we need to

          9  start construction on the garage that goes here, so

         10  this comes out of play.  We still have the

         11  waterfront park, we've now brought the track on

         12  line, but we obviously can't start the Heritage

         13  Field until the Yankees move into the new stadium.

         14  So the 2008 year is probably the most challenging.

         15  We hope to have some temporary playing fields at the

         16  waterfront.  We'll have the track and the soccer

         17  field at its interior.  But we won't have any of the

         18  permanent ballfields.

         19                 2009, we complete the rooftop park

         20  here, so we have one of the ballfields back.  And

         21  then in 2010, as soon as the Yankees close their

         22  2008 season, which is their last in the existing

         23  stadium, we'll begin to take down the existing

         24  building. And we will work through 2009 to build the

         25  Heritage Park, so that in 2010, end of 2010, we'll
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          2  bring the new playing fields, and complete the

          3  entire replacement program in 2010.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          5  One other question, then I'm going to turn it to my

          6  colleagues.  You mentioned the use of synthetic

          7  turf, and how that is being used around the City.

          8  You mentioned that one of the fields was going to be

          9  synthetic, the other three were going to be natural

         10  grass.  Did I get that right?  The other three are

         11  natural grass?  Why are you using synthetic for that

         12  one?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: Well,

         14  synthetics are for ballfields, and especially for

         15  the soccer field, has an advantage in that it can

         16  withstand a much higher intensity of play, it means

         17  a longer playing season. It means it doesn't wear

         18  out to dirt.  With grass fields, the only way to

         19  maintain the grass is to control the level of play,

         20  so that you give the grass time to rebound.  There's

         21  no amount of maintenance that can sustain natural

         22  grass when people want to use it day in, day out.

         23  So the synthetic turf gives us the advantage of

         24  having some fields that will be available late into

         25  the Fall, immediately after rainstorms, really
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          2  throughout the year, anytime people want to play.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          4  Let me recognize the presence of two Council Members

          5  who have also joined us. Melissa Mark- Viverito, of

          6  Manhattan and a piece of the Bronx; as well as

          7  Council Member White, from Queens.  And I would now

          8  like to defer to the Chair of the Land Use

          9  Committee, Council Member Melinda Katz.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you Mr.

         11  Chair.  And might I just congratulate you.  You are

         12  a new Chairman here, only four months, and I think

         13  you've been doing a phenomenal job.  And you've

         14  handled this crowd.  I think that's a great thing.

         15  Congratulations.  We look forward to great things

         16  from you.

         17                 Thank you gentlemen.  I just have two

         18  really brief questions that I'd like to just put on

         19  the record for future reference.  The seats for

         20  Yankee Stadium, as they are now, how many?  How many

         21  seats will be in the end, from the new stadium? And

         22  also, the parking accommodations, now and compared

         23  to after the stadium is built.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I think the

         25  Yankees will give you the "to the seat" number, but
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          2  the current seating capacity is just under 57,000.

          3  And that number will drop by around 3,000 seats in

          4  the new stadium.  There will be some standing room.

          5  So the actual difference in capacity crowd is I

          6  think a little over a thousand.

          7                 There is a trade- off between new

          8  parking that's being created and some existing

          9  parking that's lost.  The net increase in parking is

         10  about 3,000 spaces.  There are about 7,080 existing

         11  parking spaces for the stadium.  At the end of the

         12  project, there will be approximately 10,400 parking

         13  spaces.  That's an increase of about 32 percent.

         14  And some people have said 75 percent.  That's the

         15  gross number of new parking spaces.  But when you

         16  account for those that are being demolished, it's an

         17  increase of 32 percent.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And your studies

         19  show people are driving now anyway.  So it's just

         20  the parking is not available.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That's correct.

         22  Even with the existing conditions, there's a very

         23  high model, but a lot of people drive to the park.

         24  There's not enough parking to accommodate those

         25  cars.  And so people wind up driving around local
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          2  streets trying to find parking, either legal or in

          3  many cases, illegal, on the sidewalk, and so forth,

          4  so they can get into the stadium.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Not Yankee

          6  customers.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's hard to

          8  believe.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: One other issue.

         10    The parking from now until when the stadium is

         11  finally built.  Will there ever be a time when

         12  parking will be less, as time goes on?  As you're

         13  constructing, you won't be taking away parking spots

         14  for the people that are coming to see the games,

         15  correct?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: There

         17  will be some shifting, and there will be minor

         18  variations in the number, but we're creating some

         19  temporary parking during construction to  -- for

         20  example, I mentioned converting one of the existing

         21  surface parking lots into a temporary park.  We're

         22  going to take those spaces, I think it's about 390

         23  spaces, and we're moving them to the Bronx Terminal

         24  Market waterfront.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.  And
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          2  finally, just --  I know this is not the pilot

          3  hearing, but I just think it's important that we

          4  note for the record, the financial arrangements.

          5  It's $135 million in capital from the City?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The park

          7  replacement costs is approximately $130 million.

          8  With the other infrastructure, there's some water

          9  main work, there's a new pedestrian bridge, there's

         10  some streetscape stuff.  The total capital dollars

         11  are about $160 million.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And from the

         13  State?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The State is

         15  contributing $170 million towards the construction

         16  of the parking garages.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And the Yankees?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The Yankees are

         19  paying for the cost of their new stadium.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Which is?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I'm sorry if I

         22  misspoke.  The State is contributing 70,  seven zero

         23  million towards the parking garages.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And again, the

         25  Yankees?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The Yankees are

          3  paying the total cost of their new stadium, which

          4  they will comment on when they testify.  I believe

          5  it's in the $800 million range.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Great.  I

          7  appreciate it.  And I would ask the audience that if

          8  I'm asking the questions, or any of my colleagues

          9  are asking the questions, they are meant for the

         10  people that are testifying.  Thank you.  I

         11  appreciate your time.

         12  Mr. Chair?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         14  Council Member Katz.  I'm now going to recognize

         15  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you Mr.

         17  Chairman. Commissioners, thank you for your

         18  testimony.  I have limited questions, so I'm going

         19  to try to summarize them as best as I can, so that

         20  we can get as much information from you as possible.

         21                 The number of parking spaces that are

         22  proposed with this project, insinuate additional

         23  traffic, one.  The concentration of the parking

         24  garages, and the number of cars that will be coming

         25  into the community, what is the traffic management
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          2  plan that you have in order to prevent the mayhem

          3  that we expect to happen if those garages are built?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: I

          5  think it's best if I try to field that question.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Sir, would you

          7  please identify yourself before you speak?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: I'm

          9  Michael Primeggia, I'm the Deputy Commissioner for

         10  Traffic Operations in the City Department of

         11  Transportation.

         12                 First, I think we should talk about

         13  the additional parking spaces.  As Josh mentioned,

         14  the existing  --  the increase in the number of

         15  parking spaces helps to address a major shortfall,

         16  the current major shortfall, in parking.  What that

         17  does, is it creates a situation where motorists who

         18  are arriving by car, don't have sufficient  --

         19  those are not able to find sufficient off street

         20  spaces, and so seek on- street spaces in the

         21  community.  As Council Member Katz mentioned,

         22  there's an existing modal split. How people arrive

         23  at the stadium.  Currently, people arrive at Yankee

         24  Stadium, for a week night game, 63 percent arrive in

         25  cars, and 68 percent arrive in cars during weekend
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          2  days.  We don't expect that number to increase.  And

          3  we believe that there are several good reasons for

          4  that.  Number one, the availability of parking is

          5  only one element that goes into the choice of a fan

          6  attending a game, what mode that fan uses.  In fact,

          7  parking availability is one of the lower points of

          8  decisions when somebody is making that decision, is

          9  one of the lower factors that goes into that

         10  decision.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Commissioner

         12   --  I'm sorry. That wasn't  --  you have two

         13  parking garages, and those displaced are very tiny.

         14  But there are two that if you can look behind you,

         15  there's a light grey area, and underneath the track,

         16  is another parking garage.  How many spots are going

         17  to be concentrated in that area?  And what is your

         18  plan to manage the traffic going into those two

         19  concentrated areas?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: I

         21  think Josh will give you the numbers, and I'll come

         22  back.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: The

         24  size of garage A is 1,700 spaces, and garage C, the

         25  two you referred to is 1,200. So it's about 2,900
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          2  parking spaces.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: It's a lot of

          4  cars.  Coming into the same place at the same time.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

          6  Correct.  And the access to those garages has been

          7  thoroughly examined in the IS. And in some of the

          8  mitigations, what some of the mitigations are, will

          9  include ramps directly into the facilities, a new

         10  signal to -  there are three new signals in total,

         11  but one of them adjacent to the  --  at the foot of

         12  that garage, which will help vehicles enter into the

         13  garage.  A large reservoir space inside the space to

         14  take the vehicles off the street and be in the

         15  garage.  And underground connections between the

         16  facilities to allow motorists to find those spaces

         17  without circulating on the surface, but actually

         18  circulating within the garage.

         19                 And so those are just some of the

         20  examples that the IS talks about, that helps to

         21  mitigate that specific location that you're

         22  addressing.

         23                 I think my earlier comments were more

         24  geared to the entire traffic coming into the

         25  neighborhood, and to the Yankee Stadium area.
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          2                 And again, I'd like to get back to

          3  the way the person makes a decision to drive.  It's

          4  not driven by the availability of parking.  It's

          5  driven more so by other factors, including

          6  congestion on the  --  known congestion on roadways

          7  approaching the area of the stadium.

          8                 And so we do not believe  --  and we

          9  believe it's reasonable to expect that the modal

         10  split will not change.  It will certainly not

         11  increase.  And we believe it will not have a

         12  significant change to the conditions which currently

         13  exist today.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: We have asked

         15  you to explore the possibility to designate a

         16  permit, a residential permit parking permit

         17  requirement.  In particular on game days.  So

         18  additional parking spots doesn't necessarily mean

         19  the fans are going to elect to park in those

         20  garages.  And as long as there's free community

         21  parking, they may opt to do that before they go into

         22  the garage. We've asked the Department to examine

         23  the possibility for a permit. Where have  --  have

         24  you done that?  What are you telling now us about

         25  that?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: We had

          3  analyzed the residential parking permit programs,

          4  and particularly looked at other cities'

          5  experiences.  What we find is that residential

          6  parking permit programs are generally not successful

          7  in high density neighborhoods, where the number of

          8  cars owned by residents far exceeds the number of

          9  spaces that are available on streets. Therefore, for

         10  this neighborhood, we don't believe that it will

         11  produce the desired outcomes.  And benefit the local

         12  residents.

         13                 However, we do believe there is a

         14  possibility of increasing the number of parking

         15  spaces for residents, by looking at block fronts

         16  that are currently regulated with restricted

         17  regulations.  Regulations which are not serving

         18  their purpose, because motorists either park in them

         19  illegally, or permitted users come in and take those

         20  spaces and prevent the curb space from being used as

         21  intended.  In those spaces, which could be regulated

         22  by parking meters currently, or No Parking areas or

         23  No Standing areas, we can look to make those spaces

         24  available to residents by changing the

         25  characteristics of those spaces from restricted or
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          2  set aside for other purpose, truck loading, or

          3  parking meters or street sweeping regulations, which

          4  will allow the residents who are in the neighborhood

          5  to have those spaces in the first instance.  And so,

          6  the residents' vehicles will be in those spaces

          7  before anybody arrives, visitors arrive into the

          8  neighborhood to take them.

          9                 And so, again, we are prepared to

         10  evaluate which ever locations the Council Members or

         11  the community believes would be useful.  We've

         12  already started looking at this last season, when we

         13  took the spaces around the courthouse on Concourse

         14  Village West, on 158th Street, on Gerard, and on the

         15  Concourse itself, and took restrictive regulations

         16  or parking meter regulations and turned them into

         17  street- sweeping regulations to allow the residents

         18  to have the opportunities to park in those spaces

         19  before anyone else arrives in the neighborhood.

         20                 And again, we're willing to do that

         21  within the immediate vicinity of the stadium, as

         22  well as in areas further away from the stadium if

         23  the community requires it and needs it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I find that a

         25  little contradictory, given what I've heard this
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          2  morning, announced the restrictions and parking on

          3  Grand Concourse in front of the Courthouse.  I'm not

          4  going to belabor the point.  I think we have other

          5  meetings scheduled with the Administration, and the

          6  agencies, and I hope to hear a different response on

          7  the parking permit issue.

          8                 Funding for the surrounding parks.

          9  What kind of a commitment are we getting on that?

         10  Details.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We have a list

         12  of projects that we've received from you.  We also

         13  have a list of some projects we've looked at.  And

         14  we are looking at the cost on a project by project

         15  basis for doing those.  At this point, our funding

         16  is only for the replacement parks.  The program I

         17  described.  So the ability to take on other

         18  projects, whether a few or all of them, depends on

         19  the availability of funding.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: We have about

         21  a week to work on this.  So we hope to hear

         22  different answers before the 5th.

         23                 Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         25  Council Member Arroyo.  I'll now recognize Council
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          2  Member Helen Diane Foster, from the Bronx.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

          4  Chair, I'm very aware of time, but I think before I

          5  get into my questions, I must state for the record,

          6  that I am adamantly opposed to this plan as it

          7  stands.  And please, let's save that.  I am a

          8  resident of the community, I'm not one of the people

          9  that others like to refer as agitators who don't

         10  live there.  I live on Woody Crest, and have lived

         11  there all my life.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Excuse me.

         13  Let me interrupt you for one moment.  Please, I'd

         14  like to ask that we not have applause in the middle

         15  of the questioning.  This is going to make the

         16  hearing much longer, and much less orderly.  And so,

         17  I'd like you to give the Council Member the chance

         18  to ask the question. Members of the public,

         19  obviously, are going to have more than ample

         20  opportunity to express their views to this

         21  Committee.  So I'm sorry to interrupt you Council

         22  Member.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: No, that's

         24  fine.  Thank you.

         25                 Have lived in the area all my life.
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          2  I am a fan of the Yankees, but not a fan of the

          3  Yankee organization.  No one will question, we have

          4  Reggie Jackson here.  No one will question that he's

          5  Mr. October.  But the Bronx is much different from

          6  when you were here.  We have double digit

          7  unemployment.  We have HIV and AIDs rapid.  We have

          8  asthma, and as long as I've been in the area, the

          9  Yankees have not been a fan of the community.  And I

         10  know they will say different, but a person's

         11  perception is their reality. And the perception for

         12  those of us who live in the community is very real.

         13  We know what it is to, on game day, to have to walk

         14  in the street, because fans can park on the

         15  sidewalk.  We know what it is for the police

         16  officers to be deployed from our local precincts to

         17  protect Yankee fans as we are treated rudely.  We

         18  know what it is to live and not be able to get off

         19  the Major Deegan, because of the fans and the

         20  traffic.

         21                 And my concern is everything that

         22  I've heard, and especially to the DOT Commissioner,

         23  and you know I never say your last name correctly,

         24  so I'll say Mr. Michael, everything that I've heard

         25  has dealt with us talking to Yankee fans.  How they
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          2  get to the stadium, what works best for them.  We

          3  have what, over 2,000, close to 3,000 parking spaces

          4  off one exit of the Major Deegan, so the person that

          5  lives on Ogden and 162nd has no choice but to get

          6  right in that traffic and go home.  We've heard

          7  about, I think it's disingenuous that we will fix up

          8  parks to the south of the new park, where the Yankee

          9  fans will drive in and say, "Why are they upset?

         10  Look what they've gotten".  And the "they" are the

         11  Black and Latino residents that live in the area.

         12  And it's not only disingenuous, it's disrespectful.

         13                 So my questions are, were the fans,

         14  outside of the fans, were the community consulted in

         15  terms of a survey with traffic?  And the answer

         16  about the parks, in my opinion, is quite

         17  insufficient, because there was a laundry list of

         18  parks.  So not only you go to Mullaly right a block

         19  outside of the stadium, and it needs more than a

         20  couple of million dollars.  If we can do this, we

         21  need to be able to fix up all the parks within a

         22  mile vicinity of Yankee Stadium.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: First of all I

         24  want to thank Council Member Foster, and say it was

         25  a pleasure to be in your district.  I know you're
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          2  busy today with your father, Former Council Member

          3  Reverend Foster opening a new park, Grant Park.

          4                 I guess the long answer is we're very

          5  committed to the parks of the Bronx.  Not just

          6  within a mile of the stadium, all the parks in the

          7  Bronx.  And as you know, we're in the middle of

          8  right now, about $43 million worth of construction

          9  of new parks in the Bronx.  A lot more to follow.

         10  So some of what we're looking to do in Mullaly Park

         11  will be funded through some of the existing funding.

         12    But we've got the list, we're fining it down.  We

         13  hope to figure out what we can do to improve all of

         14  Mullaly Park.  Perhaps go out to Franz Siegel Park.

         15  And some of the other parks in the area.

         16                 But our commitment to making all the

         17  parks as good as they can be in the Bronx, in that

         18  immediate neighborhood and around it remain strong.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: And I

         20  guess the answer Council Member, to the question

         21  about the traffic analyses look at other things than

         22  Yankee fans arriving.  And the answer to that is

         23   "yes".  When the analysis is done, and the network

         24  is established and in balance, it looks at all of

         25  the traffic that's currently using the exit ramps,
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          2  the streets, in a very large area. The number of

          3  intersections studied exceeded 40 intersections that

          4  were scrutinized for study, and the study area was

          5  quite broad.  It doesn't only look at the induced

          6  traffic by the stadium.  But looks at all of the

          7  traffic that's currently using the area, and then

          8  adds to that the expected demand from the project,

          9  and from other projects that are being built in the

         10  area, or expected to be built in the area.

         11                 And that traffic analysis is what was

         12  used to base the mitigations that are both contained

         13  in the IS, and helped formulate some of the game day

         14  management strategies that are currently in place,

         15  and enhance those that in the future, be used to

         16  enhance that game day traffic management plan.

         17                 So the short answer is "yes".  The

         18  existing local traffic from residents is considered

         19  in the IS.  And the IS not only looks at that

         20  traffic, but looks at the induced traffic from the

         21  project itself, and from other projects expected to

         22  be built in the area in the same timeframe.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: My question

         24  specifically, though, I understand that Yankee fans

         25  were surveyed.  Specifically, were community

                                                            59

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  residents surveyed about their traffic concerns

          3  dealing with the Yankees?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: That I

          5  do not know the answer to.  But I can certainly if

          6   --  the Yankees may have that answer, their

          7  consultant may have that answer.  If not, I will get

          8  it to you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: It was not

         10  DOT's  --  at the presentation for the Bronx

         11  delegation, it wasn't your consultant that did the

         12  traffic study?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: The

         14  consultant is hired by the developer.  And DOT is a

         15  very big player in the review, setting, as we talked

         16  about at that meeting, setting the parameters, --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I got you.

         18  So, but we do know specifically that Yankee fans

         19  were surveyed.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No.

         21  What I can tell you, specifically, is that we do

         22  know how Yankee fans get to the park.  And when I

         23  talk about that modal split, that I talked about

         24  before, 63 percent on weekdays, and 68 percent on

         25  weekends, that arrive to the stadium by car, that is
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          2  the modal split that currently exists.  And so,

          3  that's a very important number, because you need to

          4  know what the induced traffic is.

          5                 And so, to that extent  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: No, I got you.

          7    Because that is a different understanding than I

          8  think what was represented to us at that meeting.  I

          9  believe the consultant said that fans were

         10  specifically surveyed, and that's how they got their

         11  numbers.  And my concern,  --   and the point isn't

         12  whether or not  -- my concern is that in this

         13  process, as we look at this proposed new stadium,

         14  everything has focused on the Yankees and their

         15  fans.  And what I'm saying is, it is a community

         16  before it is a stadium.  And that is what I'm trying

         17  to get at.  So we don't need to keep doing this.

         18                 And Commissioner, my comments aren't

         19  directed at you, as much as the Administration as a

         20  whole.  But you're the one in the hot seat.  I don't

         21  question your commitment to parks.  What I question

         22  is what we're doing in terms of long- term with the

         23  building of these parks.  And the fact that we are

         24  refurbishing one area and literally half a block

         25  outside of the stadium, we still have a park that
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          2  needs attention.  And I understand everything that's

          3  happening in Bronx County.  Right now, I'm talking

          4  specifically about the parks and open space within

          5  Community Board Four, period.   Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

          7  Council Member Foster.  I just wanted to recognize

          8  that we have been joined by two Council Members.

          9  Council Member Miguel Martinez, immediately to my

         10  left; and also Council Member Andrew Lanza, of

         11  Staten Island, a member of the Committee.  I now

         12  want to call on Council Member Maria Baez.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 My question is regarding the existing

         16  garage space. Who has jurisdiction over the garages?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The Parks

         18  Department has jurisdiction over the existing

         19  parking garages.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: And this is for

         21  the record.  I know we've met numerous times

         22  regarding the current garages.  Are they going to be

         23  open to the community?  How soon?  This was a

         24  request from the delegation now almost a month and a

         25  half ago.  We still have not heard anything.
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          2  There's plenty of garage space there that should be

          3  made available to the community and has not. And we

          4  requested, as a show of good faith, that these

          5  garages be open to the community and up to date, we

          6  have not heard anything. If you can please tell me

          7  the status.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:

          9  Actually Lot 15 on 162nd, or 164th Street and River

         10  Avenue is open, and has been open all Winter.  I

         11  have to tell you honestly, that I've been told our

         12  operators said the lot is not normally full.  That

         13  changed on Monday, when the Grand Concourse project

         14  went into construction. They are now full, and could

         15  expand to other of the lots as demand dictates.

         16                 The RFP we are issuing for the new

         17  parking garages and the management of all of the

         18  parking spaces, new and old, does allow the operator

         19  and require the operator, to provide community, non-

         20  baseball parking, as I said during my testimony,

         21  both during the off- season and during the regular

         22  season.

         23                 So we have heard that loud and clear,

         24  that there is a desire to have the parking available

         25  to both the local residents and to people who work
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          2  in the community, when the lots are not actually

          3  being used for ball games.  And we are going to  --

          4  we are doing that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Just for

          6  clarity.  The garages are going to be opened for the

          7  community?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: The

          9  garages are going to be open.  I don't know that all

         10  of them will be open.  I don't know that the demand

         11  will be there.  But the garage operator will keep

         12  parking open as the demand dictates.  There are lots

         13  open right now.  There's Lot 15, as I said, which

         14  holds several hundred cars, is open today.  Lot 15

         15  holds almost four hundred cars, is open today, and

         16  has been open all Winter.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: And how many

         18  cars actually utilize that space?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: During

         20  this Winter?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Yes.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: Until

         23  the construction started on the Grand Concourse this

         24  week, the operator reported that the lot was never

         25  full.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: This question

          3  also, for DOT, also for the record, we, the

          4  delegation, the Bronx delegation, also sent a list

          5  regarding the parking meters and restricted signs,

          6  and we have not heard anything.  What's the status?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: We

          8  started looking at the list that you provided to us

          9  at the meeting, which was the list of locations tied

         10  in with the request for residential parking permits.

         11    So we started with that location.  We expect that

         12  you'll have other locations that you'll also want us

         13  to look at.  There are some opportunities on the

         14  Concourse that we've already identified.  And some

         15  opportunities on River Avenue that we've identified.

         16    What we'll be doing is getting back to the

         17  delegation with the specific locations to ensure

         18  that there's general consensus of the plan, and then

         19  we'll go ahead and implement it. And we can probably

         20  do that over the course of the next several months.

         21                 I mean, again, I think what we're

         22  hoping to get is a more expansive list, not just the

         23  ones that you wanted to tie into the residential

         24  parking permit experiment.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: We have one

          4  quick follow- up question from Council Member

          5  Foster.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: What's

          7  happening with the bus parking on 165th and parking

          8  on the street in the tailgate parties.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Right.

         10    And again, as we discussed, we're moving forward

         11  with examining two things.  Is there any physical

         12  problem with buses using Lot 15 as they are supposed

         13  to?  We'll look at the street geometry.  Parking

         14  regulations.  Parking enforcement.  To ensure that

         15  the buses are able to negotiate the turns that they

         16  are required to do to use the facility.  Our intent

         17  is to make sure that the buses are using the

         18  facility as required.

         19                 We will take whatever  --  we will

         20  make whatever necessary changes are required to do

         21  that.  I'll be starting that work in April.  At the

         22  opening of the season.  I plan to have a solution

         23  implemented, or at least ready to discuss with you

         24  by mid May.  And implemented, hopefully, by before

         25  the first of June.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: That, while I

          3  appreciate it, it's very insufficient, in that we're

          4  asked to vote on something in a week and a half, and

          5  most of the concerns that we brought up as a

          6  delegation, we're at the same place where we're

          7  working on it.

          8                 I can tell you, the buses can make

          9  the turn. They're choosing not to.  Or the lot gets

         10  full.  And the question needs to be, what's going to

         11  be done, not come April, but as soon as April is

         12  here.  As soon as opening day begins, we have

         13  nothing but buses idling all along 165th Street.  So

         14   --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

         16  There's two  -- again, our intent is to deal with

         17  that two ways.  On the street, outside, that's my

         18  responsibility.  And we'll take the steps necessary

         19  to ensure that the buses get off   --  have the

         20  ability to get off the street.  Inside the garage,

         21  there is supposed to be a certain number of spaces

         22  available for the buses.  We'll work with Parks to

         23  make sure that their vendor provides those spaces,

         24  so there is no excuse for the bus driver to leave

         25  the vehicle outside. And finally, if they do, then
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          2  we'll work with the Police Department to ensure that

          3  enforcement actions taken so, that if they do park

          4  illegally, there is a penalty that they'll pay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: One last

          6  follow- up from Council Member Arroyo, and then

          7  we're moving on to Council Member Dickens.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you Mr.

          9  Chair.  And thank you for your patience.  I'm sure

         10  you do understand the anxiety we're feeling.

         11                 Current uses of the garages, one of

         12  the discussions we had with the delegation, was

         13  marketing the availability of the parking garages

         14  for community residents.  What's the status of the

         15  marketing plan?  Have you done it?  When does it

         16  start, if you haven't?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: I think

         18  the likely scenario is that we will require, as a

         19  condition of the RFP that's about to go out, that

         20  the operator provide some marketing or advertising

         21  to make sure the availability of the lots for

         22  community parking is known.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Our discussion

         24  was current parking garages.  And making those

         25  available immediately to the community and that
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          2  there would be a marketing campaign, to inform

          3  community residents of the availability of the

          4  existing parking facilities for the community.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: We'll

          6  have to get back to you whether the plan is going to

          7  call for newspaper advertising, or billboards, or

          8  what have you.  At the moment, with the construction

          9  on the Grand Concourse, the lot that is open is

         10  full. So there's clearly messages getting out that

         11  that lot is available.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I understand,

         13  Commissioner, but our discussion was that Parks

         14  would engage in that activity, and/or make that

         15  happen.  That was one of the commitments that you

         16  made to the delegation.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: And we

         18  will.  We will honor that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Council Member

         21  Dickens.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you

         23  Chairman.  And thank you gentlemen for your

         24  testimony.

         25                 I was re- reading Commissioner, your
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          2  testimony.  Are you prepared to tell us today, the

          3  approximate present annual cost of maintenance on

          4  the Yankee Stadium versus the revenue the City

          5  receives?  And as it relates to projections, in say,

          6  10 to 20 years that may result in savings to the

          7  City?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: I'm

          9  going to ask someone from the Industrial Development

         10  agency to respond to that question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Please

         12  identify yourself.

         13                 MS. HYASHI:  My name is Kay Hyashi.

         14  I represent the New York City Industrial Development

         15  Agency, the entity that is proposed to issue the

         16  bonds to construction of Yankee Stadium.

         17                 While it is true that under the

         18  existing lease, the Yankees pay rent to the City.

         19  Another component of the existing lease is that the

         20  City is responsible for paying to maintain the

         21  existing stadium.  Because the existing stadium is

         22  rapidly aging, it is now 83 years old, current

         23  conservative estimates are that over the course of

         24  the next 40 years, the cost to the City of repairing

         25  and maintaining the existing stadium would actually
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          2  exceed the cost, excuse me, the revenue, that the

          3  Yankees pay the City, by more than $40 million.

          4  That's a net present value number.           By way

          5  of background, the way that the numbers described

          6  above are arrived at is as follows:  The City

          7  projects that it will have to pay about $12.3

          8  million for upkeep each year, starting in 2011, at

          9  the existing stadium, with this amount increasing

         10  annually by three percent thereafter.  For a total

         11  outlay of about $226 million, net present value over

         12  40 years.

         13                 Meanwhile, assuming a continuation of

         14  the existing arrangement at the stadium, starting in

         15  2009, the Yankees would owe the City about $8.4

         16  million in rent each year, escalating at three

         17  percent annually thereafter.  For an NPV number of

         18  approximately $185 million.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: That's clear.

         20    And one other question for the Commissioner.  The

         21  900 new jobs that you referred to in your testimony,

         22  are they seasonal?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The 900 jobs are

         24  full- time jobs.  As the Yankees will, I think,

         25  provide in greater detail during their testimony.
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          2  But it was 3,600 construction- related jobs that are

          3  obviously temporary, for the duration of

          4  construction. And 900 permanent  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Well, full-

          6  time, meaning 12 months out of the year.  Is what

          7  I'm really trying to find out.  Or are they seasonal

          8  permanent season.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I think the

         10  Yankees are going have to answer that question

         11  during their testimony.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         13  much.  Thank you Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         15  Council Member Dickens.  Council Member Mark-

         16  Viverito.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

         18  you Mr. Chair.

         19                 I have several questions.  And thank

         20  you for your testimony.

         21                 I have a real  --  I have come, in

         22  the short period of time that I've been in the City

         23  Council, I have come to distrust the EIS statements

         24  profoundly.  I think they're very much unrealistic,

         25  in particular when you're talking about the
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          2  developer themselves paying, top pay for these EIS

          3  statements to get done. They're unrealistic.  I

          4  mean, I have a large, a lot of development that's

          5  happening in my district, and EIS statements are

          6  always coming up, saying that's not going to have an

          7  adverse impact on the community.  I think it's quite

          8  unrealistic, when you're talking about the large-

          9  scale development that you're talking about here.

         10                 In your comments, the rep from DOT

         11  said that, if I am paraphrasing correctly, that

         12  increase in the number of parking spaces is not a

         13  decisive factor in someone choosing to drive.  If

         14  that's true, than why build these additional parking

         15  spaces?  What is the need to have so many more

         16  additional parking spaces?  And I think it's

         17  ludicrous to have a parking space underneath a

         18  field. I mean, I really would  --  my vision is to

         19  have none of these underground garages.  None of

         20  these additional parking spaces.  And I think I

         21  would rather see money being invested by the Yankees

         22  in educating those that are visiting the stadium

         23  about the virtues of this great mass transit system

         24  that we have.  And about commuting, and the

         25  importance of doing and investing in a community
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          2  that way. I think that's very much important.

          3                 I wanted to ask the IDA rep, are all

          4  the bonds that are issued by IDA tax free?  That's a

          5  Yes or No answer.

          6                 MS. HYASHI:  The IDA is planning to

          7  issue approximately $930 million in debt.

          8  Approximately $866 million of that would be tax-

          9  exempt debt.  The remaining would be taxable. That's

         10  what the current estimate is.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: No,

         12  I'm asking in general.  Are all the bonds that are

         13  issued by IDA tax- free bonds?

         14                 MS. HYASHI: Not all of them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Okay.

         16  Have you done any sort of mathematical assessment as

         17  to how much revenue would be lost, or taxes would be

         18  lost, by issuing tax- free bonds to Yankees?

         19  I'm just kind of  --  you know, one of the things I

         20  find quite interesting, is that we've been told that

         21  this is no additional cost to the City.  That's not

         22  true.  This is a heavily subsidized project.  Let's

         23  just get that out of the way.  And I really want to

         24  understand what that is.  And I know it was

         25  mentioned I think, $70 million towards the parking
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          2  garages.  So how much in addition to that, how much

          3  additional cost is it to the City to have this being

          4  implemented the way it's being presented?  I'm   --

          5  these are things that we have to factor.  I think

          6  that you know, it's a very important part of the

          7  equation.

          8                 And so I would like some additional

          9  information on that if possible.  If you don't have

         10  those figures on hand.

         11                 MS. HYASHI: Well I can address the

         12  first question, which is how much would the cost of

         13  issuing tax- exempt debt to the City.  And when the

         14  City, or the IDA does it's cost benefit analysis of

         15  any project, it really sets incremental costs of a

         16  project against incremental benefits.  As a result,

         17  one of the crucial steps in our analysis is trying

         18  to figure out what incremental costs really are.

         19                 And it is the contention of the City

         20  and the New York City IDA that tax revenue

         21  associated with the tax- exempt debt is not an

         22  incremental cost to the project, because the bonds

         23  being issued would  --  I'm sorry, I'm just trying

         24  to find  --  the bonds being issued would only be

         25  issued in association with this project. In other
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          2  words, this project is only being undertaken in this

          3  structure because we are issuing tax- exempt bonds.

          4  If these exemptions, or if this structure, had not

          5  been granted, the project would not have occurred at

          6  all.  And if the project would not have occurred,

          7  the City would not have received those tax revenues.

          8

          9                 Is that clear?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: I

         11  guess to the extent, that it is.  But I'm just  --

         12  I don't think you really  --  that wasn't  --  but

         13  we will hopefully get the information that I'm

         14  asking for in some other ways.  But  --

         15                 MS. HYASHI: The other question you

         16  asked was how much other City funds are going into

         17  the project?  And currently, in the budget, there is

         18  $160 million.  The City has pledged to pay for the

         19  cost of replacement parkland.  And staff is

         20  currently working to refine this number.  And the

         21  actual cost will be ready for presentation at the

         22  pilot hearing.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Okay.

         24  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you
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          2  Council Member Mark- Viverito.  I do want to note

          3  that there will be another hearing on the subject of

          4  the pilot, as well as the bonds, and that will be in

          5  early April.  April seventh.  April seventh will be

          6  the date of that hearing.

          7                 I'd like to recognize Council Member

          8  White.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you very

         10  much Mr. Chair.

         11                 Good afternoon Commissioners.  We're

         12  talking about $135 million in City tax revenue

         13  dollars?  I think you mentioned. And  $70 million in

         14  State.  And my colleague just asked IDA about the

         15  bond issue.  We're talking about a 57,000 seat

         16  stadium.  Once it's constructed, it will be reduced

         17  to 54,000.  Is that correct?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: The

         19  number of actual capacity because of some standing

         20  room will be a little bit higher. It's a loss of one

         21  or two thousand seats.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: All right.  But

         23  that wouldn't include the box seats.  I mean  --

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: I'm

         25  talking total in both numbers.  We're talking total
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          2  capacity, including  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Including the

          4  box seats.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD:

          6  Including bleachers and luxury boxes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Oh, okay.

          8  Because I can't see you losing money by just doing

          9  the seats and not increasing the number of boxes.

         10                 But my issue right now is, and

         11  joining my colleagues and the Chair, is the

         12  benefits.  And I think it's the cost versus the

         13  benefit.  Okay?  What is the cost  --  I know what

         14  the cost, the benefit is to the Yankees.  It's

         15  money.  What is the benefit to the community?  And

         16  the development of a business, if you view it as a

         17  business, which it is, to the community that the

         18  business is going to be located in?  Other than

         19  15,000 tickets a year.  And you're going to set up

         20   --  tentative  --  setting up a corporation to

         21  distribute, I believe, it's $800,000 parks,

         22  charities every year.  For a ten year lease.  All of

         23  those things that are usually thrown out to any

         24  community on any project.  You know, the key is,

         25  jobs.  We want to give you jobs.  And I believe that
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          2  one of my colleagues mentioned well, the jobs.  How

          3  many jobs are going to be created.  You gave a

          4  number.  Are they seasonal?  Part- time?  And then

          5  you have those kind of jobs.  And then you have low-

          6  paying jobs.

          7                 And then you have those jobs in terms

          8  of the concession stands.  Because the impact of

          9  these additional individuals coming in to that area

         10  is going to have an impact on the small businesses

         11  in that area.  So what I'm saying is, within the

         12  negotiations that you have, or you plan to have, and

         13  I see Randy in the audience, who I've known, and

         14  Reggie.  But what is the benefit to the community?

         15  That has not been clear to me.  I've been sitting

         16  here, and we've took transportation system and moved

         17  it for the benefit of building this stadium.  We've

         18  put some parks, and we're going to add some parking.

         19    All of this is for the Yankees.  I still need to

         20  know, okay, if you're talking about planning, or if

         21  you're talking about an impact study, and that there

         22  was a study done, I believe, in terms of traffic

         23  patterns, you still haven't told me what is the

         24  benefit to the community, that this project is going

         25  to get.  That's  --  I just need to know that.  I
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          2  mean, because if she's right, it should parallel to

          3  bond issues.  You know, you weigh bond issues by

          4  cost versus benefit. So now I'm asking you what's

          5  the cost versus the benefit for the people that live

          6  in that area.  That's all I need to know.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Council Member

          8  White, there are several levels of benefit.  The

          9  first of the luck of the draw macro- scale benefits,

         10  the City will save money in the long run. Currently,

         11  we have to use the City's capital dollars to keep

         12  the stadium standing up.  An increasing amount each

         13  year.  By the Yankees building the stadium and then

         14  maintaining it, at their own expense going forward,

         15  the City will be relieved of up to tens of millions

         16  a year, tens of millions of dollars a year in

         17  capital expenses.

         18                 And I should just point out that the

         19  City dollars that we're paying for the

         20  infrastructure improvements for the parks are

         21  capital dollars, not expense dollars.  The interest

         22  on that is paid by the expense budget.  But there

         23  will be capital dollars.

         24                 To rehash  --  I think you were not

         25  in the room when I began my testimony.  The other
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          2  benefits include 3,600 construction jobs, and 900

          3  permanent jobs that we provided out of this.  This

          4  is separate and apart from any community benefits

          5  agreement that the Yankees negotiate separately,

          6  which the City has been in discussion with, largely

          7  discussion between the Yankees and the local

          8  community and their elected officials.

          9                 The parks are not for the Yankees.

         10  The parks are for the neighborhood.  The

         11  neighborhood currently uses them, and the

         12  neighborhood will continue to use them.  And that's

         13  why we're insisting that they be the best possible

         14  parks.  So that's also one of the benefits for the

         15  local community.  Improved parks. Certainly better

         16  than they are right now.

         17                 So those are some of the benefits

         18  that we can outline.  And then I think I'll leave it

         19  for the Yankees to outline what they might be doing

         20  in more detail, through the community benefits

         21  agreement.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  All right.

         23  There's one  -- it may not be a popular statement,

         24  but I got to make the statement because it's really

         25  on my consciousness (sic) when I look at the

                                                            81

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  unemployment rates among African- Americans and

          3  Latinos in the City. Are we adding  --  there's no

          4  doubt we need a new stadium.  I'll agree with that.

          5  But when you talk about adding additional parking

          6  spots, and things of that nature, and then, I

          7  believe, and maybe I'm misquoted you, so correct me

          8  if I'm wrong, that an assessment is going to be done

          9  concerning people using some of the parking if it

         10  can be validated that they're in the affected area?

         11  That you'll consider letting them use some of the

         12  parking spots?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Just

         14  let me explain that once again.  There are locations

         15  today where the curbsides are restricted, regulated

         16  strictly.  But that prohibit parking and/or standing

         17  in some cases.  And we have noticed that those

         18  spaces are usurped and either by people parking

         19  illegally or people using them with a parking permit

         20  who come into the neighborhood.  What we are --

         21  what we have done already, and we are willing to

         22  continue to do, is take a look at those areas.  If

         23  the curbs are regulated strictly, and the

         24  regulations are not being adhered to, and therefore

         25  used as intended, we can then turn those spaces into
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          2  a less restrictive regulation, which will allow the

          3  residents of the community to use them as opposed to

          4  the visitors that come into the community.

          5                 And as I mentioned, we've already

          6  done it.  Last year, at several locations, providing

          7  about 70 additional spaces to the community.  We

          8  think there are potentially hundreds of additional

          9  spaces that can be created for the community by

         10  doing that type of review.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay.  The

         12  other part that  -- the question has to be asked.

         13  And it's  --  and I don't think anybody should have

         14  to apologize for this question.  And I surely would

         15  not.  It appears to me, when you describe the Yankee

         16  fans, I can't think of anyone who is more of a fan

         17  of the Yankees than New York City residents.  When

         18  you talk about people who are driving in to the

         19  stadium, and I think some figure of 66 to 68 percent

         20  of the people doing the parking were going to be

         21  Yankee fans.  But from where?  Because I get the

         22  impression that there's a great percentage of that

         23  68 percent  --  and I could be wrong with the

         24  percentage, it could have been 66, that want to

         25  drive into our town, watch our Yankees, not visit
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          2  our communities, not shop in our stores, and get out

          3  of town as quickly as they can.

          4                 Excuse me.  No. No.  Because I'm

          5  really serious. Because I don't think the Yankees

          6  would want to have that perception.  And I read the

          7  Daily News on March 22nd, and it's almost like we

          8  don't care what the perception is out of this whole

          9  thing.  And that's why I'm asking and she mentioned

         10  about the benefit versus cost.  You know, I don't

         11  see the benefit to that community.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Council

         13  Member, if you can -

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: And I just

         15  would like, you know, and I could be the only voice

         16  that does this, but that's okay too.  I want to know

         17  the benefit that the citizens of the Bronx and the

         18  citizens of the City of New York is going to get

         19  from the building of this station.  You've got the

         20  Metro North.  You're going to bypass and not come

         21  down, which you could do something with that.  But

         22  all I'm saying is, I'm not satisfied with that whole

         23  piece.

         24                 Now I understand there's an advisory

         25  committee, and you're all going to get together and
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          2  resolve that, and maybe in that resolution, I'll be

          3  a happy person.  But until that's resolved for me,

          4  okay, I've seen it happen too much, where people

          5  come in and open up a business in town, go out of

          6  town, go back to their communities and don't spend a

          7  dime where they made their money at. And from a

          8  business standpoint of view, if it was my business,

          9  I'd be right.  But from a community person,

         10  representing this City, it's wrong.  I have to make

         11  sure that we get our fair share.  No more no less.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Councilman, do

         13  you want to respond to that, and then we're going to

         14  finish up, and we're going to move on to our next

         15  panel here.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Just quickly,

         17  Council Member, those are good questions.  The new

         18  stadium will be much more of a year- round  --

         19  clients of the neighborhoods  --  there will be a

         20  lot more going on at the stadium than at the current

         21  stadium.  But also, you have to remember, there's

         22  going to be a lot of other things happening in the

         23  adjacent area.  The new shopping areas will be

         24  developed just south of the Bronx River Market site,

         25  so there will be a reason to come and stay.  You
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          2  come, you go shopping.  Go to a neighborhood

          3  restaurant, and then go to the ball game.  So I

          4  suspect that for good or ill, people will be coming

          5  and spending more time in the neighborhood who are

          6  not from the neighborhood. And hopefully spending a

          7  lot of money.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I hope you're

          9  right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         11  much.  Before we relieve you, we just have one last

         12  follow- up question from Council Member Mark-

         13  Viverito.  And then we're going to move on to the

         14  Yankees.  So Council Member.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

         16  you Mr. Chair. Just a quick question.  I'm looking

         17  at this map.  The tennis courts and waterfront park.

         18    How is it accessible?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We'll just wait

         20  so they can bring the microphone for Commissioner

         21  Laird.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: Thank

         23  you.  There will be two primary ways to access the

         24  new waterfront tennis courts and the waterfront

         25  park.  I'm talking now on foot.  I assume you're
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          2  question was on foot.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Yes.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: We will

          5  be rebuilding the pedestrian bridge that currently

          6  spans over the rail corridor, that takes you from

          7  Ruppert Place.  And it we'll actually be expanding

          8  that pedestrian bridge into the center  --  the ramp

          9  that will come down will land further into the park,

         10  and will connect over the Metro North rail corridor,

         11  down approximately where the bridge does now.  We're

         12  replacing that bridge.  It's going to be a much more

         13  attractive bridge than the current concrete

         14  structure with the sort of gerbil- tube- like

         15  covering to it.  And we'll be opening it all year

         16  round.  It won't be just on game day, where the

         17  current one is.

         18                 The plans for the Bronx Terminal

         19  Market, coming from the south, create new pedestrian

         20  corridors through the site.  So aside from this

         21  connection from the north, you'll have pedestrians

         22  able to enter off the local street grid from the

         23  south.  So those are the ways for improving access.

         24  There's the Metro North rail corridor comes all the

         25  way down the Harlem River from up north, cuts right
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          2  through the area, so we can only look at ways of

          3  getting to the waterfront that involve crossing over

          4  those tracks, and that includes the local  --  all

          5  of the existing local streets and this pedestrian

          6  bridge.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: I'm

          8  sorry.  So this pedestrian walkway that you're

          9  pointing to up there, that's linking up to something

         10  else that already exists, correct?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: Right,

         12  the pedestrian bridge  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Where

         14  the yellow ends, where is that right there?  The

         15  yellow.  That right there.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: Where

         17  this ends right here?  This is one of the

         18  development sites for the Bronx Terminal Market,

         19  which has  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: It

         21  will have its own access.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LAIRD: -- Been

         23  used for Yankee parking as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

          3  Council Member. Mr. Laird, thank you.  Commissioner.

          4  Mr. Primeggia.  Thank you for your testimony today.

          5  We need a slip from you before you leave.

          6                 I also want to ask that a

          7  representative of each of your agencies stick

          8  around.  We have a long hearing ahead, and may have

          9  continued questions, which will likely come up. So I

         10  ask you to leave somebody behind.

         11                 And now, we're going to transition

         12  and hear from the New York Yankees.  So gentlemen,

         13  please come to the table.

         14                 Good afternoon gentlemen.  Whenever

         15  you're ready, please identify yourselves and we're

         16  ready to hear your testimony.

         17                 MR. LEVINE: Thank you very much Mr.

         18  Chairman.  And Chairperson Katz.  My name is Randy

         19  Levine.  I'm the President of the New York Yankees.

         20  Sitting next to me is a man who doesn't need any

         21  introduction, Mr. October, Number 44, a great Hall-

         22  of- Famer, a great Yankee, Reggie Jackson.

         23                 MR. JACKSON: I am Reginald Martinez

         24  Jackson. (Spanish sentence).  And I am here

         25  representing the New York Yankees.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Welcome.

          3                 MR. JACKSON: Thank you.

          4                 MR. LEVINE: Before I speak, I was

          5  listening to many of the questions that were just

          6  asked of the Commissioner.  Many of those questions

          7  should have been addressed to the Yankees.  And I

          8  welcome you, please to ask me those questions.  I

          9  really do.

         10                 Now, before I start, I would just

         11  like to take a minute and show you a very quick

         12  video.

         13                 VIDEO VOICEOVER: I play for the New

         14  York Yankees. The most recognizable name in all

         15  sports.  And it's an honor, just putting on this

         16  uniform.  We're also known around the world as the

         17  Bronx Bombers.  And we're equally proud of that.

         18                 The Yankees have long been synonymous

         19  with the Bronx and its people.  And we share many of

         20  the same qualities.  Hard working.  Passionate.  I

         21  play for the New York Yankees.  And I'm proud to

         22  play in the Bronx.

         23                 MR. LEVINE: Mr. Chairman.  This is

         24  what this project is about.  The Yankees and the

         25  Bronx.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Quiet please.

          3                 MR. LEVINE: Their 83- year history

          4  together, and the history to be made together in

          5  decades to come.  As I said, in a moment, you'll

          6  hear from Reggie Jackson.  But in reviewing that

          7  history, it is important to remember that the

          8  Yankees stayed during the bad times, and that the

          9  Yankees are stepping up now.

         10                 We are doing everything we can to

         11  ensure that we remain in our home in the Bronx.

         12  This project has been openly discussed for many,

         13  many years.  Out of all the professional sports

         14  arenas and stadium projects that have gone forward,

         15  or are going forward, this is the only one that is

         16  going through ULURP.  To date, there have been six

         17  public hearings on this project.  This is the

         18  seventh.  And there will be more.  This has been

         19  very open, and very transparent.

         20                 The ULURP process has been good.  We

         21  have learned from elected officials, community

         22  leaders, and members of the community.  We have,

         23  with the City, changed our plan to accommodate many

         24  of their concerns.  We continue to listen.  This

         25  plan will provide New York with a new state- of-
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          2  the- art baseball facility, and a destination for

          3  people to visit from all over the world.  It will

          4  provide an unprecedented investment in the Bronx.

          5  In fact, the largest private investment in the

          6  history of the Bronx.  And thousands of new jobs,

          7  and good jobs, for Bronx residents in an area that

          8  needs it.

          9                 We love our present home.

         10  Unfortunately, it is 83 years old, and it is

         11  becoming dysfunctional.  It will take a lot, a lot

         12  of money, tens to hundreds of millions of dollars,

         13  to maintain it.  It's too expensive to renovate it.

         14  And it is not practicable to build a new stadium on

         15  the present site.  The site is not large enough.  To

         16  do so, and realistically, it does not allow us to

         17  place to play during the construction period.

         18                 Let me emphasize, we need a new

         19  stadium.  Let me also state clearly, that the

         20  Macombs Dam Park site is the only site in the Bronx

         21  that can accommodate a new stadium.  The site

         22  originates from the Bronx Borough President's Yankee

         23  Stadium Redevelopment Plan, which he announced in

         24  the year 2004.

         25                 Last Summer, this Council issued a
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          2  home- rule message and the State Legislature passed

          3  legislation allowing the stadium to be built on the

          4  proposed site.  The Yankees and the City, saw

          5  replacement parkland that in fact improved upon, and

          6  upgraded the present park.  This plan, as you just

          7  heard from the Commissioners does that.  There will

          8  be baseball and softball fields on the site of the

          9  original stadium, where Bronx and City kids will

         10  play on the same hallowed ground that Yankee greats

         11  from Ruth to Gerig, to DeMaggio to Mantle, to Berra,

         12  to Jackson, to Rivera and Jeter have played.

         13                 The new park will have a new running

         14  track, a new soccer field, new baseball and softball

         15  fields, new basketball courts, new handball courts,

         16  and new tennis facilities.  Tennis facilities moved

         17  to the water, because that's what the community

         18  asked us to do.

         19                 It will provide a park that is

         20  centrally located, all at grade, with street

         21  entrances.  And as I said, brand new facilities.

         22  There will be a brand new waterfront park,

         23  Waterfront park, and as the Commissioner said, more

         24  parkland for the Bronx.

         25                 And as the Commissioner also said,
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          2  the fact that a stadium is being erected on

          3  parkland, that's not unusual.  Shea Stadium, the

          4  National Tennis Center, and KeySpan Park in Coney

          5  Island have all previously been built on parkland.

          6                 This stadium  --  and let me make it

          7  clear, so there is no misinformation, is going to be

          8  fully paid for by the New York Yankees.  And as

          9  financial reports demonstrate, you heard one today,

         10  there have been many, many others, the State has

         11  one, this project is a plus for taxpayers.  As I

         12  said, it will be the largest private investment in

         13  the Bronx, and the largest team investment of any

         14  ballpark in the history of this country.

         15                 Unlike today, all ongoing maintenance

         16  and capital expenditures for the new stadium will be

         17  paid for by the Yankees. In recent years, 22 of 30

         18  Major League baseball teams have built or are

         19  building new stadiums.  All except two have been

         20  principally funded by some form of municipal or

         21  state taxes.  And the two which have not, San

         22  Francisco and St. Louis, the municipal and state

         23  governments, like we're asking you here today to do,

         24  contributed infrastructure around the project.

         25                 Just a few weeks ago, the city of
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          2  Washington, DC agreed to pay the entire cost of

          3  building a new stadium for the Washington Nationals,

          4  including all of the infrastructure.  They agreed to

          5  pay close to $700 million.

          6                 This new stadium will create

          7  thousands of construction jobs, and at a minimum, as

          8  President of the Yankees, I'm telling you 1,000 new,

          9  permanent additional to what we have, new permanent

         10  jobs at the new stadium.  And they will be good

         11  jobs. It's quite remarkable for me to hear anybody

         12  think that any job is not a good job, especially any

         13  job at Yankee Stadium.  But these are going to be

         14  good jobs.  Jobs in administration.  Jobs in

         15  operations.  Jobs in retail.  As well as jobs in

         16  food and concessions.  Full- time jobs.  Real jobs.

         17  And some part- time jobs.               There will

         18  be a project labor agreement.  And a commitment by

         19  the Yankees to significant minority and women

         20  employment programs.  A commitment by the Yankees to

         21  significant Bronx employment, and a serious

         22  commitment by the Yankees to Bronx businesses,

         23  contractors, and products, both during and after

         24  construction.  There will be a commitment to provide

         25  serious investment in the community.  There will be
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          2  Yankee contributions to maintaining parks, over and

          3  above what the City does.  There will be

          4  opportunities for educational internships and

          5  scholarships. Opportunities for job training, as

          6  well as community youth, senior and other programs.

          7                 This plan calls for approximately

          8  3,000 or so more parking spots.  There are

          9  approximately 7,000 now.  None of these spots are

         10  controlled by the Yankees.  And everybody should

         11  understand the reality of it.  Remember, there's

         12  been a stadium in this area for 83 years.  We're

         13  talking about building a new one across the street.

         14  The same number of cars and buses already come to

         15  the stadium.  However, today, they just park all

         16  over the street, and all over the community.  And as

         17  President of the Yankees, I understand that, and

         18  have heard about that complaint for many years.  It

         19  causes disruption.  So we're trying to fix it.

         20                 By building the new parking spots,

         21  the cars will get out of the community.  Won't

         22  circle around the community and disrupt it.  And

         23  will go into parking lots.  Same number of cars,

         24  they're just going into lots, instead of circling

         25  the community. If you go to Yankee Stadium on a
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          2  game, you see cars all over the road, sometimes all

          3  over parks, they're there.

          4                 It's important to note that the

          5  Yankees will not receive any of the parking

          6  revenues.  In fact, as part of this project, we are

          7  foregoing the parking revenues we receive today.

          8  Those revenues will go back to pay the cost of the

          9  project, and to the City and to a private operator

         10  to help build the parking garages.

         11                 We believe these parking facilities,

         12  and we've said it over and over again, should be

         13  open and available to the community all year long.

         14  The only day we don't think they should be open is

         15  game days.  But we have said, we'll work with the

         16  operator, and if there's a way to do that, we'll

         17  consider that also.

         18                 The present stadium is not disability

         19  compliant.  In fact, we are subject to a consent

         20  degree with the Justice Department to try and get

         21  into compliance.  It costs millions of dollars to

         22  the City and to us to try and do that.  The new

         23  stadium will be state- of- the- art ADA compliant.

         24  We will spare no expense.

         25                 Similarly, during construction, we
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          2  will have health and environmental monitors to

          3  ensure that all community concerns are met.  The new

          4  stadium project will protect many of the mature

          5  trees in the surrounding neighborhoods.  It will

          6  replace trees lost with new ones, as you heard the

          7  Commissioner said.  No residents or businesses are

          8  being displaced by this project.

          9                 The new stadium is the same height as

         10  the present one.  And it's going to be a year- round

         11  facility, where we welcome both members of the

         12  community and residents and visitors alike. Not

         13  today, where most people just go during baseball

         14  season.

         15                 The Yankees have done our part.  We

         16  are committing to the Bronx.  We are paying for a

         17  new state- of- the- art facility. We are making a

         18  serious investment in the community.  The new

         19  stadium just across the street from the old one,

         20  preserves our tradition and our heritage.  It means

         21  new jobs.  It means new opportunities.  It means new

         22  parks.  And it means a new history between the

         23  Yankees and the Bronx.

         24                 We pledge to continue a strong

         25  working relationship with the members of the Bronx,
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          2  and their representatives.  The ULURP process has

          3  been very good.  It's given us a chance to refocus

          4  and reconnect.  And we appreciate it.  And we pledge

          5  to you that we're going to continue to do that.

          6                 New York has not built a new Major

          7  League baseball stadium in decades.  Other cities

          8  all over the country have, and continue to do so.

          9  We are the capital of the world.  It's time we built

         10  one here.  We ask for your support to allow us to

         11  build one. Now, I'd like to just take a minute,

         12  before I turn it over to Mr. Jackson, and show you a

         13  few slides of what the stadium is going to look

         14  like.

         15                 This is a picture of the new Yankee

         16  Stadium.  When the renovation was done in the 1970s,

         17  Yankee Stadium lost most of the great

         18  characteristics of Yankee Stadium.  So to honor our

         19  tradition, and to give New York a very, very special

         20  stadium, we are going to build a replica of the

         21  original Yankee Stadium.  The only difference, is

         22  it's going to be with 2006 materials, not 1923

         23  materials.

         24                 The original limestone great facade

         25  in the front has been restored.  The great cathedral
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          2  windows have been restored. The great frieze on top

          3  of the stadium has been restored.  It's going to

          4  look absolutely spectacular.

          5                 Next slide please.  This is another

          6  shot from 161st Street. And I mentioned keeping the

          7  stadium, which will have all year retail, an open

          8  restaurant, and behind that wall, there's going to

          9  be a great hall, where when people enter the

         10  stadium, it's going to be interactive.  In the

         11  stadium will be a learning center, a Yankee Museum,

         12  but in this great open space, will be available for

         13  the community, for private organizations, for events

         14  all year long.

         15                 Next slide.  Yankee Stadium inside

         16  the ballpark, is going to be the exact same

         17  directions.  Everything on the field is the same.

         18  Monument Park and I'll show you in a bit, is going

         19  to be moved a few hundred feet.  The right field

         20  bullpen, like in the old stadium, the Yankee bullpen

         21  will be moved to right field.  The lines, the short

         22  porch.  Everything is the same.  Our pitchers are

         23  going to be a little happy, because we're moving the

         24  seats behind home plate a little closer, so there

         25  will be more foul balls.
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          2                 The stadium today has 30,000 seats on

          3  the upper level, 20,000 below.  We're going to have

          4  30,000 seats below, 20,000 above, so more seats are

          5  low.  And to answer your question, Councilman, we're

          6  only putting 60 suites in here, because we're going

          7  to make sure that the stadium is affordable for

          8  everyone. Most baseball stadium have hundreds of

          9  them.

         10                 There's going to be concessions, a

         11  lot more of them. A lot more public facilities, rest

         12  rooms.  You're going to be able to see the game from

         13  wherever you can.  It's going to be the greatest

         14  ballpark ever built and paid for by us.  And that's

         15  why we're going to make sure that that happens.

         16                 Next slide please.  Just a new

         17  feature.  Some of the exciting features that will be

         18  put into place.  Everybody knows the batter's eye,

         19  that's the black in center field.  We're going to

         20  have a club there.  The Bleacher Creatures will be

         21  very, very happy.  Because they'll be able to

         22  circulate in and out, as will everybody.

         23  Overlooking Monument Park, you'll be able to see the

         24  game right from center field.

         25                 So those are just some of the

                                                            101

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  amenities that we're talking about.  And I'm going

          3  to turn it over to Number 44, the Hall of Famer,

          4  Reggie Jackson, then I'll be back to answer any

          5  questions.  Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          7  Mr. Jackson.

          8                 MR. JACKSON: Well, when Randy asked

          9  me to come up a couple of days ago, I didn't know

         10  I'd signed up for an 0 and 2 count.

         11                 I would like to address Chairman,

         12  Council Members, and most importantly, all concerned

         13  citizens.  Again, I'm here to support what goes on

         14  in reference to the development of a new venue in

         15  Yankee Stadium.  At the same time, in listening to

         16  the Council Members, and having an opportunity to

         17  have spoken with a few before everyone arrived, I

         18  got here about 11:15.  I share your concerns.      I

         19  am first, a minority.  And when Randy and I visited,

         20  in Tampa a few days ago, and certainly the stadium

         21  has been going on for quite some time, and had a

         22  chance to share some questions and some thoughts

         23  with our Chief Operating Officer, Lon Troast, my

         24  question to Randy was, "Randy, what happens to  --

         25  and this is just a coincidence  -- Lius Arroyo?".
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          2  Just a fictitious name that lives in the Bronx, that

          3  drives a truck, and has a two year old, a four- year

          4  old, and a six- year old.  Because I'm going to go

          5  and stand for progress.

          6                 I can say that the question that I

          7  asked both Lon and Randy refers to the plaque on the

          8  roof of the ceiling.  Really, of the people, for the

          9  people, and by the people.  What's the area going to

         10  be like?  So these questions have been asked to

         11  them. When his two- year old, and his four- year

         12  old, and his six- year old are five, seven, and

         13  nine?  I said, are they going to be priced out?  And

         14  Randy and Lon both said to me, Reggie, we are

         15  addressing that situation.

         16                 I can tell you that I am proud to be

         17  associated with the Yankees.  And I think everyone

         18  here knows in the room of my past story with the

         19  Yankees, and I have battled with the boss more than

         20  you can ever imagine, that you're going to battle

         21  here today. Or in the next days and the weeks to

         22  come.

         23                 At the same time I can tell you that

         24  I'm proud to be associated with a brand of the

         25  Yankees.  At the same time, I also feel that pain
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          2  that Councilperson, Councilwoman Helen Foster had

          3  mentioned about what's happened in the past.  The

          4  Yankees weren't always a good partner in the Bronx.

          5  I remember driving in the streets through Harlem all

          6  the time when I played there with my top down.  In a

          7  car, and gave away shoes.  Stopped at 148th, 150th,

          8  wherever it was to give shoes away.  And the kids

          9  protected me like I was a saint from heaven.  Give

         10  away a dozen pair of shoes a couple of times a week.

         11

         12                 At the same time, I can tell you that

         13  what I see happening, what I would like to see

         14  happening, is engaging together.  I only know

         15  teamwork.  I have been in it my entire life. And I

         16  still work for a team.  I can tell you that being

         17  around George Steinbrenner, that while you hear

         18  about and read about his gruffness, that because of

         19  his vision, the brand, the Yankees, and the NY is

         20  international.  You watch television, and look at

         21  the problems that go along in the Middle East, and

         22  you see a guy getting arrested with a Yankee hat on.

         23

         24                 Where is Yankee Stadium?  And where

         25  are the Yankees? I travel all over the country as
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          2  much as anyone.  And they constantly talk about the

          3  Bronx.  We're not the Cincinnati Bombers. We're not

          4  the Louisiana Bombers, or the Cajun Bombers, we're

          5  the Bronx Bombers.

          6                 I see an opportunity now to get

          7  engaged.  And to ask the President of the Yankees

          8  and to demand from the Chief Operating Officer, who

          9  sits in the room today, Lon Troast, and ask them for

         10  your help.  Ask them to support you.  To meet your

         11  requests.  And I believe they will.

         12                 There's been many times in

         13  discussions that I've been privy to, in being able

         14  to sit with the executives on the team, that we

         15  could pare down our payroll, probably a couple of

         16  million dollars a year, but the boss has friends and

         17  people, ex players, people that have worn the Yankee

         18  uniform, people that have been a part of his past,

         19  and his history, and his life, in some way, shape or

         20  form, they get a paycheck from the Yankees.  There

         21  are a lot of people around there, that the value

         22  that they add to the Yankees is recognizing that

         23  they're part of the family.

         24                 Is there a currency exchange for

         25  them?  What do they give us?  How do they help us
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          2  win?  They're part of the family. They get a

          3  paycheck.  They get supported.

          4                 The good thing that I see, and I hear

          5  you loud and clearly, I will reiterate to you that

          6  first, I am a minority.  I was born black, and oh,

          7  by the way, I was Reggie Jackson.  But I first was

          8  black.  And I hear that clearly.  But I will tell

          9  you that if you ask, if you support, if you get

         10  engaged, your request can be honored.  I can

         11  certainly tell you that.

         12                 The Yankees don't control it all.  I

         13  understand that they don't control the parking lots.

         14    Because I've asked the questions myself.  And my

         15  concern has been to our President, and to Lon, our

         16  legal advisor, what's the currency exchange for the

         17  people in the Bronx?

         18                 Well Councilman White, I heard you.

         19  And I heard you weeks ago, and didn't even talk to

         20  you.  So I understand that.  I do believe that

         21  George Steinbrenner, be it by luck, or be it by

         22  genius, has had an incredible vision with the brand

         23  and the NY. They have not changed the uniforms, they

         24  have not changed the hats. They don't have silly

         25  uniforms in order to sell a mew jersey on a
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          2  different day.  It remains what it was supposed to

          3  be.  Battleship grey for travel uniforms, and

          4  wedding gown white for home uniforms. The pinstripes

          5  are special.  The place is special.

          6                 I do believe that my brand has been

          7  enhanced by being associated with the Yankees.  I

          8  know that the people there from Brian Cashman, to

          9  Lon, to Randy, and all the people that I see with

         10  the Yankees.  They don't change a lot of faces

         11  there.  It's basically the same people.  We used to

         12  change managers.  But the people that run the ship

         13  for the boss, basically remain the same. They are

         14  going to employ people, and to be part of the

         15  community.  I say, get engaged.  I say that people

         16  on the Council, from the City of the Bronx, get

         17  someone on there.  Look these guys in the eye.  And

         18  ask them to perform.  I don't think you'll have to

         19  make them.  When they talk about teaching, when they

         20  talk about having them learn and understand new jobs

         21  to participate, to support the Yankee family, they

         22  mean it.

         23                 I do think that you can look into the

         24  future, be part of the future.  Share in the

         25  currency and share in the revenue opportunities that
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          2  are going to the Bronx.  Ask for help.  And I do

          3  believe you will get it.

          4                 I'm at your service.  I do take

          5  direction from my superiors.  And I do have a big,

          6  fancy title as Advisor to the Managing General

          7  Partner and the owner.  You all know how much advice

          8  he will take from me.  My job has been, I do what

          9  I'm told, and I do it when I'm asked to do it.

         10                 At the same time, I do look for you

         11  to become engaged.  And I do look for the Yankees to

         12  respond to your requests when you look him in the

         13  eye and ask.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Thank you gentlemen.  Again, I'm

         17  going to ask the folks in the audience to please

         18  refrain from applause as we have a lot to get

         19  through today, and we haven't even begun the public

         20  session yet.  And in that regard, I wanted to make

         21  two quick points before we move on to questions of

         22  the Yankees.

         23                 First is that we have been joined by

         24  Council Members Charles Barron, of Brooklyn; and

         25  Council Member James Oddo, of Staten Island.  But
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          2  also, for the folks who were not here at the very

          3  beginning, I just wanted to note that because of our

          4  time constraints, and the fact that we have a great

          5  number of people who wish to be heard on this

          6  subject, both in favor and against, I'm asking

          7  Council Members to limit their questions to just a

          8  minute or two apiece.  And I'm going to apologize in

          9  advance if I stop you. But please constrain

         10  yourselves, and we're going to move to the public

         11  session as quickly as we possibly can.  But I'm

         12  going to start off with Council Member Arroyo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 Mr. Levine, Mr. Jackson, the Yankees

         16  have been talking about a community benefit package

         17  for the community.  And while the details are not

         18  clear, I have one concern.  What remedy do we have

         19  if you fail  --  let's say in a perfect world we

         20  agree that what you're promising the community is

         21  acceptable,  and you fail to live up to that

         22  agreement.  What recourse do we, or the community

         23  have against the Yankees for failure to perform?

         24                 MR. LEVINE: I'm glad you raised that

         25  Council Member. We haven't concluded negotiating the
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          2  agreement, but as all of you will recognize, and

          3  have, what we have put on the table is the largest

          4  community benefits package in the history of New

          5  York City, and the most generous, we believe, in the

          6  history of New York City. Both in the job training,

          7  job encouragement, mentoring type of place, as well

          8  as actual cash funds.  I'd be glad to go through it

          9  with you if you'd like.

         10                 The answer is twofold.  One, we're

         11  going to be living here in the community with you

         12  for the next 40 years.  Two, we're going to sign a

         13  written agreement.  A written agreement is a written

         14  agreement.  There are courts.  There are all kind of

         15  abilities to act on written agreements.  Hopefully,

         16  we will never have to get that way.  But if you want

         17  us in the community, and we're willing to put up

         18  tens of millions of dollars, because we're going to

         19  have to stay in the community, we would hope. As

         20  partners, you understand that we're good for our

         21  word.  We're not going anywhere, so we're prepared

         22  to sign the agreement.  I'm personally prepared to

         23  sign it on behalf of George Steinbrenner to move

         24  forward.  And good partners, good colleagues, need

         25  to trust each other.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I think you

          3  would understand the reservation that I personally

          4  have, given the history or the lack of good public

          5  will the Yankees have demonstrated in the community.

          6    So I think that one of my concerns about the

          7  community benefits agreement is that it lacks

          8  language about failure to perform, and what remedy

          9  is available to the community and to those of us who

         10  are looking at that agreement.  So that's one of the

         11  things that I'm going to ask to be added to that

         12  agreement.

         13                 The jobs that we're all very excited

         14  about.  And I see a lot of the individuals from

         15  Labor here.  How do I know that the jobs that are

         16  going to be created are going to go to those

         17  individuals who need the jobs, that live in the

         18  Bronx, people of color.  What kind of assurance are

         19  we going to get that that's going to happen?

         20                 MR. LEVINE: Well. As I said, and I'm

         21  prepared to talk about it here, we haven't concluded

         22  the community benefits agreement.  But as a floor,

         23  and I hope it's only a floor, at least 25 percent of

         24  all construction jobs on the new stadium, and 25

         25  percent, hopefully, a floor.  Hopefully there's a
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          2  lot more of the new incremental jobs will be going

          3  to Bronx residents and women, and minorities.  Not

          4  only are we pledging that, we're putting our

          5  organization and the people who are building the

          6  stadium's muscle behind it.

          7                 We are going to create job training.

          8  We're going to fund an office in consultation with

          9  you and the Borough President to actually go out,

         10  find those people, train those people.  And I'm

         11  talking not only employees but Bronx contractors,

         12  teach them how to bid.  Give them the background and

         13  the know- how, so they know how to bid, to get it

         14  right.  It's going to be an ongoing process where we

         15  are determined to move forward to make sure that all

         16  of the appropriate people are there.  Because as far

         17  as the Yankees look at it, if the Yankee Stadium is

         18  going to be built and Yankee Stadium's materials

         19  that go into it are going to be built, it might as

         20  well come from the Bronx and the City of New York,

         21  not from any other place.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: A point of

         23  clarification, and then one last question.  You will

         24  not negotiate with me, per se.

         25                 MR. LEVINE:  I meant members of the
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          2  Council.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Because one of

          4  the things, there's a very important distinction

          5  between personal negotiations and negotiations with

          6  the Bronx delegation.  And that's how this is being

          7  handled.

          8                 MR. LEVINE: I didn't mean you

          9  personally, Council Member.  What I meant were all

         10  the representatives of the Bronx.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you. The

         12  jobs are handled by Labor.  So how do I know that

         13  these unions are going to hire the folks that live

         14  in my district?

         15                 MR. LEVINE: The answer is, there's

         16  going to be a project labor agreement.  There will

         17  be negotiations that go forward.  But at the end of

         18  the day, it's the Yankees' responsibility and it

         19  will be the Yankees' project and I'm absolutely

         20  confident people of good will, that people in your

         21  community will be hired.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         24  Council Member. Council Member Foster.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.
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          2  While I appreciate what you said Mr. Jackson, I

          3  really think it's a day late and a dollar short.

          4  And I look around and I see the Yankee organization

          5  and the Yankee fans smiling as though you hit a home

          6  run.  And from where I'm sitting, it looks like it's

          7  a foul ball. It is,   --  I personally am insulted

          8  by the video. When you leave, the cameras are going

          9  to follow you.  And I'm sure if my community members

         10  had access to make a video, their picture would be

         11  very different.  They would show mothers pushing

         12  carriages in the street to get home.  And would show

         13  cars parked in fire hydrants.  And would show buses

         14  idling on the street.  So if we had access to the

         15  Yankee money, we could do a nice glossy

         16  presentation.            But my question is, given

         17  the fact that up until this point, the Yankee

         18  organization has not been good neighbors, and I know

         19  you will disagree, but again, I'll go back to a

         20  person's perception is their reality, why now should

         21  we, in the community say, okay, we're going to trust

         22  you.  It's a little disingenuous given that you're

         23  doing all this in return for something, where much

         24  of the things that are coming out of this proposed

         25  CBA, and on and on, could have been done years ago.
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          2  And it is a very different Bronx county than when

          3  you were here, Mr. October.  It is  --  we have

          4  double- digit unemployment.  We are faced with

          5  social ills and when you talk about the CBA, and

          6  it's going to be the most generous package, it

          7  should be.  This is the richest team in baseball.

          8  There should have been  --  you should have been

          9  doing this generous package years ago.

         10                 So my question is, why should the

         11  community that's going to stay when you leave, and

         12  when the photographers leave, for the rest of the

         13  Council to hear what they feel about this stadium,

         14  why should we now trust you?  Why should we now say,

         15  okay, we're going to believe that you're going to

         16  have our best interests at heart.

         17                 MR. JACKSON: Councilwoman Foster,

         18  what I'd like to --  how I'd like to respond to you

         19  is, I have belief in the people of the Yankees.  And

         20  I have belief in George.  Because I've been around

         21  there for 30 years.  Believe me, I've battled with

         22  him as you are saying you're battling now in trying

         23  to understand what's the currency exchange for the

         24  community.  I do believe that the Yankees recognize

         25  the value of having a brand new stadium.  I think
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          2  everyone understands why there should be a new

          3  stadium.  At the same time, I do believe that there

          4  is a genuine, sincere effort to recognize the people

          5  in the community need to be part of the economic

          6  boon that is going to happen in the Bronx.  And

          7  that's why there is a commitment to a thousand or

          8  more jobs when construction does start.  An

          9  additional 900 or more permanent jobs that will be

         10  there year round.  A commitment to teach and

         11  instruct the people that are going to have to learn

         12  the new jobs that are going to be happening.  At the

         13  same time, I mentioned a bit earlier that there is

         14  some egg on the face.  There is some embarrassment

         15  with the Yankee organization, that they were not

         16  good partners in the 70s, 80s.  There was a book, I

         17  think, that came out, The Bronx Is Burning, if you

         18  will.  So I do know that ownership is committed. I

         19  believe that the things that you're asking for need

         20  to be reduced to writing.  How do we participate?

         21  How do we get our fair share? How do we share in the

         22  economics?  You turned your back on us before, as

         23  you say.  We admit to that.  At the same time, we're

         24  saying we will commit to you.  So there needs to be

         25  something in writing to guarantee if you do not
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          2  trust.  And put something down on paper, so that you

          3  can refer back to it.

          4                 I hear Randy say, time and time

          5  again, that he's going to commit to it.  Call him on

          6  it.  I hear Lon Troast say, who is our legal

          7  advisor, that we're going to commit to it.  Call

          8  them on it.  And ask them to put it in writing to

          9  support, so that there is sharing of the economic

         10  gains.  That there is sharing in the progress in the

         11  community, and all the new businesses.  That the

         12  people that own the businesses there do live there.

         13  And spend their money there.  At the same time,

         14  engage with the Yankees to get the parking lots

         15  opened.  They're willing to.  Engage with them.  And

         16  I do believe that they'll support you.  I believe

         17  you're valid in what you're saying.

         18                 MR. LEVINE: If I might add, Council

         19  Member Foster, we don't consider anything a home

         20  run, a foul ball.  We're here reaching out, trying

         21  to show our interest and our intent to be good

         22  neighbors, and to work with you going forward.

         23                 I think you're going to hear a lot of

         24  people in the room today who talk about what the

         25  Yankees have done for them.  We could have done
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          2  better.  But we do do a lot.  But we could always do

          3  better.  We recognize that in the past we could have

          4  done better.  And how, we're trying to do even

          5  better.  But we do understand what it takes to be a

          6  member of the community.  We promise we're going to

          7  try to do a lot more.  We're putting our money where

          8  our mouth is.  But we have done a lot.  All we can

          9  do is commit to try and do more.

         10                 MR. JACKSON: If I can add to that

         11  Randy, you know, in listening to your passion,

         12  Councilwoman Foster, and I hear you Councilman

         13  White, I think there's a real opportunity to create

         14  a template here.  I think there's a real opportunity

         15  here to do something different.  The Steinbrenner

         16  family is compassionate. And there is financial

         17  wherewithal there to make things happen.  I think,

         18  for myself, when I get engaged with someone that is

         19  more powerful than I may be, if you will, I work for

         20  Microsoft.  I work for Hewlett Packard.  I work for

         21  the Yankees.  My thought is, what's the currency

         22  exchange?  What are they going to get from me? I

         23  know what I want.  I want green.  But what am I

         24  going to give them back?  And most of the time, all

         25  of the time, when I sit down in front of a chairman
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          2  or chief executive, I've been in front of some of

          3  the most powerful executives in the world, I read

          4  his objectives, I read his mission statement, and I

          5  read his goals. And I make sure mine lay right on

          6  top of his.  Because I want more from him than I can

          7  give back to him.  These companies all have been

          8  successful without me, before I got there.  At the

          9  same time, I want to meld with them.  And I do

         10  believe that there is an opportunity here to  --  I

         11  don't want to say too more powerful of a word, to

         12  get what you want.  To create a template that can be

         13  something special.  To get the community what the

         14  needs are.  I believe you have a palatable malatable

         15  party on this side of the

         16  table.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Again, I

         18  appreciate your words.  It's almost uneven

         19  relationship, bordering on being a  -- abusive is

         20  too strong a word, but since I can't think of

         21  another one  --  it's an uneven relationship, and

         22  it's almost abusive.  And you're asking the ones

         23  that have been abused to trust me one more time.

         24  And from where I'm sitting,  --  and there is the

         25  opportunity.  And it's the type of thing  --  the
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          2  Yankees have power.  It's clearly they have the

          3  ability to persuade the Administration, persuade

          4  whomever, to do the right thing.  And so --  and I

          5  know we're pressed for time, but understand from

          6  where I'm sitting, we are not there yet.  And while

          7  you're saying you have that trust, I'm sure you know

          8  it on a different relationship, on a different

          9  level.  That trust isn't there with me and many

         10  residents of the community.  And it is not something

         11  blindly  -- and I know we'll reduce it to writing

         12  and on and on, but it's very again, disingenuous,

         13  because everything we're talking about could have

         14  been done if we were concerned.  If the Yankees were

         15  concerned about the area they reside.

         16                 And it is important  --  this project

         17  and whether it goes through or not, is going to set

         18  a tone for development throughout this City.  And

         19  right now, while it looks like it's a Bronx issue,

         20  it's soon to be a Brooklyn, and Manhattan issue.

         21  And we all have to be mindful.  People don't do to

         22  us what we don't allow them to do.  And where I'm

         23   --  from right here, at this point, I refuse to be

         24  a co- signer in this.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you
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          2  Council Member Foster.  Council Member Barron.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm sorry.

          4  I'm all right. I'm good.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          5                 First, to you sir.  You know, the

          6  same thing has happened to us in Brooklyn, around a

          7  Nets arena.  What the project head usually does is

          8  find a famous athlete and bring them to us, and then

          9  approach it as though, because he's a star, and

         10  famous, that we won't get to the critical questions.

         11    And the film was an insult.  It was an insult just

         12  having Jeter and  --  This is a serious business

         13  that we're talking about here.  We're talking about

         14  dealing with parklands, that some of us don't want

         15  to see changed, even if you're promising new parks.

         16  And I'm from Brooklyn.  And I'm concerned about how

         17  we approach development.

         18                 And it's not just about trusting you.

         19    We do have some power over permitting.  So I'm

         20  saying more to my colleagues, we have to work for

         21  the people.  And it doesn't matter if the Yankees

         22  bring some cheerleaders here, that might be getting

         23  something out of this deal.  We got to talk about

         24  how we approach development in this City.

         25                 And I think you need to approach it
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          2  more serious, and much as I love and respect Reggie

          3  Jackson, then to bring in Reggie Jackson and some

          4  film on the Yankees, this is not about baseball.

          5  It's not about baseball.  And it's not about  --

          6  and we want to make sure  --  Council Member Foster

          7  hit it right on the head.  This is about trust.  The

          8  Yankees been in the Bronx for 83 years.  And the

          9  Bronx is now  --  the South Bronx is designated as

         10  the most impoverished county in the nation.  In the

         11  nation.  And so, there should have been some impact

         12  greater.

         13                 So you come to us now with all of the

         14  deals  --  and to have 25 percent of the jobs for

         15  people of color and in the Bronx, when we're 90

         16  percent of the Bronx is not sufficient.  Is not

         17  sufficient.

         18                 So I really think that my colleagues

         19  here, we got to make sure that we're not impressed

         20  by stars, they brought Bernard King to us when they

         21  wanted to build the Nets arena.  They know we like

         22  basketball, so they brought Bernard King.  And they

         23  brought JZ, a rapper, to talk to us about the Nets

         24  arena.  So now we got Reggie Jackson  --  and

         25  Reggie, they didn't even treat you right. Because I
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          2  followed your career.  Billy Martin was wrong, and

          3  so was Steinbrenner.  They didn't treat you right.

          4  They didn't treat you right.  And may he rest in

          5  peace.  They didn't treat you right. And if they

          6  didn't even treat you right, who I think was the

          7  franchise of the Yankees at some point, why should

          8  we think that we're going to be treated right after

          9  they didn't treat us right for 83 years?  And you

         10  can answer that question.

         11                 MR. JACKSON: Well Councilman, I would

         12  probably say you're short on your years.  Most of

         13  the people would think that we've been not treated

         14  well for an awful long time.  At the same time, you

         15  can't change the past.  I do think there's an

         16  opportunity here to create a new template.  I do

         17  think there's an opportunity to engage with people

         18  that are willing to help.  I do think there's enough

         19  wealth that's going to come to that community where

         20  you can get participation and the kind of support.

         21  I relish listening to the things that you have to

         22  say.  I'm proud to be a man of color, and have you

         23  stand for the things that you stand for, and

         24  represent your community.  I thought the community

         25  percentages of color was 60 to 70 percent.  I did
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          2  not know it was 90.

          3                 What I want to say, and what I want

          4  to leave with, and what I think is most important.

          5  I'm a Conservative.  I'm not a Democrat, and I'm not

          6  a Republican.  I am for the people.  I do believe in

          7  engaging with people that have the ability to make

          8  change.  I can't afford it.  If I can engage with

          9  people that can make change, and get them to listen

         10  to me along the way, and if I'm fortunate enough to

         11  be able to put it in writing, and then back it up

         12  legally, I've a chance to make change.  I've a

         13  chance to create a template of value for my

         14  community.  I'm about the community. I'm about

         15  people of color.  I'm a man of color.  I stand for

         16  truth. I've had knock down drag outs with George

         17  Steinbrenner like no one has.  We would have come to

         18  blows if I didn't have sense enough not to.  But,

         19  with all that in the past, there's a place in his

         20  heart. He's about to leave a legacy.  Let's take

         21  advantage of it.  To do something for the community.

         22    Get all of the things that you want, and put it in

         23  writing for these guys.  They can't do everything,

         24  because they're not the City.  And the well runs

         25  dry.  It's not bottomless.  But I can tell you
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          2  they're here to engage in supporting you.  They have

          3  a goal.  And they have objectives.  And if we can

          4  get with that  --  you know, I have my business card

          5  here.  I was going to walk up and hand it to

          6  Councilwoman Helen Foster.  I am AYS.  I am at your

          7  service.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: One last

          9  question from Council Member Barron.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: We appreciate

         11  the drama, but the bottom line is that how many

         12  people in the Yankee organization is in the upper

         13  echelons of the structure?  You know what I mean?

         14  The power, decision- making positions.  How many

         15  people are up in that power, decision- making Yankee

         16  structure who makes decisions, like the guys around

         17  you, or the gals around you.  How many of them are

         18  people of color?

         19                 MR. LEVINE: You know, Council Member,

         20  we do have people of color in our organization.  One

         21  of our Vice Presidents is sitting right here.  But

         22  that's not what this is about  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: No don't' say

         24   --

         25                 MR. LEVINE: No. Please don't
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          2  interrupt me Council Member.  I didn't interrupt

          3  you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm going to

          5  interrupt you because in the interest of time, I

          6  don't want to rap.  You said you have one here.  We

          7  always get the token one.  I said how many, how

          8  many.  And don't tell me that's not the issue,

          9  because that's part of the issue of trust.  So how

         10  many are in the top  --  you got one Vice President.

         11    How many do you have in the top echelons of your

         12  structure.  And it is an issue.

         13                 MR. LEVINE: You're looking at one

         14  right next to me. Another one is sitting right here

         15  in the audience.  I find it quite offensive that

         16  you're sitting here  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You find it

         18  offensive to ask you that question?

         19                 MR. LEVINE: No.  I think it's quite

         20  offensive  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  -- For me to

         22  ask you that.

         23                 MR. LEVINE: No.  If you let me talk,

         24  I think it's quite offensive for me to come here,

         25  the great tradition of the New York Yankees, it's
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          2  entire organization, all of its players, commitment

          3  to diversity, for me to sit here and listen to that

          4  kind of stuff.  I find it not acceptable.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: I'm going to

          6  step in here for a moment, and I'm going to make a

          7  quick point.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you Mr.

          9  Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         11  Council Member Barron.

         12                 First of all, I want to just

         13  reiterate the fact that this is a public hearing.  I

         14  understand that emotions are high. But we're not

         15  going to tolerate the responsiveness to individual

         16  questions.  And also, of course, we ask that there

         17  is respect afforded in both directions from Council

         18  Members to witnesses, and back and forth.  And we

         19  expect that that will carry on throughout the rest

         20  of our testimony during the course of the day today.

         21                 But thank you very much Council

         22  Member Barron.

         23                 I'm going to turn  --  actually, I'm

         24  going to interject with a question myself.  Mr.

         25  Levine, you had mentioned in your opening, that
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          2  there was no possible way that you could build on

          3  the existing site of the Yankees.  It seems to me

          4  that it is something that could have been done if

          5  the Yankees were willing to move themselves to

          6  another location during the course of time in which

          7  construction would have been necessary. Can you help

          8  me figure that out?  Because that's something that

          9  has perplexed me all throughout this whole process.

         10  I don't understand why you couldn't have just taken

         11  down the existing stadium and built a new one on

         12  that existing footprint.

         13                 Again, I'm sorry.  And I appreciate

         14  that you liked my question, but that is  --  we're

         15  not going to tolerate that. Thank you.

         16                 MR. LEVINE: It's a very good question

         17  and has a very good answer.  First off, the site of

         18  the present stadium is about 900 square feet.  If

         19  you look at any of the great modern stadiums, that's

         20  just not enough room.  We need much more room.  The

         21  size of the stadium is going to be about 1.3 million

         22  square feet.  And most of that is not the bowl, it's

         23  all the operational stuff that you need to run a

         24  modern stadium and to make it work.

         25                 Secondly, as I said, we've looked at
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          2  it.  It was much more expensive to take it down and

          3  to put it up.  And it's really not practicable to be

          4  playing anywhere for three years. That was tried

          5  once.  It doesn't work.  Especially if things go the

          6  way they are with the Mets building a new stadium in

          7  Queens, at the same time that we're building one,

          8  it's really not practical for the Yankees,

          9  especially since we're going to be paying for this

         10  new stadium, and we're going to need the revenues to

         11  pay for this new stadium, to go three years

         12  someplace else.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: I just have to

         14  pursue this issue for one more second here, because

         15  it seems to me, even if you're going from a 900,000

         16  square feet to a 1.3 million square foot stadium,

         17  that we're going through a lot of land use processes

         18  here today with the past alienation of parkland,

         19  we're talking about disposition of public lands for

         20  parking lots.  It seems to me that there could have

         21  been a ULURP action, there could have been a process

         22  which would have allowed you perhaps a slightly

         23  larger stadium on the site.  And as a land use

         24  matter, which is really what we are exploring here

         25  today, I want you to explain to us why that could
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          2  not have been a possibility here, as far as the

          3  Yankees are concerned.

          4                 MR. LEVINE: The answer is, clearly,

          5  even moving out a little, there just isn't enough

          6  space to do it.  It's again, not practicable for us

          7  to go somewhere else to play for three years. It's

          8  just not practical.  Let me say it again, the only

          9  place in the Bronx, we've all looked at it for many,

         10  many years, to place a new stadium for the Yankees

         11  in the Bronx, is Macombs Dam Park. That site.

         12  There's no other site  --  at the old stadium,

         13  moving a little out from the old stadium, that is

         14  practicable.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: When you say

         16   "practicable" -  and then I'm going to turn it to

         17  my colleague, Council Member Maria Baez, of the

         18  Bronx  --  when you say "practicable", and you said

         19  that you did it before, what is the practical

         20  constraint there?  Other than the monetary

         21  constraint.  And I claim, that if that is it, that

         22  is it.

         23                 MR. LEVINE: Not enough land.  There

         24  really isn't enough land, enough land to do what you

         25  have to do.  That, as well as no location, no place
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          2  for us to play for three years.  It doesn't work.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: When you did

          4  it the last time, you played at Shea.

          5                 MR. LEVINE: It didn't work.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: What happened?

          7                 MR. LEVINE: It was almost everybody

          8  uniformly will tell you it was a disaster.  A

          9  disaster both for the Yankees and for the Mets.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Can you just

         11   --  I don't know what that means, it was a

         12  disaster.  Was it because it was too hard to   --

         13                 MR. LEVINE: It was   --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Was there too

         15  much traffic? What was the disaster that we're

         16  talking about?

         17                 MR. LEVINE: The disaster was problems

         18  with both teams playing in the same place, revenues

         19  coming to the Yankees, fan availability to get to

         20  the games, too much confusion, didn't work.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Okay.  Thank

         22  you for that. I'm going to turn to Council Member

         23  Baez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Thank you Mr.

         25  Chair.
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          2                 I just want to make a comment.  And

          3  my comment is that I understand the frustration of

          4  my colleagues, and I agree to some extent, with

          5  Charles Barron, understanding that this is not about

          6  the Yankees, but this is about jobs and economic

          7  development for the Bronx.  And I find it kind of

          8  insulting when we have an opportunity here to make a

          9  difference.  We talk about a borough that's double

         10  digits unemployment, and we certainly cannot change

         11  the past, but we can certainly make a difference in

         12  the future. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         14  Council Member Baez.  Council Member White.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you very

         16  much Mr. Chairman.  Let me just reiterate  --  how

         17  you doing Randy?

         18                 MR. LEVINE: I'm glad to see you

         19  Council Member.

         20  Pleasure to see you again.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: All right.  As

         22  the Chairman of the Economic Development Committee,

         23  I'm very much concerned about the employment around

         24  the entire City.  And I understand the nature of

         25  business.  And I'm not opposed to business.  Both
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          2  benefit if the business is running correctly.  And

          3  we're going to have these exchanges back and forth.

          4                 But I think I owe  --  and if you

          5  allow me, Mr. Chair, to make just a personal

          6  statement, because I do represent 147,000 people.

          7  They didn't send me here to represent me.  They sent

          8  me here to represent them.  But from a personal

          9  standpoint of view, as an African- American, and

         10  seeing Mr. Jackson sit there, and understanding his

         11  history, and understanding the pain that he went

         12  through.  Like I was in the room with him when he

         13  was in with George Steinbrenner, when I read it in

         14  the paper.  And I understand those frustrations.

         15  But I don't think he should have to apologize to

         16  anyone, because he dealt with those frustrations,

         17  and whatever he went through.  He propelled, and

         18  gave an image of African Americans to take us up

         19  another notch.  And I think he should be applauded

         20  for that, not condemned.  So I want to, in behalf of

         21  the 147,000 people that I represent in my

         22  Councilmanic District, say to you, we appreciate

         23  your contribution as an African- American.  And

         24  secondly, your history speaks for itself as a

         25  ballplayer.
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          2            Now, my question is this.  The name of

          3  this here issue here is not Black.  Is not White.

          4  It's green.  Okay.  Now the issue is, and if we

          5  could  --  for me.  If we could stay with issue

          6  green, because I have too many people unemployed.

          7  Okay?  They have to go back to work.  The City is

          8  thriving.  Housing going up. Union losing jobs and

          9  membership.  Jobs being outsourced to other

         10  countries, et cetera.  So I think, Mr. Chairman, I

         11  would just like to offer this to my colleagues.  I

         12  mean, I'm not representing the Bronx, particularly,

         13  but as a member of this Council, I do stick with my

         14  colleagues, and voice my opinion at the appropriate

         15  time and place.  The fact of the matter is, that we

         16  have to share in the benefits of this City.  Right

         17  now, a person can't afford to buy a home with a

         18  family of four.  So when you talk about jobs, and

         19  they mentioned, and I listened to my colleague

         20  Council Member Foster, I understand that and I feel

         21  it.  And there's a lot of people that can't feel

         22  exactly what we're saying.  Because you don't run

         23  from the police if you walk down the street.  And

         24  our kids do.  Your kids don't.  So there are things

         25  that are entwined here that we have to understand
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          2  when the word trust me comes up.  Okay?  Within the

          3  negotiations and with the documentation and

          4  everything, there was a treaty, I've got it here

          5  with my pen, with the Indians, there was a treaty.

          6  And it was always broken.  So I think that the area

          7  of trust should come from  --  and I'm not part of

          8  the negotiations, but this is my recommendation  --

          9  the area of trust is you gotta show folks a sign.

         10  See, Blacks and Latinos, we feel one another.  See,

         11  I feel Reggie when he talks.  Okay?  And White folks

         12  are intellectual.  They think of projects.  Yes.

         13  Okay?  I learned this  --

         14                 MR. LEVINE: I'm not going near that

         15  one Council Member.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: No, listen.

         17  All I'm saying is, all I'm saying to you is this.

         18  You gotta blame Stonybrook University, because

         19  that's where I was taught that.

         20                 MR. LEVINE: You make sense.  You make

         21  sense to me.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay?  And what

         23  I'm saying to you is, you gotta bridge that gap. You

         24  have to find out from Mr. Jackson how to translate

         25  that feeling into some reality to allay our concerns
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          2  about what your promise is.  Because when you say

          3  you're committed to, I hear that as a promise.  And

          4  I heard that promise before.  So there has to be

          5  something, somewhere, I don't have the answer.  But

          6  all I'm saying to you is, I bring that out on the

          7  floor because sometimes things have to be said.  And

          8  if people don't say them, they don't know how to

          9  address the issue and come to a positive conclusion.

         10    And they act out with the distrust.  So I'm

         11  bringing that up out front and let you know, as an

         12  African American, what that is, in terms of what

         13  keeps  --  I understand what you're saying, but what

         14  keeps me from signing on that dotted line?  What

         15  keeps me from whoever you're negotiating with  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Council

         17  Member, if you could --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  One second.

         19  That's going to make me believe that after we both

         20  sign, and I put that in my pocket, that you're going

         21  to live up to it?  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

         23                 Do you want to respond to that?

         24                 MR. LEVINE: Would you like a

         25  response?  Or  -- okay Council Member.  I heard you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Okay.  Next up

          3  is the Chair of the Land Use Committee, Council

          4  Member Melinda Katz.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I have some

          6  simple questions. Just very quickly.  Item by item.

          7  You mentioned the fact that it's 7,000 to 10,000

          8  parking spots.  Does that mean that right now, the

          9  Yankees assess that there's 10,000 cars coming in

         10  anyway, into the area?  Is that the idea?

         11                 MR. LEVINE: There are 7,000 roughly

         12  now.  We're going to go to about 10,000.  But

         13  clearly, yes, there's that many cars coming.

         14  They're just not in parking lots.  They're all over

         15  the place, including, unfortunately, in the

         16  community.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Even with less

         18  seats coming into the stadium, you still believe

         19  that there's going to be those cars.

         20                 MR. LEVINE: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Is there future

         22  plans for  -- I mean, the transportation issue, I

         23  assume will be resolved.  When the City was up here,

         24  Mr. Chair, I guess at one point I'd like to talk to

         25  the City about the transportation issues, public
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          2  transportation issues in the area and any plans for

          3  the future.  Do you know of anything?

          4                 MR. LEVINE: It's been ongoing.  The

          5  New York Yankees strongly support a Metro North

          6  station to be built in that area. We're working

          7  along with the City representatives and people on

          8  the Council, because we believe that area does need

          9  a Metro North.  And we're supporting it.  We're

         10  pledged to continue to support it.  To do everything

         11  we can, because we think it will be an enhancement

         12  to the community.  And to the whole City.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: The second quick

         14  item I had was, there are going to be restaurants

         15  and stores there 365 days a year right?  Is there

         16  going to be an anchor restaurant?  Is that the idea?

         17

         18                 MR. LEVINE: There will be  --  yes.

         19  There will be a restaurant that's open all year.

         20  There will be retail that's open all year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Do we know how

         22  many restaurants?

         23                 MR. LEVINE: There will be many

         24  restaurants in the stadium, but only one open all

         25  year.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: You don't know

          3  what that anchor is yet.

          4                 MR. LEVINE: No.  We do not know.

          5  We're going to bid that out.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.  We

          7  can assume it's one of those large restaurants

          8  though.

          9                 MR. LEVINE: I don't think you can

         10  assume anything. And one thing that we also did

         11  incorporate into the new stadium, though, is that we

         12  have made it very clear that restaurants in the

         13  Bronx and restaurants in the local communities will

         14  actually have booths in the new stadium to sell

         15  their food during the baseball season.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And lastly, Mr.

         17  Jackson, I thank you for being here.  You are my

         18  first memory of baseball as a child, as a kid.

         19  Although it was later in years than I wanted it to

         20  be.  So I thank you for being here today.  And I

         21  will say Mr. -  Randy, that I hope that your not

         22  desire to come back to Shea Stadium has nothing to

         23  do with Queens.

         24                 MR. LEVINE: No. No.  I like Shea

         25  Stadium, just not to play there all year round.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.  I

          3  appreciate it. Thank you Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

          5  Council Member, Chair Katz.  I just wanted to note

          6  that we've been joined by Council Member Yvette

          7  Clarke, of Brooklyn.  And Council Member Oddo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you Mr.

          9  Chairman.

         10                 Mr. Levine, welcome home.  Just to my

         11  colleague, Tom White, I feel you.  And three weeks

         12  ago, when we were in the DR together, I was really

         13  feeling you.

         14                 I really have more of a comment than

         15  a question. And I'll be as brief as possible.  I

         16  think the record in this body is replete that I am

         17  not a Yankee fan.  I am a New York Mets fan. And if

         18  you don't believe it, you need only look at my

         19  hairline.  I was of the belief that if we won the

         20  series in 2000, but obviously, --

         21                 Council Member Lanza and I are

         22  sitting here with a very parochial interest, in that

         23  we have our own stadium issue in our home borough of

         24  Staten Island with the proposal to build NASCAR.

         25  And Mr. Jackson used the word template.  And I guess
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          2  from our perspective, we're watching and hoping that

          3  template is bountiful, and it sets a standard.

          4  Because for better or for worse, I think we've all

          5  come to realize that in 2006, when you take on a

          6  project of any size, that there has to be winners

          7  all around.  So we're watching, and hoping that  --

          8  and I think we're confident that you guys will live

          9  up to your word.  And as a Met fan, it's my hope

         10  that this gets done, for the satisfaction of Helen

         11  Foster and all of here constituents.  And I'd love

         12  to see Jose Tabata (phonetic) hitting home runs in

         13  2010, in Yankee Stadium.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         15  Council Member Oddo.  Council Member Mark- Viverito.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

         17  you Mr. Chair. And thank you both for your

         18  presentation today, and since you introduced

         19  yourself, Mr. Martinez Jackson, as a Reginald

         20  Martinez Jackson, thank you for your words as well.

         21                 A question about the MTA station.

         22  You say that you are supporting.  In what ways are

         23  you supporting, and pushing for that to occur?  I

         24  mean, I'm very much a supporter here of reducing the

         25  number of parking spaces.  And that is something
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          2  that I think clearly has to happen, taking into

          3  account the reality of the community that we're

          4  talking about.  South Bronx, East Harlem, which I

          5  represent, have highest indices of asthma in this

          6  country, in this City.  And we just recently saw the

          7  report that was issued by the EPA with regards to

          8  pollution centers here in New York.  So this is an

          9  issue we have to constantly battle.  And this is a

         10  reality that we have to deal with.  And I think that

         11  as we look at development, development has to fit

         12  into within our reality.  We don't have to fit into

         13  the reality of development.

         14                 And that's the way it's being

         15  presented here. Obviously, there's a lot of issue

         16  within the CBA that I think need to be further

         17  strengthened, in order for many of us to feel

         18  comfortable.  And I welcome you know, you're

         19  willingness to sit and iron it out.  But I would

         20  like to see a greater level of commitment on the MTA

         21  station.  You know, as a way of also encouraging not

         22  only commuting, and encouraging people to take mass

         23  transit, but as a way of reducing the number of

         24  parking spaces.

         25                 So my question is, are you, are the
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          2  Yankees willing to reduce the number of parking

          3  spaces?  I think that level of tangible, concrete

          4  commitment needs to be made.  And also, I want to

          5  hear more about when you say you support the MTA

          6  station, I wish that that would have been part of

          7  your non- negotiables.  That in order for this to

          8  happen, you want to see an MTA station built.

          9  Because maybe then we would have it.

         10                 So if you could speak to those two

         11  issues, I would appreciate it.

         12                 MR. LEVINE: Council Member, we have

         13  talked to all the appropriate officials.  We have

         14  told them how much we want a mew Metro North

         15  station, how much we think it's a good idea.  We're

         16  a baseball team.  That's all we are.  You probably

         17  have more influence or just as much influence as any

         18  other governmental body than we do.  We're committed

         19  to it.  But you know, we're just a baseball team.

         20  We have done everything that we can.

         21                 Secondly, I believe that the number

         22  of parking spaces is the appropriate amount.  I

         23  believe, as I said, over and over again, that the

         24  cars are going to be there.  One way or another.  I

         25  also believe those cars will be there, hopefully
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          2  whether or not there is a Metro North station.  So

          3  all I can tell you is, we're doing everything we

          4  possibly can as private citizens, as a private

          5  company, to try and get a Metro North station built.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Well

          7  just a comment. When you say you're just a baseball

          8  team.  I really think it's disingenuous of you to

          9  sit here and say that.  When the Yankees constantly

         10  threaten that if they don't get what they want, they

         11  would leave.  I mean, there's a level  --

         12                 MR. LEVINE: You haven't heard me say

         13  that today, Councilwoman.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Not

         15  here.  But I think that is something that has been

         16  thrown around in the past.  And if you're just a

         17  baseball team, then I don't know to my knowledge, it

         18  would be used.  So thank you Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         20  Council Member Mark- Viverito.  And we're going to

         21  turn to Council Member Dickens. And then we're going

         22  to move on to the Bronx Borough President and

         23  members of the public.  Council Member Dickens.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you

         25  very much Mr. Chair.  And thank you Mr. Levine and
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          2  Mr. Jackson.

          3                 And although I was not athletic, Mr.

          4  Jackson, I was proud, very proud, to be Black,

          5  watching you on television making historic runs.

          6  And in the vernacular of Council Member White,

          7  making the green.  So I was very proud of that.

          8                 But I have a question.  Jobs are

          9  first today.  But I want to ask a question about the

         10  future.  That will allow tomorrow's families to

         11  effectively qualify for the employment opportunities

         12  of the future.  And I heard you, in your testimony,

         13  speak about scholarships and internships.  I'd like

         14  to know, are they going to be targeted for the area

         15  resident, number one.  How and who will administer

         16  those scholarships and internships?

         17                 MR. LEVINE: Yes.  The answer is as

         18  part of the benefits agreement that we're

         19  negotiating, we're talking about putting a very

         20  sizeable amount of money  --  I'll give you a

         21  ballpark right now, about $700,000 a year, which,

         22  for each of 40 years, which will go to a committee.

         23  The recommendations from those committee will be the

         24  elected officials.  It will be run by a man or a

         25  woman of great stature.  There will be a grant
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          2  apparatus set up.  That everybody in the community

          3  will come, make an application, and the people in

          4  the area, in the community, will decide which is

          5  appropriate, which is prioritized, and which is not.

          6                 That's just one part of the community

          7  benefits agreement we're talking about here.  We're

          8  talking about a lot of other pieces on top of that.

          9  We're talking about money expended to make sure that

         10  people in the community get trained for the right

         11  jobs.  That contractors get trained so they can work

         12  on building the stadium.  We're talking about

         13  providing youth groups access to Yankee Stadium with

         14  tickets.  We're talking about cash to supplement the

         15  City, as far as maintaining the parks.  We're

         16  talking about a level of commitment by the New York

         17  Yankees, as a private business, that honestly,

         18  Council Member, has never been seen in the history

         19  of New York City.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you

         21  very much.  Now, when you talk about internships,

         22  are these internships for athletics, or are these

         23  going to be internships that you will provide that

         24  our youth can go into other directions, in which

         25  they may be interested in, such as law, such as
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          2  politics.

          3                 MR. LEVINE: Yes.  The answer is yes.

          4  We have internship programs today at the Yankees,

          5  and this group will provide scholarships for

          6  whatever industry youth, medicine, they see fit.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Now, I just

          8   --  maybe I didn't hear.  Who and what are you

          9  still working out will administer this?  Because

         10  maybe I didn't hear that.

         11                 MR. LEVINE: We're trying to work it

         12  out.  Our idea is to basically have it administered

         13  by somebody of great stature, who everybody in the

         14  community trusts.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you.

         16  And I'm very happy, as I would know, a new facility

         17  would be ADA compliant.  And that's because the

         18  present facility is sadly, and woefully inadequate

         19  and does not permit a physically challenged persons

         20  to come to watch a game and to participate and enjoy

         21  in the sports. That has become so great and renowned

         22  in this country.  So I know that it would be, and

         23  I'm glad that you did address that.  Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 MR. LEVINE: Thank you.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

          3  Council Member Dickens.  Mr. Levine, Mr. October,

          4  thank you very much for being here and for your

          5  testimony today.  And we're going to move on to the

          6  beginning of our public session, and start it off

          7  with the President of the Borough of the Bronx,

          8  Adolfo Carrion.

          9                 Mr. Carrion: Thank you.  It's great

         10  to be here.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK:  I would just

         12  like to ask that somebody from the Yankees

         13  organization stick around in the event that there

         14  are questions during the public session.  So I'm

         15  going to make that request out there, but I hope

         16  somebody heeds it. Mr. Borough President, the floor

         17  is yours.

         18                 MR. CARRION: Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         19  And I'm delighted to be back here.  Mr. Chairman,

         20  Land Use Chair Katz, Minority Leader Oddo, and my

         21  colleagues in government from the City Council, I'm

         22  normally  --  for four years I was on that side.

         23  And now, I'm privileged to come and testify before

         24  you.  And I'm going to I guess allow people to

         25  settle a little bit.
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          2                 Mr. Chairman, and members of the

          3  Committee, the Yankee Stadium and Park Improvement

          4  Plan before you today, which is a Land Use action

          5  that actually triggers a vision, and a master plan

          6  for the redevelopment of a neighborhood, is indeed,

          7  in my belief, a unique opportunity to improve the

          8  civic center of the Bronx, and the entire borough,

          9  which will not only realize a mew state- of- the-

         10  art stadium, but also add significant parkland, park

         11  design of unsurpassed creativity, the realization of

         12  waterfront access and street and public plaza

         13  improvements, that reflect the Bronx of the 21st

         14  century.

         15                 When I started to lay out a vision

         16  for the redevelopment of the Yankee Stadium

         17  neighborhood, I put forth a master plan that

         18  addresses the development of a community that has

         19  served as host to the New York Yankees since 1923.

         20  I have always believed that this area of the City

         21  deserves to be treated as a year- round destination.

         22    Not just for baseball, but also for tourism, and

         23  as a place that adds value and economic opportunity

         24  to the lives of the people who live and work there.

         25                 So my vision raises the bar of
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          2  expectation for the comprehensive redevelopment of

          3  the neighborhood around the stadium. I'm happy that

          4  today I can reiterate that vision.  This vision is

          5  for a place that not only provides a world- class

          6  stadium for a world- class baseball team, but a

          7  vision that includes  --  and I think it's important

          8  that the members understand that this is simply the

          9  trigger that will start a process of renewal and

         10  revival in a neighborhood that sorely needs it.  So

         11  I beg your attention.              That vision

         12  includes a high school for sports industry careers.

         13  A hotel and convention center.  A modern fully

         14  equipped fitness center.  Yes, a new Metro North

         15  station, an improved ferry terminal on the Harlem

         16  River.  And a revitalized commercial district, with

         17  job opportunities for local residents, construction

         18  contracts for Bronx businesses, and ongoing business

         19  opportunities for local businesses in the new

         20  stadium and around the stadium.  Neighborhood

         21  beautification, and a formalized structure for

         22  ensuring that these things take place.

         23                 Let me pause for a moment here, Mr.

         24  Chairman.  Let me just pause for a moment here,

         25  because I think this an important point to make, and

                                                            150

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  it's a point of clarification.  And for the benefit

          3  of my colleagues.  I understand the outburst that

          4  Council Member Barron enjoyed and the dramatic

          5  moment that he created.  But the Bronx has been used

          6  as a punching bag for a long time.  In the 1970s,

          7  yes, the Bronx was burning.  And you remember the

          8  1977 World Series, and Howard Cossell turning to the

          9  rest of the world and saying the Bronx is burning.

         10  And indeed it was.  But it is no longer burning with

         11  fire.  It is burning with desire for growth. It is

         12  burning with opportunity.  It has been a

         13  transformation that is unprecedented.

         14                 And so, I want to clarify the record,

         15  because often, people refer to the Bronx, and equate

         16  it with double- digit unemployment.  When I took

         17  over as Borough President of the Bronx in 2002,

         18  January, the unemployment rate was nearly 12

         19  percent. That's double- digit unemployment.  In four

         20  years, that unemployment rate went down to six

         21  percent.  Since then, it has crept up, with the

         22  national unemployment rate, and every other county

         23  in New York City and every other county in New York

         24  State.  Where we are today, as of the latest

         25  statistics, is approximately seven point two

                                                            151

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  percent.  It is projected that with the number of

          3  jobs that are created, you have to put this in the

          4  context, of a new Terminal Market, that will be a

          5  million square feet.  Or the Gateway Center that

          6  will be a million square feet of retail and

          7  commercial space, just near the stadium.  And the

          8  prospects of the future, and we can spend lots and

          9  lots of time talking about some of those projects, a

         10  million square feet of development that' happening

         11  in the HUB, that's going to create thousands of

         12  jobs, and the list is long. And I won't venture to

         13  stay with it, but our unemployment rate is at seven

         14  point two percent.

         15                 To be clear, however, the

         16  unemployment in certain zip codes is indeed double

         17  digit.  And in and around the stadium, the

         18  unemployment rate is in double digits.  That's in

         19  and around the stadium and the zip codes, specific

         20  zip codes in the South Bronx.

         21                 And that's precisely why this

         22  project, and the opportunity to create a signature

         23  community agreement with such a large player in the

         24  economy is so important.  That's why the prospects

         25  for Staten Island what they do with their stadium,
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          2  and Shea Stadium, and every other major development

          3  project is significant.  Because we cannot have

          4  people parachute into our communities with all the

          5  relationships and the developers and the architects,

          6  and everybody, and disregard the needs of the

          7  neighborhood.

          8                 And so, we have an opportunity,

          9  members of the Council and Mr. Chairman, we have an

         10  opportunity between now, still, and the day that

         11  this body votes, to continue to refine that

         12  agreement.  To continue to put pressure, as Mr.

         13  Jackson suggested, to call Randy Levine on this.  To

         14  call Lon.  To call everybody who is a player in this

         15  drama, to call them on their commitment.  It is

         16  absolutely important, and we need to take full

         17  advantage of this opportunity.

         18                 As the specifics of the stadium

         19  portion of this larger community development vision

         20  have evolved, our community has expressed real

         21  concerns about open space, about traffic

         22  circulation.  The need for economic benefits and

         23  other issues presented in the formal submissions

         24  that I'm about to hand to you. I am pleased that the

         25  City Administration, in the period of discussion
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          2  about this, has incorporated our proposal to reuses

          3  the existing Yankee field as a central park complex

          4  for Little League and other public sports

          5  activities.  This alternative will increase

          6  community park space by over two acres.  And will

          7  keep the athletic fields and running track at at

          8  site close to the residential neighborhood, just

          9  opposite their current location, with sweeping views

         10  of the Harlem River valley, representing a crucial

         11  improvement to the original plan.

         12                 I am also pleased that the City, at

         13  my urging, and the urging of my colleagues in the

         14  City Council, has scheduled the development of

         15  interim and permanent park replacement facilities to

         16  minimize the loss of community recreation resources.

         17    And I look forward to further enhancements to

         18  these plans that will enrich the streetscape,

         19  improve street activity, and help the environment.

         20                 The City and the Yankees must commit

         21  to a plan that addresses some critical issues of

         22  quality of life for this neighborhood.  Many of them

         23  you heard, and you will continue to hear throughout

         24  the afternoon.

         25                 First, the host community must
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          2  partake in the benefits of developing Yankee

          3  Stadium.  This means jobs for local residents,

          4  construction contracts, and ongoing business

          5  opportunities for local businesses.  Neighborhood

          6  beautification and a formalized structure for

          7  ensuring that these actually take place, which is

          8  exactly the point that Council Member Arroyo made.

          9                 The Yankees must commit to a binding

         10  agreement. Point well taken by a number of you.  It

         11  must be a binding agreement that will establish a

         12  package of benefits and services to the local

         13  community.

         14                 Second, the plan must ensure that the

         15  City creates a high school for sports industry

         16  careers, adding it to the current five- year Capital

         17  Plan.  And we know that we're in throws of the final

         18  steps of this funding, education funding, that's

         19  being worked out in Albany, and all the officials

         20  have been working through the night to try to fix

         21  what's broken at the moment.  I suggest that we use

         22  a City- owned parcel on River Avenue, between 164th

         23  and 165th Streets for this new school.

         24                 Third, local residents and businesses

         25  have long endured heavy, heavy vehicular and

                                                            155

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  pedestrian traffic, and environmental impacts from

          3  construction in the area.  We are experiencing a

          4  transformation of the Bronx that is unprecedented.

          5  And let me just pause here, Mr. Chairman, for one

          6  second, and mention Lou Gerhig Plaza, right across

          7  the street from our Courthouse, construction started

          8  this Monday.  And it is creating an inconvenience in

          9  our community.  Next month, the Grand Concourse

         10  Boulevard will begin reconstruction with a $50

         11  millions of investment on the Grand Concourse

         12  Boulevard, which is our Champs Elyse.  That's an

         13  inconvenience for the local community.  The stadium

         14  project, the Bronx Terminal Market.  But these are

         15  all the price of progress as we build and rebuild

         16  and improve the Bronx.

         17                 Further measures are needed to

         18  improve traffic flow and minimize congestion.  Now,

         19  let me suggest these measures to you.  And I beg

         20  your indulgence.  I know that time has run long

         21  today.

         22                 The City and the Yankees must make

         23  year- round garage parking available to local

         24  residents at discounted rates and public daily

         25  parking on non- game days to the folks who work in
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          2  the area. During baseball season, monthly parkers'

          3  rates must be reduced to reflect game- day loss of

          4  parking facilities.

          5                 In order to reduce congestion impacts

          6  on the neighborhood, limiting parking on local

          7  streets to local residents wherever possible, with

          8  the use, yes, of residents' permits.  As used in

          9  Boston and other cities.

         10                 And I beg to differ with the

         11  Department of Transportation on this issue.  This

         12  has been tested in other cities, and it's worked in

         13  certain cities because they did it right.  And it's

         14  not worked in other cities because they didn't go it

         15  right.  We need a clear plan, from the Department of

         16  Transportation, before this City Council votes on

         17  April 5th. Certainly before the April 26th, or 28th

         18  pilot hearing.

         19                 The City's increasing  --  we need

         20  the City to increase enforcement and traffic control

         21  agents during game days. We know from decades of

         22  experience, that illegal parking represents people

         23  seeking to avoid paying parking fees.  Not from a

         24  dearth of parking spaces, necessarily.  And that

         25  increased parking spaces will not necessarily
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          2  entirely deter fans from illegal parking on streets,

          3  sidewalks, and parkland, and so we do need increased

          4  enforcement.

          5                 Accordingly, I believe that serious

          6  enforcement is a key to alleviating the neighborhood

          7  burden of Yankee fans circulating and parking on

          8  local streets.

          9                 The City and the New York Yankees

         10  must help to resolve the traffic issues and

         11  coordination of traffic and parking with the Gateway

         12  Center that's being developed immediately to the

         13  south.  Including the institution of a shuttle

         14  service, a free shuttle service, between the two

         15  facilities, using hybrid vehicles.

         16                 As a City, our overarching goal must

         17  be to reduce auto use and pollutants, and encourage

         18  the use of mass transit.  If we achieve this, in the

         19  future, we may be able to convert some of these

         20  parking garages to parkland and housing, and

         21  community facilities.

         22                 Fourthly, the City must dedicate a

         23  30,000 square foot parcel, already reserved as a

         24  development site at the southern end of the central

         25  park that's now being created, for an independently
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          2  operated full- service fitness center.  And I know

          3  there are folks here from the Parks Department that

          4  can take this message back to Commissioner Benepe.

          5  That will serve local residents and civic center

          6  employees and the public.

          7                 Fifth, while the current plan

          8  significantly opens the waterfront for recreation,

          9  the City should create additional access for the

         10  Highbridge community, by improving and extending the

         11  bridge at the foot of 161st Street, over the Major

         12  Deegan Expressway.

         13                 Sixth, the Yankees, and/or their

         14  developer, and the developers of parking garages,

         15  must build and operate in an environmentally

         16  sustainable, and responsible manner.  They must

         17  abide by Local Law 77.

         18                 Seventhly,(sic) a hotel and

         19  conference center must be developed.  Either

         20  adjacent to Yankee Stadium, or at the northern end

         21  of the Gateway Center.

         22                 Finally, a fundamental paradigm shift

         23  must occur in the relationship between the New York

         24  Yankee organization and the surrounding community.

         25  And that's I think, the essence of the emotion
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          2  around this issue.  The Yankees have historically

          3  remained remote from the neighborhood and their

          4  management has not truly functioned as a member of

          5  our community.  Local residents have endured the

          6  impacts of congestion and parking on game days, and

          7  inactive parking facilities during the off- season,

          8  with few benefits in return.

          9                 This must change, and it can change.

         10  With the proposed redevelopment, the most valuable

         11  franchise in sports, must bring significant long-

         12  lasting benefits to this community.

         13                 I stand ready working with local

         14  residents and local officials, to welcome the New

         15  York Yankees into a new constructive partnership

         16  with the Bronx and with New York City, their host

         17  community.  In turn, the Yankees must commit to

         18  becoming a full fledged member of our community.

         19                 I think that this can be memorialized

         20  in this Land Use action.  It can be memorialized in

         21  a community benefits agreement.  I think we have a

         22  historic opportunity to get it right in the Bronx,

         23  and for that matter, in the City of New York.

         24                 I thank you for this opportunity and

         25  I thank the members of the community who have spoken
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          2  so clearly and lucidly about the issues that need to

          3  be addressed.  And certainly to the members of the

          4  Bronx delegation, who have demonstrated outstanding

          5  leadership in fighting for the things that we know

          6  need to come with this kind of project.  To Council

          7  Member Baez, and Arroyo, and Foster, and the ones

          8  that are not here.  Thank you for your advocacy and

          9  your leadership.  And again, thank you for this

         10  opportunity.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         12  Borough President.  Before you go, I believe there's

         13  one question.  Just to get the public session

         14  started, though, I just wanted to put the following

         15  people on notice that we're going to start with you

         16  in the public session. Geoffrey Croft, Lukas

         17  Herbert, John Rozankowski, and Michael Trotter.

         18  We're going to call you all up at the same time, as

         19  soon as the Borough President is finished.  I just

         20  wanted to start with that.  And Council Member

         21  Foster.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.  I

         23  don't have a question.  I just want to do a point of

         24  clarification, that the drama actually began when

         25  the Yankees showed their video and brought Reggie
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          2  Jackson in. And it didn't begin with Council Member

          3  Barron.

          4                 MR. CARRION: I appreciate and

          5  understand the level of insult.  And I happen to

          6  agree with you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

          8  Council Member.

          9                 Mr. Borough President, thank you for

         10  being here.  We appreciate it.  And we look forward

         11  to continuing this conversation with you.

         12                 MR. CARRION: Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Let me call

         14  upon the first members of the public.  Geoffrey

         15  Croft, Lukas Herbert, John Rozankowski, and Michael

         16  Trotter.  I'd like to ask the Sergeant- at Arms to

         17  set the clock at two minutes, and folks, I just want

         18  to let you know, as we're moving into a new part of

         19  this hearing, that we're looking forward to hearing

         20  all of the public testimony, but I'm going to need

         21  to move this along expeditiously.  So please

         22  cooperate.  I'm going to try to put everybody on

         23  notice as to where they're being called.  And just

         24  be ready to go.

         25                 I'm just going to let you know who
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          2  the next panel is in advance.  Since we have our

          3  first four.  The next panel is going to be Mary

          4  Blassingame, Edward Malloy, Lenny Caro, and Juan

          5  Pagan. So if you could just be ready to go when

          6  these folks are finished. And the floor is yours,

          7  Mr. Croft.

          8                 MR. CROFT: Good afternoon.  My name

          9  is Geoffrey Croft.  I am President of NYC Park

         10  Advocates.  We are the only Citywide park group that

         11  monitors all City, State, and federal parkland.

         12                 New York City Park Advocates strongly

         13  opposes any plan that encroaches on the history

         14  Mullaly and Macombs Dam Park. And any plan that does

         15  not provide much- needed park improvements and

         16  additional amenities.  I ask the members of the City

         17  Council to please consider the needs and desires of

         18  the community that this irresponsible plan will

         19  affect.  It is important to understand, this plan is

         20  predicated on one issue.  Greed.  The country's

         21  wealthiest sports franchise is attempting to steal

         22  22 acres of public parkland simply because they say

         23  they will make less money during construction, if

         24  they had to play elsewhere.  Unfortunately, this is

         25  why we are all here today.
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          2                 In June, 2005, without a single

          3  public hearing, and despite having alternative land

          4  nearby, the State quietly alienated these historic

          5  parks in just eight days, to the New York Yankees

          6  for the building of a new 14- story, 53,000 seat

          7  stadium in the middle of a large residential

          8  community.  This plan would destroy one of the few

          9  linear parks of that size in the City, and would

         10  replace much of the lost parks with park features,

         11  an important distinction, spread out over numerous

         12  locations up to a mile away, and at enormous

         13  taxpayer expense.

         14                 This is completely insulting.  The

         15  community stands to lose two of the most heavily

         16  utilized parks in the Bronx for at least five years,

         17  during construction.  Instead of regarding our parks

         18  and open spaces as indispensable, something our

         19  government should be eagerly investing in, and

         20  protecting, they are being treated as expendable, as

         21  commercial properties waiting to be developed.

         22                 Parks and the services they provide

         23  are precious, and must be protected.  The City, and

         24  especially private developers must not be allowed to

         25  encroach on public park space whenever they wish, or
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          2  whenever politics allows.

          3                 Apparently, our elected officials

          4  think public parkland is the same as all other

          5  property.

          6                 In closing, I would just like to say,

          7  the seizing of public parkland by the government is

          8  an extreme measure.  And should only be done under

          9  the most exceptional conditions. Accommodating the

         10  country's most successful sports team, most

         11  assuredly, does not meet this criteria, especially

         12  when there are very viable alternatives.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         14  Croft.  Mr. Herbert.

         15                 MR. HERBERT: Hello.  My name is Lukas

         16  Herbert.  I am a member of Community Board Four.  I

         17  am part of the overwhelming majority that voted to

         18  reject the Yankee Stadium Project as proposed.

         19                 Basically, what you've  --  the

         20  presentations you've seen today, there is a lot

         21  about the proposed park scheme that has been left

         22  out of the presentation.  Basically, if you look at

         23  the renderings of the park above Parking Garage A

         24  that you see in the environmental review documents,

         25  you'll note that there are 13 stairs going from
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          2  Ruppert Plaza up to the roof of the parking

          3  structure, and about seven inches per stair, you're

          4  talking about an eight and a half foot elevation

          5  above street, that's going to be above everybody's

          6  head as they walk into this park.  Instead, they're

          7  going to see the side of a parking structure there.

          8  They are not going to see a park.  I need to make

          9  that absolutely clear. That you're not being told

         10  the reality with this park scene.  It's in the

         11  environmental review document, take a look.

         12                 Also, the parkland conversion has

         13  been, as it's been proposed, does not meet federal

         14  guidelines.  It says it very clearly in the

         15  Environmental Impact Statement.  It doesn't meet the

         16  guidelines.  I prepared a report which I've given to

         17  all of you.              Basically, when they need

         18  to get a federal permit for all of this, they're not

         19  going to get it, based on the federal guidelines

         20  that they've set out.  I urge you to take a look at

         21  this.  It says it very clearly.  You know, if you

         22  approve this project, you're going to approve a

         23  project that doesn't meet federal law, and it's

         24  going to get kicked back to you.

         25                 Also, I'd like to say that a vote for
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          2  this project is a vote for bad government.  The City

          3  has basically deliberately tried to discourage

          4  community input.  And to insinuate to residents that

          5  it's a done deal.  They've done everything to make

          6  that point clear to people.  And this should not be

          7  a model for responsible community development.

          8                 I mean, to give you and example, I

          9  found out about a scoping meeting for this project

         10  through my job.  I work out of the City, as an urban

         11  planner.  I found out about it through a newsletter

         12  at my job.  They were not advertising this to local

         13  residents.  I found out about it through work.  I

         14  called the District Manager.  He has no idea what

         15  I'm talking about. Then we have the hearing, and

         16  everybody's egging around the issues.

         17                 Also, the community benefits

         18  agreement that you see here.  Basically, the way

         19  it's worded, sets up a slush fund.  If you vote for

         20  this, you vote for a slush fund, and that is also an

         21  example of bad government, that I think most City

         22  residents and voters would deplore.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         24  Herbert.  Mr. Rozankowski.

         25                 MR. ROZANKOWSKI: Good afternoon.  I'm
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          2  John Rozankowski from Save Our Parks.  Those of you

          3  in the City Council, on the afternoon of June 20,

          4  2005, voted to suspend home rule and seize two

          5  community parks from the people without consulting

          6  the community.  And thus, you set the stage for the

          7  gravest violation of community rights that has ever

          8  been seen.

          9                 The State Legislature followed your

         10  example of a secret vote.  The Bronx Borough

         11  President denied the community the right to testify

         12  at an open meeting.  And City advocacy deprived the

         13  people of a fair and impartial hearing in front of

         14  City Planning.

         15                 Yet, you are the very people who

         16  attend community meetings.  Talk about community

         17  rights.  Grander laws for civic actions and agonize

         18  over the noninvolvement of your youth.  By your

         19  actions on 6/20, you sent the message that

         20  communities are irrelevant, and that the people do

         21  not count.  Indeed, 6/20 can be celebrated as a

         22  betrayal by every community in New York City.

         23                 Since that day, some of you have had

         24  second thoughts, and sought refuge in protocol.

         25  Which is inapplicable to a project so destructive to
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          2  many, and so costly to everyone in New York City.

          3                 Now, however, you have a golden

          4  opportunity to vote again on this project.  To

          5  redeem yourselves, and to vote with your conscience

          6  and show people exactly where you stand.

          7                 Save our parks.  Representing the

          8  people of the South Bronx.  And symbolically, every

          9  community in New York City asks you to reject the

         10  project and to stand with your fellow citizens.

         11  Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you sir.

         13    Thanks very much.  Mr. Trotter.

         14                 MR. TROTTER: Dear Chairman Garodnick.

         15    And Honorable City Council Members of the Housing

         16  and Land Use Subcommittee, City Council Members,

         17  thank you for having this most important hearing

         18  today.

         19                 As a private citizen, and a native

         20  born son of Morris (unidentifiable word) Bridge to

         21  Grand Concourse and Melrose, who has been living in

         22  this community for 55 years plus, I want to voice my

         23  very serious concerns about the alienation and land

         24  grab of Macombs Dam and John Mullaly Park.  We did

         25  not bring a video, but we do have our video
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          2  documented on the Internet.

          3                 So for the record, I want to say to

          4  you, please look at www. debunk and demystify and

          5  prove the lie that's being perpetrated on the people

          6  that are sitting in this audience from our

          7  community.

          8                 I am a standing member of the Housing

          9  and Land Use Committee of Community Planning Board

         10  Four, in Bronx County.  The Treasurer of the Hope of

         11  Israel Senior Citizens' Center, Save our Stadium

         12  Committee, The Save Our Parks Coalition, and a

         13  former Project Manager, which developed the Melrose

         14  Commons  Urban Renewal Plan.  Home and Grassroots

         15  community design, and above all, I am a parent and a

         16  father.

         17                 Respectfully, the plan for the New

         18  York Yankee Stadium would destroy a respective sense

         19  of adjacent communities, by placing a mega- box

         20  baseball stadium, while creating an apartheid wall.

         21  No matter how decorative, by destroying,

         22  segregating, and separating natural parkland from

         23  community residents who use the park for recreation,

         24  such as inclusively, senior citizens, middle class,

         25  working poor, and immigrant families for our
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          2  children, and the general public at large.

          3                 We have star power too.  But our star

          4  power are in schools.  They are our children.  You

          5  talk about garages.  Why not talk about how it's

          6  going to impact PS 73.  PS 114.  The Raphael

          7  Hernandez School.  Kipp Academy.  PS 11.  All

          8  Hallows.  Sacred Heart.  You need to look at what we

          9  have on the Internet.  You need to look at what

         10  we're providing.  Because this is going to destroy

         11  our community.  It's a sham.  And you need to

         12  understand, that if you vote our park away, you're

         13  voting away too.  Thank you.

         14                 Thank you Mr. Trotter.  And thank you

         15  all.  Are there questions for the panel?  Okay.

         16  Thank you very much.  We appreciate your being here.

         17    Okay, I'm going to just  --  as we bring Mary

         18  Blassingame, Edward Malloy, Lenny Caro, and Juan

         19  Pagan to the witness table,  --  is there only one

         20  of you?

         21                 MS. BLASSINGAME: It's only me.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Which one are

         23  you, I'm sorry.

         24                 MS. BLASSINGAME: I'm Mary

         25  Blassingame.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Mary

          3  Blassingame.  There are Edward Malloy, Lenny Caro,

          4  and Juan Pagan.  Lenny Caro.  Thank you sir.  Juan

          5  Pagan.  Okay, great.  Thank you.  But before we --

          6  oh, she's opposed.  Okay.  All right.  Please have a

          7  seat.  I am just going to ask the Counsel to open

          8  the voting on the Land Use matters that we had heard

          9  in the earlier part of this hearing.  Counsel, if

         10  you'd like to proceed.

         11                 MS. SHUNN: Council Member Clarke

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye on all.

         13                 MS. SHUNN: Council Member Lanza

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Aye.

         15                 MS. SHUNN: Vote stands at five in the

         16  affirmative, none in the negative, and no

         17  abstentions.  And is referred to the full Committee.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Let me  --

         19  thank you Ms. Shunn.  Let me be clear, that is not a

         20  vote on the matter that we're hearing presently.

         21  That is not the Yankee Stadium matter. That is an

         22  issue of several items that were brought before this

         23  Committee from the Department of Housing,

         24  Preservation, and Development.  And they made

         25  presentations at the very, very beginning of this
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          2  hearing.  The vote on this matter will take place on

          3  April 5th.  So I am going to turn to our panel, and

          4  we're going to start with Ms. Blassingame, and then

          5  we'll proceed in turn. Thank you.

          6                 MS. BLASSINGAME: Okay.  I just want

          7  to say I'm opposed to this project.  My name is Mary

          8  Blassingame, and I'm currently the Chairperson of

          9  the Housing and Land Use Committee of Community

         10  Board Four, in the Bronx.  I am a teacher at PS 126

         11  in Highbridge, and I've lived in the Highbridge

         12  community for 34 years.

         13                 Please let me remind you that the

         14  Housing and Land Use Committee of Community Board

         15  Four voted unanimously against the Yankee Stadium

         16  being placed in Macombs Dam and Mullaly Park.

         17  Community Board Four also voted against it, with 16

         18  opposed, eight for, and five abstained.  Indeed, our

         19  community is very unhappy and concerned about the

         20  negative affects that a stadium in that location

         21  will have on the health and the quality of life for

         22  the residents, especially our children.

         23                 Let me point out some of our major

         24  concerns about this project, in which the community

         25  had very little to do, or no input in the planning
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          2  of a new stadium.  Our concerns are that this

          3  project has a very poor quality of urban planning.

          4  And it does not meet the requirements that the

          5  landlord and Conservation Fund Act specifies for

          6  alienation of parklands.

          7                 As a start, let me list the reason

          8  that Community Board Four rejected the Yankee

          9  Stadium project.  One, the alienation of parkland is

         10  against the interest of the community and its

         11  children.  Two, the project will cause health

         12  hazards for the community.  Three, the project will

         13  adversely affect traffic patterns in the area.

         14  Four, the project will adversely affect local

         15  merchants and economic development in the area.

         16  Five, high end noise will be imposed on the

         17  community.  And six the proposed replacement of

         18  parkland is not equitable and not equally accessible

         19  to the community.

         20                 The plan does not include the

         21  community in its planning, and a state- of- the-

         22  arts sports arena does not belong in the heart of a

         23  residential community.  And a commercial multi

         24  million dollar profit- making entity should not be

         25  given park land. In this water and conservation plan
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          2  act has asked for an appraisal of the parkland.

          3  Nowhere have we seen an appraisal of the parkland,

          4  which they plan to alienate.  And nowhere have we

          5  seen a fair market value on the substitute parkland.

          6                 And certainly, the community does not

          7  see the substitute land as meeting their recreation

          8  needs, and have the same impact and magnitude  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK:  Please wrap

         10  up.

         11                 MS. BLASSINGAME: Of use in our

         12  community residents.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

         14  Thank you very much for your testimony.  Before we

         15  turn to Mr. Malloy, I just want to note the next

         16  panel that is coming.  Mary Harris, Geneva Causey,

         17  Nancy Veit, and ElJeer Hawkins.  So please be ready.

         18    Mr. Malloy, it's all yours.

         19                 MR. FERNANDEZ: Good morning Mr.

         20  Chairman.  Or good afternoon, Mr. Chairman.  As you

         21  can see,  I'm not Ed Malloy.  I'm here to speak on

         22  his behalf.  My name is Paul Fernandez, Chief of

         23  Staff for the Building and Construction Trades

         24  Council Of Greater New York.  Our organization

         25  represents more than 100,000 members in the five

                                                            175

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  boroughs of New York City in the building and

          3  construction industry.

          4                 We are pleased to speak in support of

          5  the Yankee Stadium redevelopment for one simple

          6  reason.  It will create 3,000 jobs on a full- time

          7  basis, for nearly three years.  And the difference

          8  in our industry between boom and bust, is literally

          9  big projects like this that create thousands of jobs

         10  at a time, for a sustained multi- year period.

         11                 Our industry has made some historic

         12  commitments over the last few years, and

         13  particularly in the last year, with the work of

         14  Congressman Rangel and Mayor Bloomberg, and

         15  Comptroller Thompson on the Mayor's Commission on

         16  Construction Opportunity, to designate significant

         17  portions of our entry workforce to an apprenticeship

         18  programs for residents of New York City, through

         19  efforts like Construction Skills 2000, which

         20  partners with the public schools, and now partners

         21  also with an organization called "SHRIVE" (phonetic)

         22  to bring economically disadvantaged adults into the

         23  industry.  Helmets to Hardhats, which provides

         24  opportunities for veterans returning from their

         25  service in the Armed Forces.  And also,
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          2  Nontraditional Employment for Women, which has an

          3  historic agreement with us to designate 10 percent

          4  of the openings for women interested in careers in

          5  the skilled trades.

          6                 We cannot provide those opportunities

          7  for these individuals and for our workforce if there

          8  are not big projects like this to keep them employed

          9  for multi- year periods.

         10                 So we speak in support of this

         11  project for that reason, and we certainly urge the

         12  Council to support the project when it comes before

         13  you on April 5th.

         14                      CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         15  very much. Mr. Caro.

         16                 MR. CARO: Chairman, and Council.  My

         17  name is Lenny Caro.  I'm the Vice President of the

         18  Bronx Chamber of Commerce.

         19                 We support this program.  We believe

         20  in the commerce, not only for where it's being

         21  built, but for the entire Bronx.  We believe that if

         22  this project is built, that the entire Bronx will

         23  participate in it.  People will then come to the

         24  Bronx. And no longer hear that the Bronx is burning,

         25  but the Bronx is building.  We will now become the
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          2  tourist attraction of the United States.

          3                 With this new stadium, people will

          4  come from all over the United States to visit it.

          5  We believe from City Island to 161st Street, that

          6  people will then start visiting those restaurants,

          7  and come from the outer boroughs to enjoy what the

          8  Bronx has to offer.

          9                 So the Bronx Chamber supports this,

         10  one hundred percent.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you sir.

         12    We appreciate it.  Mr. Pagan.

         13                 MR. PAGAN: Good afternoon Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRMAN GARODNICK: Welcome.

         15                 MR. PAGAN: My name is Juan Pagan.

         16  I'm all for the project.  I'm a construction worker.

         17    Not just for the jobs.  I keep hearing about the

         18  kids, that the park has to be built.  Go to the park

         19  at six o'clock this evening.  And see what's there.

         20  Right now, right now, at six o'clock this evening,

         21  go to that park. Besides crack heads, women of the

         22  nights, and rats.  That's what we have right now.

         23  And then see if that's healthy for the kids. Okay?

         24  So this project has to be built.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

                                                            178

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  Pagan.  I have one question from Council Member

          3  Arroyo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you Mr.

          5  Chair.  My question will be directed to Mr. Malloy.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Or Mr.

          7  Malloy's representative.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Or his

          9  representative.  You answered my question.  He

         10  changed significantly.  But since the testimony we

         11  have is that of Mr. Malloy, and I think that you

         12  heard my earlier question regarding the jobs that

         13  are going to be created.  And what guarantee are we

         14  getting from the union on the assurance that the

         15  jobs will go to the people that live in the

         16  community, people of color, and be able to enter the

         17  labor workforce that we have for so long, tried

         18  desperately to accomplish?

         19                 MR. FERNANDEZ: Well there's a couple

         20  of things. First, there is my understanding, a

         21  commitment by the Yankees organization that 25

         22  percent of the opportunities will  --  in terms of

         23  workforce  --  opportunities will be devoted to

         24  Bronx residents.  And that's certainly a goal that

         25  we can easily achieve.
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          2                 I think if you look at the

          3  demographics of the construction industry in New

          4  York City, they have changed substantially from only

          5  a decade ago, and certainly from two decades ago.

          6  More than half of our new members are African

          7  American/Latino.  And more than three quarters of

          8  our members actually live in the five boroughs.

          9                 And the final point I would make is

         10  that although it's certainly important that host

         11  communities benefit from projects, let's keep in

         12  mind that construction work is temporary by nature.

         13  So it's important that at the conclusion of this

         14  project, that those Bronx residents have the

         15  opportunity to go to work in our industry in

         16  Manhattan, in Brooklyn, and in Queens, where a lot

         17  of the employment opportunities occur.  So we

         18  certainly don't want to put conditions in place that

         19  would preclude residents of the Bronx from going to

         20  work elsewhere, given the fact that construction

         21  employment is temporary.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So am I to

         23  understand that the Building Construction Trade

         24  Council will be assignee on that labor agreement?

         25                 MR. FERNANDEZ: We'll be a signatory
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          2  on a labor agreement with the developer.  I couldn't

          3  say whether we would be a signatory on an agreement

          4  for the community benefits.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: How many of my

          6  residents will end up members of your union at the

          7  end of this process?

          8                 MR. FERNANDEZ: My understanding is

          9  that 25, like I said, 25 percent minimum is

         10  guaranteed in the agreement as the percentage of the

         11  workforce that will be Bronx residents.  And I

         12  certainly would encourage people who think that the

         13  industry is something that it's not, which is a

         14  bunch of suburbanites commuting in.  That's just not

         15  the case.  That's a myth.  Like I said, three

         16  quarters  --  and you can check.  This is not just

         17  our figures internally, these are figures from the

         18  Census Bureau.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Okay.  That

         20  doesn't answer the question.  And I don't want to

         21  belabor the point.  I think what you  --  I hope you

         22  get from this, is the concern that we have as

         23  Council Members, regarding the jobs and whether they

         24  will indeed go to community residents.  And that's

         25  something that we need a very, very firm commitment
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          2  on.

          3                 So, you know, one of the things that

          4  I have a problem with is Mr. Malloy is not here.

          5  And that's a concern for me.  Because that

          6  commitment has got to come from the top.  And unless

          7  that happens the people in my community will still

          8  be unemployed.  And you don't need to answer the

          9  question.  You just need to hear the concern, and

         10  make sure you share it with Mr. Malloy, so that we

         11  can get this behind us, and begin to talk about

         12  we're going to prepare this youth in the community

         13  for jobs in the union.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         14                 MR. FERNANDEZ: I would prefer to

         15  answer the question.  If there is an industry in

         16  this City, in the last year, that has done what our

         17  industry has done, which is designate 45 percent of

         18  our new employment opportunities for residents of

         19  this City, for high school graduates in this City,

         20  for returning veterans in this City, for women in

         21  this City, for African- American and Latinos in this

         22  City.  If there's another industry in this City that

         23  has that kind of a track record, than I would

         24  certainly like to hear what that industry is.  We

         25  have made a number of firm commitments through the
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          2  Mayor's Commission on Construction Opportunity that

          3  every major signature project like Yankee Stadium

          4  will guarantee employment opportunities for current

          5  members of the industry as well as new members who

          6  are seeking employment in the industry, and on every

          7  project of significance that's gone on in the City

          8  in the last few years, we've made that commitment

          9  and we have fulfilled that commitment.  And we

         10  certainly will continue to fulfill that commitment

         11  on Yankee Stadium.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: And increase

         13  it from 45 percent.

         14                 MR. FERNANDEZ: No.  We've designated

         15  45 --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I think it's

         17  just when we talk about a City like New York, where

         18  half of the residents of this City are people of

         19  color, it's unacceptable to have 45 percent.  And I

         20  think it's a  --  I congratulate you that you do

         21  that, but I think more needs to be done.

         22                 MR. FERNANDEZ: We're certainly doing

         23  more.  I would just state, 45 percent is not the

         24  percentage devoted to African American/Latinos, non-

         25  white males.  That is the percentage devoted as I
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          2  said, 15 percent for public high school students

          3  from New York City public high schools.  Ten percent

          4  for returning veterans.  Ten percent for women.  An

          5  additional five percent increasing over several

          6  years to ten percent for economically disadvantaged

          7  adults from New York City.  That is one effort that

          8  we've entered into with the City of New York.

          9  Privately, and independently of those efforts, as

         10  I've said, even without those efforts, we have three

         11  quarters of our members who live in the five

         12  boroughs of New York City, and more than half of our

         13  members, who are incoming members, through the Unit

         14  of Earnership programs are in fact, minorities and

         15  women.  It's not 45 percent.  That's a specific

         16  program that's designated to work with the City of

         17  New York to recruit people from the City to work in

         18  our industry.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

         21  Council Member. And thank you very much sir.  Our

         22  next panel is Mary Harris, Geneva Causey, Nancy

         23  Veit, and ElJeer Hawkins.  Please come to the table.

         24  And I'm going to please be on notice in the on- deck

         25  circle here. Julio Pabon, Walter Houston, Daniel
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          2  Quientero, forgive me, I'm having a little trouble

          3  reading it, from Kipps Bay Boys Club, and Francisco

          4  Gonzalez is the next panel.  So please be ready.

          5  And the floor is yours.  So let's start with Mary

          6  Harris.

          7                 MS. HARRIS: Good afternoon.  My name

          8  is Mary Harris. I reside at 1005 Jerome Avenue for

          9  the last 29 years.  My apartment faces the street on

         10  the proposed Yankee Stadium project.  And in

         11  response to the gentleman who was up there recently,

         12  I have never seen any crack heads across the street

         13  from me.  I can see in the park.  I haven't seen any

         14  crack heads.  Nor have I seen any prostitutes at the

         15  track either.  But I won't even get into that right,

         16  but I'm compelled to respond to that.

         17                 I've had the great pleasure of being

         18  in that neighborhood for 33 years, and I can tell

         19  you that Mullaly Park and Macombs Dam Park is the

         20  heart and soul of that community.  It really is.

         21  People come out there for all kind of events.

         22  There's so many residents that come out there from

         23  the community and from outside the community to play

         24  tennis, they run at the track, they play baseball,

         25  paddle ball, basketball, swimming, football, volley

                                                            185

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  ball, soccer, bike riding, picnicking, birthday

          3  parties, barbecues, sparing practice, prepping for

          4  the marathon.  It's a vibrant park. Both of those

          5  parks are very necessary for the community.  And I

          6  don't see how they can be replaced with parking

          7  lots.  I don't want to look out against  --  out of

          8  my window to see a parking lot. And I know it's

          9  going to be very, very, very uncomfortable for me to

         10  live directly across the street from a stadium.  I

         11  don't know how many of us that lives across the

         12  street from a stadium with all the noise, and all

         13  the traffic and everything else.

         14                 Also, thousands of us, which nobody

         15  has discussed here to date, thousands of us are

         16  going to be displaced.  They keep claiming there's

         17  not going to be any residential displacement, but I

         18  don't know anybody who can live comfortably across

         19  from a stadium.  I really don't.  And then with the

         20  traffic nightmare, with no plan, I just don't see

         21  how it's going to work.

         22                 Not only that, who is going to

         23  subsidize our dislocation if we have to move?  Once

         24  the digging starts, and the rats come out, hey,

         25  what's going to happen there?  You understand what
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          2  I'm saying?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.  If

          4  you just want to wrap it up with a couple of  --

          5                 MS. HARRIS: Okay.  Certainly.  I

          6  cannot stand by and let these parks be taken.

          7  Macombs Park is the reason that my daughter became

          8  an accomplished runner, activities that are brought

          9  to the parks, such as organizations of the All

         10  Stars, the Puerto Rican Theater Group, Day Camp

         11  activities, and all of those activities are what

         12  kept my son out of juvenile detention.  To have the

         13  beauty of the nature of the parks replaced by  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Ms. Harris  --

         15                 MS. HARRIS: Okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: I'm sorry to

         17  interrupt you. We just need this to be your last

         18  statement here, last thought.

         19                 MS. HARRIS: Okay. I would urge that

         20  the City Council disapproves this unwise plan and

         21  press the Yankees for an alternate plan.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         23  much.  And we certainly hear everything that you've

         24  said today.  Ms. Causey.

         25                 MS. CAUSEY: Good afternoon.  I'm
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          2  Geneva Causey, and I also live on Jerome Avenue.

          3  And I've lived there for 40 years.           I'm

          4  vehemently opposed to this plan.  The residents on

          5  Jerome Avenue and the surrounding area would be

          6  subjected to 53,000 screaming fans, music blaring,

          7  announcers broadcasting a game, lights from the

          8  stadium streaming in our windows, and horns honking

          9  because the traffic is backed up in the area.  In

         10  short, a Times Square.

         11                 This is a Black and Latino community.

         12    The prevailing attitude seems to be that we know

         13  nothing about quality of life, and that we can

         14  adjust to the noise, the traffic, and the pollution,

         15  because it's the way we live.  That's called

         16  environmental racism.

         17                 An open- air, state- of- the- art

         18  mega sports arena does not belong in the heart of a

         19  residential community.  Nowhere in the State of New

         20  York will you find a stadium in such close proximity

         21  to a residential community.  The environmental

         22  impact study clearly stated that the property value

         23  on Jerome Avenue will decline, because it will no

         24  longer be a desirable living area.  What was once

         25  decent and affordable housing will potentially
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          2  become blighted.

          3                 However, there was never any mention

          4  of the thousands of people who live around the park.

          5    We have all become invisible.  Our quality of

          6  life, our parklands, and our community must not be

          7  destroyed because the wealthiest sports team in the

          8  country won't make as much money if they play

          9  elsewhere for three seasons.  This is an absurd

         10  plan.  It is racist, and insulting.  We would not be

         11  discussing this proposal if the land in question was

         12  Central Park.  But again, this is a Black and Latino

         13  community, located in the poorest Congressional

         14  district in the country.

         15                 Unlike the residents who live around

         16  Central Park, we have no voice.  And apparently, no

         17  representation.  Our Community Board voted this

         18  project down.  It's a bad plan.  At that point, a

         19  red flag should have gone up.  Our local electives

         20  should have said, "We need to take a second look."

         21  This didn't happen. That's why we're here today.

         22                 Finally, I'm appealing to each of you

         23  before you vote, ask yourself if you would have

         24  supported such a project in your district.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.
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          2  Causey.  Do you want to just finish your sentence?

          3                 MS. CAUSEY: Or perhaps a better

          4  scenario would be to imaging yourself at the end of

          5  the day, coming home to a mega open air stadium less

          6  than 20 yards from your bedroom.  With a baseball

          7  game in progress.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          9  Thank you for being here.  Ms. Veit.  Why don't we

         10  go to Ms. Veit.  Nancy Veit. If I'm pronouncing it

         11  right.  I am.  Okay.

         12                 MS. VEIT: My name is Nancy Viet.  I'm

         13  a resident of Oceanside, Long Island, and a member

         14  of the Friends of Yankee Stadium Preservation Group.

         15                 For many years, I worked in the hotel

         16  industry in Manhattan.  Most recently, in a position

         17  where I had much front line dealing with guests at a

         18  very large hotel.  I can't emphasize enough how big

         19  of a tourist destination Yankee Stadium, the real,

         20  genuine location of the House that Ruth Built, is

         21  for out- of- town guests.  It's a very important

         22  part of many visits to New York City.

         23                 Not only do visitors savor attending

         24  games there, but tours of the historic stadium are

         25  very popular too.  A new stadium will not hold the
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          2  same lure for tourists.  There is already a glut of

          3  these across the country.  It is a short- sighted

          4  idea that will lose its appeal in due time.

          5                 The Yankees currently have a unique

          6  distinct product in the historic stadium, that

          7  contains an image, aura, and mystique that cannot be

          8  replicated in a new stadium.  The loss of the

          9  historic location would be a loss for the City's

         10  tourist industry. Fenway Park in Boston is the

         11  number one tourist destination in all of New

         12  England.

         13                 Not only is the real Yankee Stadium a

         14  draw for tourists, but it is a cultural mecca for

         15  locals.  A New York institution to be proud of.

         16  Yankee Stadium is an important part of both New York

         17  City and American cultural history.  A great city

         18  must preserve important parts of its past.  How less

         19  rich of a city would New York be if the majestic

         20  gems like Carnegie Hall and Grand Central Station

         21  had not been saved.  The loss of the old

         22  Pennsylvania Station produced irreversible regrets

         23  and shame later on, taking away from civic pride.

         24                 New York is one of the world's

         25  greatest cities, and should be a leader, setting an
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          2  example in good urban planning.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          4                 MS. VEIT: You, the members of the

          5  City Council have a chance to preserve this golden

          6  jewel of New York City and American history.  It's

          7  not too late. Yet.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          9  much.  Mr. Hawkins.

         10                 MR. HAWKINS: My name is ElJeer

         11  Hawkins.  I'm a resident of Harlem.  Born and

         12  raised.  And I want to say, first, that we are

         13  coming fastly to the anniversary of the highjacking

         14  and travesty of the democratic process, when the

         15  City and the Yankees come to an agreement to take

         16  Macombs and Mullaly Park.  And we must not leave

         17  that as a lasting legacy for the South Bronx.

         18                 First, there has to be continued to

         19  be said, the Yankees, second richest franchise in

         20  the world, the first in the United States.  Eighty-

         21  three years in the South Bronx, that has gone

         22  through the Great Depression, that has gone through

         23  the crisis of the 1970s, and now, to build a new

         24  palace in the most, the poorest Congressional

         25  district, with the highest asthma rate, with in a
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          2  City that has the highest pollution in the country.

          3                 The corporate welfare that is being

          4  given to the Yankees for the prospect of a free tax

          5  bond, shows the corruption that's going on, not just

          6  around Yankee Stadium but within the City.  Where we

          7  could be constructing schools, hospitals, and

          8  clinics, clearly necessary in the South Bronx.  And

          9  the leadership of the Bronx must be able to speak to

         10  this.

         11                 L want to say that those jobs that

         12  they have spoken about, are they jobs that provide a

         13  living wage at $12.50 an hour? Will it be union

         14  jobs?  Real union jobs?  SCIU members? Construction

         15  workers?  Would it provide health benefits and

         16  pensions?

         17                 There would be fewer seats in Yankee

         18  Stadium.  With an average of $57 per ticket, those

         19  same people will not even be able to go into Yankee

         20  Stadium to see Jeter get his 3,000th hit. Or see the

         21  Yankees perhaps win another Pennant.  Or World

         22  Championship.

         23                 I want to make this quite clear.  I'm

         24  from Harlem, and I know what urban renewal looks

         25  like.  And it looks like low wages, no benefits in
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          2  our community.

          3                 So this is just a promise that the

          4  community is not going to stop organizing.  There

          5  will be a political price to pay if the parks are

          6  taken away from the communities.  I want you all to

          7  go back to the City Council for April 5th and vote

          8   "no".

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you sir.

         10    Thank you very much.  And thank you to all of you

         11  for your testimony.

         12                 Before I welcome up the next panel, I

         13  want to make just a logistical announcement.  This

         14  hearing has run quite long. We are now in our   --

         15  about to start our fifth hour.  And we obviously are

         16  going to stay, as promised, to hear every member of

         17  the public who wishes to testify on either side of

         18  this issue. Unfortunately, our space here in

         19  Chambers expires shortly.  So we're going to need to

         20  make a slight change after the next panel or two.

         21  So I just wanted to put you on notice that we're

         22  going to do that.  And we're going to move across

         23  the street to 250 Broadway on the 16th Floor.  And I

         24  apologize for the inconvenience, but the reason

         25  we're doing that is so that we don't close the
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          2  hearing.  We want to give everybody a chance to

          3  express themselves.  We have something else that is

          4  coming into this room.  But we are going to continue

          5  this hearing across the street.

          6                 So let me just make one other note on

          7  that.  Which is that if you are signed up presently,

          8  and for whatever reason, I hope you do move across

          9  the street, we will be across the street, continuing

         10  this hearing.  But if you choose not to, if you're

         11  signed up already in favor or opposition, that will

         12  be counted in a final report.  And also, if you wish

         13  to submit written testimony at any point between now

         14  and April 5th. Obviously, that will be included in

         15  the formal record of this proceeding.  But we will

         16  be moving  --  we're not going to recess quite yet,

         17  but I did want to let you know.  And again, we will

         18  continue this hearing until it is absolutely

         19  finished.

         20                 So with that in mind, I'd like to

         21  welcome Julio Pabon, Walter Houston, Daniel

         22  Quentero, and Francisco Gonzalez.  So Mr. Pabon,

         23  you're up.

         24                 MR. PABON: Yes good evening.  First

         25  of all, I wanted to clarify something to
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          2  Councilwoman Foster.  I'm not a Yankee cheerleader.

          3  I'm here.  I'm a resident.  I've been a resident

          4  under the shadows of Yankee Stadium before her

          5  father was Councilman, and know him very well, give

          6  him my regards.  Julio Pabon.  And I've raised three

          7  children, all adults.  Two grandchildren.  I've

          8  played in Mullaly, Macombs, Franz Seigel, Joyce

          9  Kilmer, and the Redship (phonetic) paddle ball

         10  courts.

         11                 We might disagree about junkies and

         12  about rats, and all that stuff, but you can't

         13  disagree about the state of those parks.  I've run

         14  several leagues.  In order for those kids to play in

         15  those parks, they have to be really good, because

         16  any ball won't take any good bounce.  We use to

         17  fight to try to get the best fields there.

         18                 Try to play paddle ball.  I was there

         19  on Saturday with my son.  You have to go and pick a

         20  right court, because if you throw the ball, you

         21  don't know where it's going to go to because of

         22  those cracks.  How long has that been there?  I can

         23  tell you that's been there since I was in college.

         24  No one has taken the opportunity to try to fix

         25  those.  They fixed them once, they got ill- repaired
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          2  again.

          3                 Talk about the same at track fields.

          4  And all the trees.  Well, there's not too many trees

          5  in the track field, but those of you who use the

          6  track field like I do, what happens when it rains?

          7  In that track field.

          8                 Of all the children that I have

          9  there, not one of my children, thank God, has

         10  asthma.  I'm the unlucky one.  I'm the only one that

         11  has asthma.

         12                 But the fact is that the issue here

         13  is that we have a very serious relationship with the

         14  Yankees.  We have a very negative from the past.

         15  And yes, the issue here  --  I'm not going to go

         16  into all the negative stuff, but try to have your

         17  son's birthday on April 8th, during Yankee opening

         18  day.  Cannot have a party for him, because of the

         19  traffic.

         20                 So I know what it is to be

         21  inconvenienced.  But I know what it is to be

         22  inconvenienced on 161st Street for the last couple

         23  of years with that court that's being built.  Try to

         24  be waken up every morning at seven o'clock, every

         25  day.  Talk about inconvenience.  But all we've seen
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          2  is negative stuff for our community.  For the first

          3  time, we're having something that's positive.

          4                 And just to wrap up, I just hear

          5  about a lot of the things that we are talking about,

          6  the issue is trust.  And yes, I have many problems

          7  with the Yankees.  But you know what?  I have

          8  learned to trust them because as a member of the

          9  Latino Sports Writers and Broadcasters Association,

         10  I have been able to write to them and gotten a

         11  response.  I think it's a different team  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         13  Pabon.

         14                 MR. PABON: If you'll can't steal

         15  second unless you take your foot off first.  Thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         18  much for your testimony.  Before we go to Mr.

         19  Houston, I just want to alert the last panel that

         20  we'll hear in this room, and then we're going to get

         21  started again within ten or fifteen  --  we'll

         22  recess for ten or fifteen  --  we'll call it

         23  officially fifteen minutes, and we will commence

         24  again at 250 Broadway, right across the street, in

         25  the 16th Floor Hearing Room.
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          2                 But the next panel will be Luz Perez,

          3  Joyce Hogi, James Brennan, and Linda Florence.  So

          4  please be ready to go here. And I'm now going to

          5  turn to Mr. Houston.

          6                 MR. HOUSTON: Thank you.  Good

          7  afternoon Subcommittee Member.  My name is Walter

          8  Houston, as you've already heard.  And I'm the

          9  President of the 167th Street Business and

         10  Professional League.  We're located at 1219 Jerome

         11  Avenue in the Southwest Bronx.  My organization

         12  represents the small business community of 167th

         13  Street and its surrounding areas.  I thank you for

         14  the opportunity to come before you today to testify

         15  in favor of the proposed new Yankee Stadium project.

         16                 My comments before you today will be

         17  brief, but will reinforce the commitment the small

         18  business community has to improve business services

         19  for our area, through collaboration and partnerships

         20  with our neighbors, the New York Yankees.

         21                 The 167th Street commercial corridor

         22  and its surrounding areas include diverse, vibrant,

         23  businesses that highlight many aspects of the

         24  Southwest Bronx.  Many of these businesses are mom

         25  and pop shops that have been in business for
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          2  generations, and have seen many transformations of

          3  the South Bronx. When asked what their feeling

          4  regarding the proposed new stadium was, business

          5  owners and merchants all agreed new infusion of

          6  business services for the area could only be a good

          7  thing for the business community, as well as the

          8  community at large.

          9                 With the offer of support of the New

         10  York Yankees, the small business of the area

         11  believe, after years of struggling to maintain

         12  economic stability and balance, an opportunity has

         13  appeared to enhance the overall economic conditions

         14  of merchants of the area, as well as a weary

         15  economically distressed community.

         16                 The New York Yankees have offered the

         17  small business community of 167th Street area

         18  support to bring them into the 21st century, by

         19  assisting with our commercial revitalization

         20  efforts. Which includes, a new streetscape and

         21  facade improvements on 167th Street corridor, street

         22  furniture and amenities, as well as funding for

         23  training merchants and small business owners to

         24  improve or change their operations to accommodate

         25  Yankee fan and tourists alike.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

          3  Houston.  Thank you very much for your testimony.

          4  Did you want to finish with one last sentence?

          5                 MR. HOUSTON: Well yes.  We like the

          6  idea of this economic development initiative.  We

          7  think it's fabulous.  We've never had this

          8  opportunity.  And we support the project.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         10  much.  We appreciate it.  Mr. Quientero.  Did I get

         11  it?  Quientero.  See, I'm still trying to read your

         12  handwriting.

         13                 MR. QUIENTERO: I didn't actually

         14  write that.  Good afternoon Mr. Chairman.  Thank you

         15  for the opportunity to address you this afternoon.

         16  My name is Daniel Quientero.  And I am the Executive

         17  Director of the Kipps Bay Boys and Girls Club, in

         18  the Bronx.  We serve over 12,000 children in the

         19  Bronx, at ten locations, and are presently building

         20  an 11th location about one and a half miles from

         21  Yankee Stadium.

         22                 I am here today as a former Bronx

         23  kid, who grew up playing in the fields near Yankee

         24  Stadium.  These fields were in disrepair back then,

         25  and I can't imagine what they've been like over the
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          2  past few years.

          3                 In my view, the Yankees, with their

          4  redevelopment project, are recommitting themselves

          5  to the Bronx.  It's inhabitants, and most

          6  importantly, the children of this borough. The

          7  Yankees are an institution in this borough, and in

          8  this country.  And we, as conservative citizens of

          9  the Bronx, like Mr. Jackson said, need to keep the

         10  Yankees accountable on a daily basis, as to what our

         11  needs are, and what they should be doing for

         12  communities in and around Yankee Stadium.

         13                 That being said, this redevelopment

         14  project is of utmost importance to the future of the

         15  socioeconomic and youth development potential of the

         16  Bronx.

         17                 As an organization, Kipps Bay views

         18  this redevelopment project as an opportunity for the

         19  Yankees to continue to work with our youth in

         20  providing internship opportunities, exposure to

         21  sports industry careers, and also create thousands

         22  of jobs in and around Yankee Stadium.

         23                 We are also aware, and proud that

         24  great athletes have come from the Bronx.  And we

         25  need to nurture future athletes in state- of- the-
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          2  art athletic facilities and ballfields which will be

          3  created as a result of this project.

          4                 This project will start to address

          5  those issues. The best social program for our people

          6  is a job.  Let's put Bronxites to work.

          7                 Also, let's not blame the Yankees for

          8  the asthma problem.  We all know that this problem

          9  is multi- factorial, inclusive of genetic

         10  predisposition, nutrition, and even socioeconomic

         11  status.  It's also silly to refer to the stadium

         12  projects in this country, and to compare the

         13  economic shortcomings to the new Yankee Stadium.

         14                 And to conclude, the Yankee Stadium

         15  redevelopment project represents progress and hope

         16  for our residents, our workforce, and our youth.  So

         17  on behalf of the Kipps Bay Boys and Girls Club, and

         18  over 12,000 families, we emphatically say "yes" to

         19  this project.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         21  much.  Thank you.  Mr. Gonzalez.

         22                 MR. TORRES: Good evening.  First of

         23  all, I'd like to thank the Chairman the Committee

         24  for having these hearings.  And providing us all

         25  here today the opportunity to be heard and share our
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          2  thoughts and concerns.

          3                 My name is Vincent Torres and I'm one

          4  of the Directors of Positive Workforce.  Positive

          5  Workforce is a nonprofit community construction

          6  workers organization that through its founder, Lucky

          7  Rivera, has struggled and fought hard for over 20

          8  years, providing thousands of jobs for men and women

          9  in the construction industry.

         10                 Yankee Stadium, built in 1923, is

         11  over 80 years old. The current footprint of Yankee

         12  Stadium cannot meet the needs of a modern- day

         13  stadium.  It just can't.  This project will develop

         14  24 and a half acres of new parks.  Develop 24 and a

         15  half acres of new parks an increase of over two

         16  acres over the 22 acres that we now have.

         17                 For many of us here today, we have

         18  the luxury, we have the privilege, we have the time.

         19    The time to dispute this. The time to challenge

         20  this.  The time in our hands to make all sorts of

         21  changes and concessions.  But for those kids on the

         22  street corners, for those youths in the South Bronx,

         23  many of them young and strong, many of them eager

         24  for the opportunity to present itself, many of them

         25  just waiting for that one shot, that one shot at
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          2  building a career.  That one shot of doing something

          3  constructive with their life.  Becoming a plumber,

          4  an electrician, an iron worker, a carpenter.  Guess

          5  what?  Those kids don't have that luxury.  They

          6  don't have that privilege and they don't have that

          7  time.  For them, time is simply running out.

          8                 This development is in the community

          9  that suffers from the poorest condition in the

         10  nation.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you for

         12  your testimony. Do you want one last sentence,

         13  please?

         14                 MR. TORRES: Yes.  Save a park, save a

         15  tree.  How about save a life?  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         17  much.  Thank you.  Folks, thank you for your

         18  testimony.  I know we're late in the day here, in

         19  this venue, but we're not nearly done.  And I just

         20  want to again ask you please to hold your applause,

         21  just in the interest of moving us along.

         22                 And I'm calling the next panel.  Luz

         23  Perez, Joyce Hogi, James Brennan, and Linda

         24  Florence.  We'll start with Ms. Perez.  Is that you?

         25  All right.  Welcome.
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          2                 MS. PEREZ: Thank you.  Good afternoon

          3  Chairman and members of the City Council.  My name

          4  is Luz Perez.  And I have resided in the Bronx for

          5  39 years.  Twenty- eight of those years at 158th

          6  Street and the Grand Concourse.

          7                 I am an avid Yankee fan.  But oppose

          8  the Yankee Stadium project.  A stadium at the

          9  proposed location would mean the destruction of a

         10  track and park that both the young and the elderly

         11  use.  I personally have earned the right to use the

         12  track and park, after teaching 32 years and retiring

         13  two years ago.  I retired from my job, but I did not

         14  retire from life.

         15                 As of yesterday, one lane, at 161st

         16  Street and River Avenue was closed.  The Number Six

         17  bus had to be rerouted.  And my allergies from the

         18  construction which is going on, triggered an asthma

         19  attack.  I can imagine what the future holds for the

         20  residents of the Yankee Stadium area if this

         21  proposal is approved.              I respectfully

         22  urge the City Council not to approve this project on

         23  behalf of the residents you represent, and the

         24  voters who entrusted you with the responsibility of

         25  looking after their best interests.
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          2                 I believe that no amount of money can

          3  replace or buy what the community is going to lose.

          4  I am confident that you will make the right

          5  decision.  Thank you.

          6                      CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you

          7  very much. Ms. Hogi.  Welcome.

          8                 MS. HOGI: Thank you.  Thank you very

          9  much for having us here today.  I'm Joyce Hogi, a

         10  30- year resident of the South Bronx.  I have a

         11  prepared statement, but I think it's very telling

         12  that all of the pro- Yankee supporters do not live

         13  in the neighborhood.  The 167th Street Merchants

         14  Association is pro Yankee.  But it's the 161st

         15  Street Merchants Association that's in the affected

         16  neighborhood.  And they're not pro- Yankee.

         17                 The Yankees are not reaching out to

         18  them.  Now what I need to say here, is that we're

         19  not opposed to economic development.  But this

         20  project is not about economic development. It's

         21  about a land grant from a distant franchise

         22  community.  It's about subsidizing the wealthy.

         23  There is no amount of community benefit agreement

         24  that can mitigate the giving up of public parkland

         25  to a private enterprise.  And when we talk community
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          2  benefits agreement, there's been no community

          3  involvement.  So how can it be a community benefit

          4  agreement?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Please, again,

          6  hold your applause.  Thank you.

          7                 MS. HOGI: Now despite intense

          8  political pressure, our Community Board, which

          9  represents the community, voted this project down.

         10  I urge you to do the same.  Political pressure

         11  notwithstanding, I ask that you vote humanely.  Put

         12  yourself and your families in the place of us who

         13  live in the affected area of this project.  Take a

         14  look at all the lovely renderings that they bring

         15  before you, close your eyes, picture yourself on

         16  game day against the Red Sox, 90 feet from your

         17  front door.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         19  much.   Mr. Brennan.

         20                 MR. BRENNAN: My name is J.J. Brennan.

         21    I live at 158th Street and Grand Concourse.  I'm

         22  also a founding member of Save our Parks, and I

         23  think I can say with authority, that we are not

         24  anti- development.  We do not oppose a new or a

         25  renovated stadium, as long as it's south of 161st
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          2  Street.  We'd like to see George Steinbrenner get

          3  his stadium.  We just don't want it in our parks.

          4                 The question is, are New York parks

          5  nothing more than vacant lots?  We heard today that

          6  it would be more comfortable for them to build in

          7  the parks, because there are no structures there.

          8  But if you look to the environment around the

          9  stadium, you'll see there's plenty of space, but

         10  they just need to tear down a couple of structures.

         11                 They said they have a 900,000 square

         12  foot stadium. They need another 300,000 square feet.

         13    That's not very much to have a modern, state- of-

         14  the- art baseball stadium.  Well, I say give it to

         15  them.  But give it to them where they are.  Let them

         16  renovate where they are.  Expand.  Tear down that

         17  parking structure, and expand where they are.

         18  Fenway is doing it.  And if Boston can do it, New

         19  York City certainly can do it.

         20                 Building a stadium in the very middle

         21  of a residential area is a rather different from

         22  building it in a tennis center, or Shea Stadium, in

         23  an obscure area of a park as large as Flushing

         24  Meadows.  We heard today from the Parks Department

         25  that they do this all the time.   Well, Macombs Dam

                                                            209

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  and John Mullaly Parks are quite small.  They're not

          3  Flushing Meadows.  So placing that stadium in half

          4  of that park is quite different.

          5                 We also heard from the Parks

          6  Department that we have rooftop parks all over the

          7  City.  Interesting that they mentioned Bryant Park,

          8  which is beautiful, lovely.  Lots of grass and lush

          9  plantings.  They're not talking about that for our

         10  neighborhood. They're talking about synthetic turf.

         11  They mentioned Union Square Park.  Also not the same

         12  situation.  What we're talking about with this plan

         13  is synthetic turf, no trees, and it's not the same

         14  thing.

         15                 We've also heard that it's at grade.

         16  It's not at grade.  It's not at grade on the side of

         17  the street which will face up to the entire

         18  structure of the parking structure.

         19                 The replacement park plan is

         20  scattered.  It's not contiguous, as our present

         21  parks are.  And in some cases, it's extremely

         22  difficult to access.  As it borders the river, it

         23  will require a long haul past rail lines and

         24  highways to get there.

         25                 And if you look carefully at the
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          2  DEIS, the local garages are not filled one hundred

          3  percent.  Even in these years of record- breaking

          4  attendance.  If you  --  thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          6  Ms. Florence.

          7                 MS. FLORENCE: Yes.  Good afternoon

          8  ladies and gentlemen.  My name is Linda Florence,

          9  and I have lived on Jerome Avenue more than 20

         10  years.  Mullaly and the Macombs Dam Park are two of

         11  the most beautiful parks in this area.  In addition,

         12  they are two of the few natural environment in this

         13  area.  As well as landmark parks.  But in June,

         14  2005, plans for taking the park to our knowledge,

         15  had been started when our local politicians that we

         16  voted for, quietly seized our parks behind our

         17  backs.

         18                 Contrary to Mr. Steinbrenner, and

         19  Parks Department ideas that the community and our

         20  children have no right to have natural park

         21  environment.  We believe otherwise.  Don't take away

         22  the parks that are central to our neighborhood.

         23                 I was there when the City Planning

         24  Board highlighted how good it would be for our

         25  children to play on artificial turf and play on top
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          2  of garages, which are concrete.  Construction has

          3  already started without the approval of the City

          4  Council.  We may not win the fight, but I say to

          5  you, Mr. Steinbrenner, we are ready to rumble.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          7  much.  Thank you.  And that was our last panel in

          8  this room.  What we're going to do is we're going to

          9  recess the hearing for about 15 minutes and

         10  reconvene at 250 Broadway.  If you walk out of City

         11  Hall, make a right.  It is directly across the

         12  street.  Sixteenth floor.

         13                 This hearing is in recess.

         14                 (A recess was taken)

         15

         16                 (Afternoon session)

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Good evening

         18  everybody.  And welcome back.  This is a

         19  continuation of the Planning, Dispositions and

         20  Concessions Subcommittee of Land Use, New York City

         21  Council. Today's date, again, is March 28th.  This

         22  is for the record. Joined by the Chair of the Land

         23  Use Committee, Melinda Katz, of Queens.  We're still

         24  in session.  I don't even need to go through it

         25  again.  So I'm just going to leave it as is.
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          2                 And we're going to pick up where we

          3  left off.  I'm going to ask the gentleman in the

          4  blue tie to leave that seat for one of our

          5  witnesses.  We are going to call our first panel of

          6  four, which is D. Lee Ezelle, Sharise Wingfield,

          7  Lena Watson, and Anthony Amelio.  Are any or all of

          8  the four of you here?  Seeing that none of them are

          9  here, I'm going to move this to the other room.  And

         10  we're going to carry on to the next panel.  See if

         11  any of them are in the other room.  Andrew McFall,

         12  Lucky Rivera, Christian Colon, or Vincent Torres.

         13  Are any of you here?  We'll check for you in the

         14  other room.  We won't completely let them lose their

         15  place.  Tony Santiago, Harold Maldonado, Timothy

         16  McGuinness, Greg Bonet.  Edgardo Diaz, Raymond

         17  Gonzalez, Sharleen Saneberg, sorry if I'm doing that

         18  wrong.  Sharleen Sanebeg, maybe, even.  And Alex

         19  Diaz.  Geneva Hester, Ok, Welcome.  Ms. Hester,

         20  please have a seat.  Chauncy Young.  Okay.  Please

         21  have a seat.  Constance Lesold.  Constance Lesold.

         22  If they were in the other room, we'll get to them in

         23  the next panel.  Velet Ross.  Velet Ross.  Well it's

         24  missing a "v" on the form here.  Velvet Ross.  Come

         25  on, have a seat.  Right over here.  And Ed Harris.
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          2  Is Ed Harris here?  Okay. Ed Harris is here.  So we

          3  have our first panel.

          4                 Same rules apply here folks.  Thank

          5  you again for your cooperation.  Sorry about the

          6  move.  We have two minutes per person.  Again, I'm

          7  sorry, I'm going to stop you after two minutes. And

          8  we're going to start with our first panel.  Ms.

          9  Hester, why don't you get us going?  You have two

         10  minutes.

         11                 MS. HESTER: Good afternoon.  My name

         12  is Geneva Hester.  For the past 35 years, I resided

         13  on Jerome Avenue, which is two blocks from the

         14  current stadium.  The proposed new stadium is

         15  supposed to be built across the street from my

         16  apartment building on Jerome Avenue.

         17                 This plan should be abandoned,

         18  because it will create multiple problems for the

         19  community residents.  Especially those residing on

         20  Jerome, River, and Anderson Avenue.  We will be

         21  subjected to traffic congestion, lack of parking for

         22  community residents, excessive noise from the

         23  stadium, and extremely bright lights shining in some

         24  of our bedrooms and living rooms during Yankee

         25  games.

                                                            214

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2                 Building a sports arena directly

          3  across the street from any apartment building is

          4  selfish, disrespectful, and inhuman treatment.  Is

          5  this discrimination?  I think it is.  There's no way

          6  Yankee management or any of the elected Bronx

          7  officials would approve a plan to build a 53,000

          8  seat sports arena across the street from their homes

          9  or apartment building.

         10                 I have heard about the everything

         11  about the Yankees, but I have not heard too much

         12  discussion about the impact that the construction

         13  period will have on the community residents.  Is it

         14  that they don't care?

         15                 The present plan for the local

         16  residents, after the game  --  the present plan for

         17  the local residents will pose a problem during the

         18  construction period.  And all around, in the Bronx.

         19  After the game, no one cares, because after the

         20  games, the Yankee fans, the Yankee management will

         21  go home.  And it would not be across the street from

         22  the stadium.

         23                 Please consider the community needs

         24  and save our parks.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.
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          2  Hester.  Mr. Young.

          3                 MR. YOUNG: Good evening.  My name is

          4  Chauncy Young. I'm a resident of 1177 Anderson

          5  Avenue.  I also work in the neighborhood.  I work

          6  with United Parents of Highbridge, Highbridge

          7  Community Life Center, and the Community

          8  Collaborative to Improve Bronx Schools.

          9                 I want to address a couple of things.

         10    This should be about the merit of the program

         11  itself.  And about the plan itself.  This should not

         12  be about jobs.  Jobs are going to be created whether

         13  or not the parkland is taken, for the building of

         14  the stadium, wherever it's built, the jobs will be

         15  created.  That's important point to be pointed out.

         16                 The other thing that should be

         17  pointed out here this evening, is that the majority

         18  of the population in this neighborhood is Spanish

         19  speaking.  I have requested at numerous hearings,

         20  and I requested specifically to Chairman Garodnick,

         21  to Ms. Katz, to Council Member Arroyo, and to

         22  Speaker Quinn, to have translation at this event.  I

         23  have no response back.  I also required that at the

         24  Bronx Borough President, and even at  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Sir, there is

                                                            216

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  translation at this event, just so you know.

          3                 MR. YOUNG: Where was it for  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: They were, in

          5  fact, they were present at the entire last session,

          6  and I assume that they have made their way over

          7  there.

          8                 MR. YOUNG: For folks translating for

          9  folks in the audience?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Anybody who

         11  expressed the need, they would have been directed to

         12  them.  And we all got your message.

         13                 MR. YOUNG: Well that did not happen

         14  at any of the others, and I can tell you that for a

         15  fact.  And I wish you had announced that, because

         16  there were people in the audience that were unaware

         17  of that.

         18                 This is not about individual groups

         19  going to be talking about the Yankees supporting

         20  their organization.  This is about the Yankee plan

         21  itself.  This is very important.

         22                 I also want to say, I work with,

         23  directly with, for schools in this neighborhood.  I

         24  work with 73, 126, 11, and 114. The majority of the

         25  residents are against this.  Unfortunately, what
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          2  this is about, is this is about political

          3  corruption, it's about Jose Rivera, it's about

          4  Stanley Schlein, and the fact that the Bronx

          5  delegation has been bought off with a $28 million

          6  slush fund, that should go directly to the

          7  neighborhood that's being affected, and not to the

          8  political representatives.  And that slush fund only

          9  went public last week  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         11  Young.

         12                 MR. YOUNG: --  When we got it leaked

         13  from a representative.  That was not going to be

         14  made public.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         16  Young.  We appreciate your testimony.

         17                 MR. YOUNG: This is the public hearing

         18  we're going to be having that will be in Spanish for

         19  everyone that can be here next Tuesday, you've all

         20  been invited.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         22  much.  Velvet Ross.  Ms. Ross.

         23                 Yes.  The microphone is on.  It may

         24  not be as good sound as it was across the street.

         25  But just to be sure, you have to push the button in
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          2  to be heard.  And we can give it a shot. We'll let

          3  you know if it is not on.  But Ms. Ross, you're up.

          4                 MS. ROSS: Okay.  Is it on?  Okay.

          5                 Good afternoon City Council members.

          6  My name is Velvet Aisha Ross.  I am a resident of

          7  Morasania Air Rights.  My purpose of being here is

          8  to speak about Macombs Dam and Mullaly Park.  The

          9  park has been a part of my life and my peers since I

         10  was a little girl.  I'm 28 years of age now, but the

         11  meanings and lessons that I have learned to help

         12  instill me with pride has a lot to do with that

         13  park.

         14                 Most of the elementary schools in

         15  that neighborhood use Mullaly Park for their annual

         16  field day events.  When I was in second grade, my

         17  elementary school, PS 156, held their annual track

         18  and field events.  That year, I won the gold medal

         19  in broad jump. Can you understand my delight in

         20  winning that award?  A little girl who grew up in a

         21  public housing projects of the South Bronx, where

         22  people deemed me to be nothing, do you know how much

         23  that's instilled in me?

         24                 I received my first tennis lessons in

         25  that park. The Parks Department had a program that
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          2  taught inner city camp groups tennis.  To many

          3  children living in the South Bronx, this is the only

          4  full- service park that they have.  Many of the

          5  children in the community go to the parks during

          6  their Summer breaks.  Many of these children's

          7  parents could not afford to take them to Disney

          8  World for the Summer, so Mullaly becomes their

          9  Disney.

         10                 When I told some of the children

         11  about the parks being replaced, the looks on their

         12  faces were so sad.  One little boy said, "Well where

         13  will we go?"  Many of the children here see

         14  concrete, and not enough parks.  I have seen first

         15  hand, as a public school teacher who taught right in

         16  the South Bronx.

         17                 Now, I have to add something to my

         18  speech.  Reggie Jackson has said, "What happens to

         19  Luis Arroyo?".  Well let's see what happens to those

         20  children who have a two year old who get asthma

         21  because of the Yankee Stadium, the new stadium

         22  that's being built.

         23                 And the four- year old, he won't be

         24  able to sleep at night, because of all the noise

         25  that's being made.  And the six year old, well,
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          2  he'll suffer in schools that did not get the money

          3  they should have because the money was placed in for

          4  the Yankee Stadium.

          5                 We have a mediocracy when it comes to

          6  public education, and it's being passed on from one

          7  generation to the next generation.  And that's

          8  speaking for my peers.

          9                 And my questions to the City Council

         10  is Martin Luther King said the ultimate measure of a

         11  man as we stand and times of trials and controversy.

         12    My question is, City Council Members, where do you

         13  stand?  I know where I stand.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

         15  Ross.  Thank you.  Ed Harris.  Ed Harris is not

         16  here.

         17                 MR. HARRIS: I'm right here.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Oh, I'm sorry.

         19    Ed.  Mr. Harris.  Please.

         20                 MR. HARRIS: My name is Ed Harris.

         21  I'm from this community.  I actually currently live

         22  in Atlanta, Georgia right now.

         23                 I'm totally against this project for

         24  one reason. How does this really benefit this

         25  community?  I mean, let's be honest here.  The only
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          2  people that's for this project is the ones that are

          3  actually financially benefitting from this project.

          4                 I mean, Yankee Stadium is actually

          5   --  basically, nobody is building a $930 million

          6  stadium for poor people to live around.  I live in

          7  Atlanta, Georgia.  And right now, I have a nice

          8  house, comfortable living, and stuff like that.  But

          9  it's going to --  You think about these apartments

         10  they're going to have  --  I mean these condominiums

         11  they're going actually put in this place over here

         12  instead of these apartments.  Nobody is going

         13  actually be able to afford to live in this community

         14  now.  In about ten years. You got to think about it.

         15    The City is funding the Yankees money. Nine

         16  hundred and thirty million dollars to pay them back

         17  later.  No tax.  No interest on this loan.  This is

         18  better than the loan that you can get at a bank.

         19  And then, they're going to sit there, fund all this

         20  money, and not think that the community is going to

         21  change?  Who is going to be able to afford to live

         22  here?

         23                 I seen Atlanta, Georgia, there was

         24  $60,000 houses around Fulton County Stadium.  Where

         25  the Falcons and the Braves play there.  Right now,
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          2  there's $600,000 homes.  Who can live over there?

          3  Not anybody that lives in that community.  And I'm

          4  going to tell you like this.  Not anybody is going

          5  to be living in this community who is going to be

          6  able to afford it.  This is straight up.  I have

          7  seen this over and over again, in many cities.

          8  Nobody benefits this but the Yankees.

          9                 What we negotiate with them for?

         10  We're getting a few crumbs?  In the meantime,

         11  everything they offered us is a write off.  What is

         12  the  --  I mean, let's be honest here.  How does

         13  this benefit this community?  You know, how many

         14  Black- owned construction companies are going to be

         15  a part of this project right now.  Not what you want

         16  to talk about tomorrow?  How many Spanish companies

         17  are going to be inside that stadium?  Let's hope

         18  they have the vendor stand contractors.  How many

         19  If you can't say this now, you don't negotiate with

         20  somebody without telling you what's going to happen

         21  up front.  Because you know what?  When I brought my

         22  first home, this is one thing I realized.

         23  Everything that you sign for needs to be on that

         24  house.  It's meaning is that. If you  see

         25  chandeliers, you see a nice car, you see a bunch of
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          2  nice things around there, but if you sign off that

          3  thing, and you buy the house, and that sucker is not

          4  here, then what you really got?  Nothing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

          6  Harris.  We appreciate your testimony.  Thank you

          7  all for being here.

          8                 I'm going to call the next panel.  I

          9  understand that Lena Watson, Sharise Wingfield,

         10  Anthony Amelio are all here.  And Rhadonas Perez.

         11  Ms. Perez are you here?  Rhondonas Perez.  Danias

         12  Perez, from Procotechnology.  No?  Peter Rivera.

         13  Richard Berlin. Okay Mr. Berlin.  If you could join

         14  this panel.  And we will get started with Ms.

         15  Watson.  Welcome, and thank you in advance.

         16                 MS. WATSON: Good afternoon.  My name

         17  is Lena Watson. I work at Yankee Stadium.  I would

         18  like to take this opportunity to publicly thank

         19  Randy Levine, Lon Troast, and the Yankees, in taking

         20  a chance with me, and giving me their confidence and

         21  support.  Now it's my turn to show support.  Not out

         22  of loyalty, but this is something that I believe in.

         23                 I was born and raised in the Bronx.

         24  I live and attend the local schools and churches

         25  within a ten- mile radius of the stadium.  I raised
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          2  my daughter in the Bronx as well.  I worked right

          3  down the block from the stadium at Altman Electric

          4  as a bookkeeper before I become a correction

          5  officer.  When my mother was diagnosed with throat

          6  cancer, I took a part- time job at Yankee Stadium to

          7  help supplement my income, so I could make her as

          8  comfortable as possible.  When my mother passed, I

          9  continued to work at the stadium.   I enjoyed the

         10  challenge and the atmosphere. I moved up through the

         11  ranks, starting at security officer, up to Assistant

         12  Director.  When the Director left, some of the

         13  management was a little skeptical about giving me

         14  the Director of Security position.  So they went and

         15  asked Mr. Steinbrenner for is approval.  I was told

         16  he asked, "Can she do the job?"   And their reply to

         17  him was "Yes".  So he said, "Then why are we having

         18  this conversation?".  And the rest, as they say, is

         19  history.

         20                 Let me tell you, by no stretch of the

         21  imagination is it easy.  The Yankees are a very

         22  demanding organization.  And don't like failure.

         23  But with that, they give me the support and the

         24  resources I need not to fail.  They have allowed me

         25  not to forget where I've come from.  I've been able
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          2  to hire local individuals who need to supplement

          3  their incomes.  I stagger working hours to help

          4  college students with their trying schedules.  I've

          5  also instituted a bonus incentive program for my

          6  workers.

          7                 Speaking not only as someone who

          8  works at Yankee Stadium, but a Bronx native, I truly

          9  believe the new stadium will be good for the Bronx.

         10  Good for the City.  Thank you Randy Levine, Thank

         11  you Lon Troast.  Thank you New York Yankees for

         12  giving me a chance.  I urge you to give the New York

         13  Yankees a chance.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

         15                 MS. WATSON: Let them build it.  More

         16  jobs will come.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

         18  Watson.  Ms. Wingfield.  Welcome.

         19                 MS. WINGFIELD: Hi.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Push the

         21  button in until it's not lit.  There you go.

         22                 MS. WINGFIELD: Until it isn't lit.

         23  Hi.  My name is Sharise Wingfield.  I attend the

         24  Academy for Careers in Sports High School, located

         25  at 701 West St. Anne's Ave. In the South Bronx.  I
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          2  speak on behalf of my school today, as the current

          3  President.  We are currently the school selected as

          4  the school to be chosen as a part of the new

          5  stadium, the new complex.  Along with the new Yankee

          6  Stadium, our school is to be built in the new sports

          7  complex and arena.

          8                 As a young African- American woman,

          9  and student of the South Bronx, I feel that the new

         10  stadium is a tremendous opportunity for the children

         11  of my area.  I speak on behalf of my peers, as a

         12  high school, for all high school students in the

         13  Bronx. And any poor district, for that fact.

         14                 The Yankees have been an excellent

         15  partner to work with so far.  They've been

         16  tremendous giving internships to many students in my

         17  school.  And in building a great relationship for

         18  years to come.

         19                 As far as the new stadium and new

         20  complex being built, we have a chance to have our

         21  own school.  We are now currently in a school, one

         22  building housing three schools with over 300 kids or

         23  more.  Three hundred eighty, I think, or more.  The

         24  chance to branch out on our own in our own building

         25  is a tremendous opportunity with our own sports
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          2  team, with our own name.  We currently reside at

          3  South Bronx High School campus.  As Unity is our

          4  school's theme, and being in that campus is taking

          5  away from that.

          6                 We have an entire grade, the Junior

          7  class, outside in the trailers, currently being

          8  isolated from the building because of space.  With

          9  our new school, we have the chance to branch out on

         10  our own, and help the children of the South Bronx

         11  benefit for years and years to come.

         12                 As for Luis Arroyo's six year old

         13  kid, he can attend my high school in a couple of

         14  years, when we're big and in business, because of

         15  the Yankees helping us with this new school.

         16                 I hear people talking about Save the

         17  Parks, and you know, asthma is a horrible thing, yes

         18  it is.  And I wouldn't wish it on anyone, you know,

         19  as far as wishing it on four- year olds, it's kind

         20  of bad what that woman said prior to this.  But

         21  we're helping the children of South Bronx save

         22  education, you know?  That's the most important

         23  thing right now.  It's the most important element.

         24  And without education, we really wouldn't have

         25  anything.
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          2                 So I vote in favor of this project,

          3  and I strongly encourage the Council Members to do

          4  the same.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

          6  Wingfield.  We really appreciate that, and thank you

          7  for being here today.  Mr. Amelio.

          8                 MR. AMELIO's REPRESENTATIVE: Good

          9  evening.  Anthony Amelio is unavailable at the time,

         10  he was out at Moriasana.  I'm here to represent him.

         11    Like Ms. Watson, I work at Yankee Stadium. I have

         12  been doing since I was 18 years old.  I am here to

         13  speak simply on behalf  --  there were questions

         14  raised as how this stadium, this organization affect

         15  the community.  And what the new proposed stadium

         16  can do?  As I said before, I work at Yankee Stadium,

         17  as a front line officer working a minimal, simply a

         18  part time job, to help me support myself, as I went

         19  to school.  I paid my dues there, and as I worked

         20  throughout the years I've worked there, I have

         21  progressed accordingly.  I've become a supervisor.

         22  And now I am Assistant to the Director of Security,

         23  that sits beside me today.

         24                 I'm a man of color.  I'm Latino.  I'm

         25  Puerto Rican. I am proud of that.  I am proud to be
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          2  associated with the New York Yankee organization.

          3  Although there are many other valid arguments in

          4  regards to people who will oppose this proposal, I

          5  feel that the benefits severely outweigh those, and

          6  the fact that once again, me being a person of the

          7  community, working there, I have grown and

          8  progressed as many others have.  From just working a

          9  part- time job, which couldn't support anything, to

         10  now being able to support myself and my family, and

         11  to assist my family with anything that they need.

         12                 Also, I am just one example of what

         13  happens when people work there and they put

         14  initiative and drive.  And the Yankees have afforded

         15  us a lot of opportunities to do so, and I feel that

         16  with the addition of the new stadium in the area, it

         17  would not only affect people like myselves (sic)

         18  with getting jobs, and progressing or learning a

         19  certain business, and the business that I learn is

         20  security, beyond that, I've seen first hand how the

         21  business in the area, how they're affected by game

         22  days.  And it can only further enhance that and once

         23  again, as the Borough President alluded to earlier,

         24  this is the trigger, this is the starting point.

         25                 We all have to make a choice.  We all
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          2  have to make a difference, and I feel that by

          3  putting this forward, I think that we all can help

          4  out a lot of other people.  And the job is not done

          5  with simply with simply the stadium, there's a lot

          6  more work to get done beyond that, and I want to

          7  thank you for letting me speak today.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you for

          9  being here. Mr. Berlin.

         10                 MR. BERLIN: Thank you.  My name is

         11  Rich Berlin.  I'm the Executive Director of a

         12  community- based nonprofit in East Harlem called

         13  Harlem RBI.  We serve over 700 children aged seven

         14  to 18, with comprehensive youth services, and we

         15  happen to begin as a Little League baseball program

         16  when we took an abandoned lot on 100th Street, and

         17  turned it into a couple of ballfields.

         18                 Since I'm not a South Bronx resident,

         19  nor do I do my life's work there, I don't feel

         20  equipped to speak on the economic development

         21  aspects, but as it relates to parks, I think my

         22  experience with my organization is pretty relevant.

         23  Specifically, the land that our organization built

         24  our fields on, back in 1991, was unfortunately

         25  designated for housing.  And in the late '90s, as
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          2  some of you on the Council may remember, there was a

          3  pretty public fight over what would happen to that

          4  land.  There's a housing need in East Harlem, and a

          5  ballfield, and certainly Mr. Levine remembers, since

          6  we were the last public demonstration on the steps

          7  of City Hall in the Giuliani Administration.  And

          8  I'm happy to say that we patched that up.

          9                 The agreement we eventually reached

         10  was I'd say, on a small scale of something we see

         11  happening here.  We had two ballfields on our site.

         12  We moved one four blocks away.  We made another

         13  piece of land permanent.  Developers gave us some

         14  money to build one of the ballparks.  Another of the

         15  ballparks was made into a permanent park that was

         16  made out of field turf, not regular grass.  And

         17  while we had to take a year off from playing, I

         18  think the long- term benefits as we've seen in the

         19  last five or six years, have been enormous to our

         20  organization and to our community.

         21                 Not only do we have much higher

         22  quality fields, and I would say our fields are

         23  similar to what you see up at Mullaly and Macombs

         24  Dam, but the fields that are there now are playable

         25  in the Winter, they're playable in the Fall, these
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          2  have been good things for the kids, and our

          3  community.  And from what I see of this project, on

          4  the parks side, it looks very similar to me.

          5                 So I certainly support the project.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          7  much.  And thank you all for your testimony.  We

          8  appreciate your being here.

          9                 The next panel will be Albertha

         10  Hunter.  Ms. Hunter, are you here?  Ok, we'll check

         11  in the other room.  Micaela Birmingham.  Ms.

         12  Birmingham?  Oh, yes.  How are you?  Okay, so come

         13  on over.  Ms. Robinson.  Betty Robinson.  Elizabeth

         14  Cook Levy. Delmas Vernon Cole.  Carole Beaubien.

         15  Are you there?  Ms Beaubien, please have seat.  Oh,

         16  who else do we have?  Is this  --  I'm sorry.  Who

         17  do we right now have?  We've got  --  so you're

         18  Michaela Birmingham.  And who else  --  ma'am, what

         19  is your name?            MS. ROBINSON: Oh.  Good

         20  afternoon. I'm sorry.  My name is Betty Robinson.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Okay.  Thank

         22  you.

         23                 Ms. Beaubien, this is   --  you're

         24  Ms. Beaubien? Yes.  Okay, good.  Thank you.  It is

         25  on, yes.  Just hold on one moment.  Kitty Cotter.
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          2  Okay.  Ms. Cotter, please have a seat.  And we'll

          3  start with you.  Thanks.

          4                 MS. FARINA: Good evening.  My name is

          5  Allison Farina.  I'm the Director of Government

          6  Affairs at New Yorkers for Parks.  New Yorkers for

          7  Parks is an independent advocacy organization

          8  working to ensure cleaner, greener, and safer parks.

          9                 We want the Yankees to stay in the

         10  Bronx, but for other reasons previously mentioned.

         11  Both across the street and here in this room.  Have

         12  serious concerns about the proposed plan for a new

         13  Yankee Stadium that's neither good for the Bronx,

         14  nor the City as a whole.

         15                 We oppose the destruction of parkland

         16  for the creation of parking garages, one.  Two, as

         17  mentioned, the alienation of this parkland is

         18  contingent upon compliance with all federal

         19  regulations, and, the project EIS is evades federal

         20  environmental justice requirements, by again finding

         21  no significant impact on air quality or public

         22  health.

         23                 Next, as it stands, the community

         24  will be without access to most of its park

         25  facilities for a period of three or more years.
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          2            And finally, where will the thousands of

          3  trees be planted?  The plan does not mitigate the

          4  loss of nearly 400 mature trees.

          5                 We hope you will seriously consider

          6  these concerns and examine all possible alternatives

          7  to the plan.  We support the Yankees staying in the

          8  Bronx in a stadium that considers the quality of

          9  life of Bronx residents, and the sustainability of

         10  our environment.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         12  much.  Before we turn to Ms. Robinson, I just want a

         13  quick announcement.  Teresa Wingfield, the student

         14  who testified  --  Sharise Wingfield, the student

         15  who testified before, is in the other room.  So I

         16  just wanted to make that announcement.  Okay.  Betty

         17  Robinson.  Ms. Robinson.  The floor is yours.

         18                 MS. ROBINSON: Good afternoon.  My

         19  name is Betty Robinson.  I am a resident of Gerard

         20  Avenue.  And I'm here on behalf of myself and my

         21  neighbors, those that can't be here because they

         22  have to at work.  This is in the afternoon.  People

         23  have to work and take care of their families.

         24                 We are here because we're asking you

         25  to please consider this project.  It's not like we
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          2  don't want the new stadium.  We keep saying this.  I

          3  think this must be like the sixth or seventh hearing

          4  that we have concerning this.  It's not about not

          5  building a new stadium.  It's about building it

          6  where it's at, or south of it.  Years back, there

          7  was a project also, I think done by the previous

          8  Borough President, that was Fernando Ferrare.  I

          9  don't know why that can't be reconsidered.  Because

         10  I can understand we have a new Borough President, he

         11  probably want to have his signature on it, but we

         12  should consider that project because it gives us an

         13  alternative to what's going on.

         14                 We don't want to lose our park.  We

         15  do not want to lose our community.  And we are

         16  asking you to please consider this, because we are

         17  the ones that live there 365 days.  Whereas the

         18  Yankees only occupy for 81 days.  So if you could

         19  please consider this situation, this project, and

         20  consider an alternative plan that could have a new

         21  project, and we could all cooexist together. Thank

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 MS. ROBINSON: Oh, I'm sorry.  Let me
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          2   --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Yes.

          4                 MS. ROBINSON: Please take note of the

          5  testimony being given here today.  And the

          6  appearance here between those who live in the

          7  community and those who are being sponsored by the

          8  Yankees, or associates of the Yankees organization,

          9  and those from the construction trade.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         11  much.  And we do hear that.  Ms. Beaubien.

         12                 MS. BEAUBIEN:  I think it's evening

         13  now.  Good evening Council.  My name is Carol

         14  Beaubien Gregory.  I'm an English teacher with a 9-

         15  11 induced asthma.  So when I heard about the

         16  Yankees building this new stadium, and taking the

         17  parks, I took it personally, because the parks have

         18  been a place where I go to walk and exercise.  My

         19  voice is not clear now, because my lungs are not

         20  clear from inhaling on that day, September 11th.  We

         21  were evacuated.  I teach at the Borough of Manhattan

         22  Community College. But we were brought back, and the

         23  fires were still burning.  So I am still struggling

         24  with health issues.

         25                 So I'd like to say something for
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          2  people who manage asthma.  I live on 158th Street

          3  and the Grand Concourse.  And I'm actually able to

          4  hear the Yankee games.  I mean, I turn on the TV

          5  too, but I can hear them.  I am not against the

          6  Yankees being in the Bronx.  I don't think that this

          7  new stadium is a good plan.  I think everybody

          8  should go back to the drawing board.

          9                 I'm really happy to see and hear

         10  Reggie, because I used to go to the games.  In Ohio,

         11  we had Satchel Page, so I know about the rooting.  I

         12  was so happy to see more Hispanic players, and I

         13  have that prior too, but we just have too many

         14  problems.

         15                 The people who come and see the

         16  games, those who live in the neighborhood, I think

         17  we've been patient.  When we're on the train, you

         18  can hardly sit down.  You can hardly walk. Sometimes

         19  they're lost.  I tell them where to go.  Because I'm

         20  getting off at 161st Street.

         21                 So I don't feel hostility.  But when

         22  you have asthma, you have only 15 minutes to get to

         23  a doctor.  If you don't get there, you die.  We lost

         24  Chancellor Richard Green.  He was asthmatic, and he

         25  ate the wrong thing, and he had an allergic attack
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          2  and he died.

          3                 So I know it's easy to be wealthy and

          4  to be far away and not consider people with asthma,

          5  but that's my request, that you consider us.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          7  Thank you very much.  Ms. Cotter.  Can you turn on

          8  the microphone by hitting that button right there?

          9  There you go.

         10                 MS. COTTER: Okay.  Good evening.  My

         11  name is Kitty Cotter.  I live at 70 East 162nd

         12  Street, which is between River and Gerard Avenue.

         13  And the stadium will be right outside my window. I

         14  have lived at that residence for 23 years, and I'm a

         15  native Bronxite.  And if Mr. Levine is here, I would

         16  like to tell him I'm not a professional agitator.

         17  I'm a resident of this community.

         18                 First, I'd like to say that whether

         19  the Yankees sponsor people in schools, or sponsor

         20  Little Leagues, all to the good.  It's not relevant

         21  to the merits of the plan.  I hope the Yankees

         22  continue to do that.  I hope they do more.  Because

         23  they are the richest sports franchise in the

         24  country.  So please don't take into account what the

         25  Yankees do for a specific Little League team.  The
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          2  thing that you should be deciding here is whether or

          3  not this plan is a good plan.

          4                 And it's not a good plan.  It's a

          5  plan that will destroy this community.  It's a plan

          6  that will cut off Highbridge from the greater 161st

          7  Street business district.  The same way the Cross

          8  Bronx Expressway cut off  --  cut the Bronx in two.

          9  It's not a good urban planning.  It was done in an

         10  anti- democratic way.  And the community was shut

         11  out.  And the community is angry.

         12                 Ask yourselves before you vote on

         13  this, if you were told that 40 to 50 percent of

         14  Central Park was going to be used for a private

         15  enterprise, a very rich private enterprise, but that

         16  40, 50 percent of Central Park was going to be

         17  replaced, would you do it?

         18                 And as far as the jobs are concerned,

         19  the jobs can be had, whether the stadium is moved

         20  north one block, or whether the stadium is

         21  renovated.  So the jobs is also a bogus issue.

         22  Nobody is against jobs.  Nobody is against the

         23  Yankees staying in the Bronx.  Nobody is against

         24  development.  What we are against is devastating

         25  this community, and hurting our parks.
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          2                 Please don't do it.  Vote your

          3  conscience.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          5  much.  Sir, are you Mr. Cole?

          6                 MR. COLE: Yes I am.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Okay.  You

          8  have two minutes, sir.

          9                 MR. COLE: Good afternoon.  My name is

         10  Demas Vernon Cole.  And I am part of the silent

         11  majority people that live within a half a mile

         12  radius of the project.  And are directly impacted by

         13  it.  I live on 159th Street and the Grand Concourse,

         14  right across the street from the Courthouse.

         15                 I am a chronic asthmatic.  I've had

         16  asthma ever since I was four years old.  And

         17  therefore, I can speak with some you know, degree of

         18  expertise on this matter, having lived in the old

         19  Lincoln Hospital most of my youth.

         20                 We have been disenfranchised here.  I

         21  still don't understand what's going on here.

         22  Members of the Council, I could identify with your

         23  concerns and bewilderment when you ask questions and

         24  they weren't answered, because we, as community

         25  people got the same treatment earlier in this
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          2  Spring.  Okay?  This is the seventh iteration of

          3  this plan, and we still don't know what it is.  It's

          4  a mystery plan.  Every time we've heard about it,

          5  there's been some new permutation added on to it.

          6                 And we still don't know what the

          7  impacts are going to be on an asthmatic community,

          8  which our community is bounded by three major

          9  arterioles, the Cross Bronx, the Bruckner, and the

         10  Major Deegan.  We don't know what all this traffic

         11  portains (sic) for us.  We do know that we're losing

         12  22 acres of contiguous parkland space. And we don't

         13  understand what is going on.  We need for someone to

         14  present the plan in a clear, comprehensive and

         15  concise manner, so that it can be analyzed, and

         16  evaluated by the community.

         17                 There are so many things that I want

         18  to say.  And I've started to trip over them.  But I

         19  just want you to realize that we have been

         20  disenfranchised.  Our due process rights have been

         21  abused.  And we really need the Council to come and

         22  stand for us, as taxpayers and citizens.  We have

         23  been misled and misinformed by some of our elected

         24  officials.  And we really, really need your help.

         25  Thank you.

                                                            242

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

          3  Cole.  We appreciate your being here.  We're now

          4  going to call our next panel.  I'm going to see if

          5  any of the following people are here. Ed Brockner.

          6  Mr. Brockner?  Great.  Welcome.  Fred LeMoine.

          7  Bishop Birkett.  Okay.  Michael Giordano.  Please

          8  join us in the panel.  And Felice Lepore.  Mr.

          9  Lepore.  Okay, great.  Thank you.

         10                 Mr. Brockner, we're going to start

         11  with you.

         12                 MR. BROCKNER: Hello.  My name is Ed

         13  Brockner, and I'm representing the First Tee of

         14  Metropolitan New York, at Moshler (phonetic) Golf

         15  Course, in the Bronx.  Our organization is a youth

         16  development initiative that teaches golf and

         17  positive lessons to kids throughout the Summer, and

         18  throughout most of the school year as well.  We have

         19  several thousand kids, and since 2001, the Yankees

         20  have been supportive of our organization and just

         21  beyond just the support that they give us

         22  financially, also being associated with the winning

         23  successful organization has really helped us in

         24  reaching out to new partners as well.

         25                 And looking at the Yankees
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          2  development plan, and it seems like all of this park

          3  space the is being created and the Yankees have

          4  earlier said that it seems that they're committed to

          5  also making programs possible in those parks.  And I

          6  think that is the relevance of the Yankees and their

          7  supportive organizations such as ours.

          8                 Just to have a park there is

          9  wonderful, but when you can support programs that

         10  take these parks and create meaningful programs for

         11  these kids, have an opportunity like the program to

         12  be involved in mentorhship programs, college

         13  scholarships, and I think that when you look at it

         14  from that perspective, that these are meaningful

         15  programs that the Yankees support, and we really

         16  appreciate that from them.

         17                 And lastly, I'd like to you know,

         18  thank everybody for giving us the opportunity to

         19  speak this evening on this issue. And if you have

         20  any grand kids, or kids that you'd like to get

         21  involved in golf, please bring them to Moshler Golf

         22  Course for you to   --  love to have all of them get

         23  involved, and hopefully, the Yankees will increase

         24  their involvement so we can reach out to even more

         25  of them in the future.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          3  much.  Bishop Timothy Birkett.

          4                 BISHOP BIRKETT: I want to thank you

          5  for allowing me to come and speak.  And also, on

          6  behalf of the churches of the Bronx.  I am the

          7  Senior Pastor of four churches in the Bronx, one

          8  Korean, one Hispanic, one African, and one African-

          9  American church. And I am also the former founder

         10  and director of the Bronx Clergy Task Force, of

         11  which I speak for.  And a number of other clergy

         12  groups that I represent, that I can't  --  if I took

         13  the time, we would run out of the two minutes.

         14                 But I would like to speak for the

         15  Clergy Coalition of the 44th Precinct.  And we met,

         16  we met with the New York Yankees, and they gave us a

         17  presentation, and an understanding of what this

         18  project would do.  And these churches that I'm

         19  speaking about right now, are the ones directly

         20  around the Yankee Stadium area.  They're the ones

         21  that are going to be affected by it.  And after

         22  hearing the presentation, and we've asked the

         23  Yankees to go public on our television program, and

         24  they were willing to go forward and do an hour

         25  special for the public.  And our parishioners, to
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          2  get a good understanding of what it was all about. And

          3  so, why do we support this project?  Well, the key

          4  support for this project is based on the

          5  relationship that we have had, the church has had,

          6  with the Yankee organization.  It started back in

          7  1975, when we were looking for a stadium that would

          8  allow us have the New York for Jesus Crusade.  And

          9  the Yankees were willing to open up their doors, and

         10  in 1975, we were able to assemble at the Yankee

         11  Stadium.

         12                 And then, remember 9- 11.  When the

         13  churches of the City, --  I was formerly the

         14  Executive Director for the Council of Churches for

         15  the Bronx, and we needed a place to come together to

         16  mourn.  And it was the Yankees again, that opened

         17  their doors for the community to come in and mourn

         18  over 9- 11.

         19                 Okay.  Then we're talking about

         20  collecting the food. When I was with the Council of

         21  Churches, in 1982, we came to the Yankees when

         22  poverty was really bad.  And they Yankees were

         23  willing to open their doors, and since that time, we

         24  have had food drives, and toy drives for our

         25  community, on and on.  And I feel that once we had
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          2  the Dodgers here in the Bronx, in Brooklyn, we lost

          3  them. And we had the Giants here.  And we lost them.

          4    And I think if you can trust somebody, then trust

          5  somebody who stayed when everybody left.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          7  much Bishop. Mr. Giordano.

          8                 MR. GIORDANO: Thank you.  My name is

          9  Michael Giordano.  I'm here to represent Paper

         10  Enterprises. We're a business in the South Bronx.

         11  We're a 46- year old company.  We employ 105 people,

         12  and approximately 30 percent of them live in the

         13  South Bronx.

         14                 One problem that we do have, is about

         15  less than five percent of our business is in the

         16  Bronx today.  Our business models around serving

         17  large chain restaurants, like Starbucks, hotels,

         18  contract cleaning services, real estate management

         19  companies, and stadiums.  Those businesses that we

         20  services are not available in the Bronx today.

         21                 It's true, I think Councilman White

         22  said that a lot of money leaves the Bronx.  People

         23  come in, I know I'm one of them. I drive from the

         24  Bronx to Manhattan, park, go out to dinner with

         25  customers, and come back to the game, because the
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          2  parking is a problem around the stadium, and there's

          3  no restaurants, there's no place to entertain

          4  customers.  There's not enough quantity, or size of

          5  facilities to accommodate the crowd that's that big.

          6                 I believe that with a new stadium,

          7  new business, hotels, and restaurants will come in.

          8  Smaller businesses will open up.  And the

          9  opportunities for those businesses stay open all

         10  year long.  And before and after games will

         11  increase.  In turn, this will create the ability for

         12  Paper Enterprises to hire more local residents.

         13                 Yankee Stadium, for many  --  we've

         14  served Yankee Stadium for many years with janitorial

         15  products.  I hear a lot of talk about asthma today.

         16  Just to let you know, last year, Yankee Stadium

         17  aggressively adopted a green cleaning premise.  So

         18  they're using green- sealed, certified products in

         19  the stadium, that keep workers and patrons safe.  I

         20  thought you'd just like to note that they are

         21  conscious of what they do in the stadium.

         22                 Having a new --  but the problem is,

         23  that the facility today does not have the ability to

         24  have new technology. A new stadium will be able to

         25  enhance that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          3  much.  Felice Lepore.  Mr. Lepore.

          4                 MR. LEPORE: Good evening.  My name is

          5  Felice Lepore. And I'm the proud principal of the

          6  Academy for Careers in Sports High School, located

          7  in the Mount Haven section of the Bronx.  We do have

          8  a vested interest in this project, the same way

          9  David Banks, former principal of Bronx Law,

         10  Government, and Justice had a vested interest in the

         11  new courthouse.  It seems the only way schools go up

         12  is if a major complex is built.

         13                 So the 306 students I represent and

         14  parents, want to see this project go through.  And

         15  it's no guarantee that the school is going to be

         16  built.  We have a Governor that doesn't want to

         17  release $1.8 billion so that 55,000 new seats are

         18  built for, not just the Bronx, but all five

         19  boroughs.

         20                 It's a shame that, in my school, we

         21  have kids that have to begin at seven and finish at

         22  six, but that's what happens when you have

         23  overcrowding.

         24                 I'm proud of the relationship we've

         25  built with the New York Yankees.  I got two kids
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          2  that are currently interning there as we speak.

          3  Paid internships.  Sharise Wingfield is in the

          4  process of being interviewed for a possible position

          5  with the Yankees as well.

          6                 I'm also proud of the fact that Brian

          7  Smith, Vice President of Public Relations, came into

          8  our school about two and a half months ago, and

          9  wanted to know what we were about before any kind of

         10  relationship was going to be built.  And the story

         11  he shared with those kids when he talked about the

         12  full scholarship he had to a Division One A school

         13  at Tulsa University went down the drain when he had

         14  a major knee injury.  Many kids at that point in

         15  time would give up their dream.  But instead, that

         16  was his key to pursuing the current career that he's

         17  in.  And that's a credit for somebody to come in and

         18  share that message.  Because 17- year old kids, they

         19  don't care about the past.  They want to know about

         20  the present, and they want to know about the future.

         21    And after that meeting, when he left at 3:30, it

         22  was his great idea to begin a pilot program with the

         23  two current interns that are interning there.

         24                 He's also talked about job shadowing.

         25    Students having an opportunity to see what the
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          2  stadium is like so if the school never happens, the

          3  fact that we have this relationship, I thank the New

          4  York Yankees.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

          6  Lepore.  Thank you all for your testimony.  I'm

          7  going to call the next panel, and I'm also going to

          8  call the on- deck panel, so we can get a sense

          9  exactly of who is here and who is not.  But I'm

         10  sorry to understand that Albertha Hunter, Ms.

         11  Hunter, you are here?  Is that correct? Ms. Hunter,

         12  please have a seat.  Daniel McColla.  Mr. McColla.

         13  Mr. McColla.  Oh yes.  Hi.  How are you?  Henry

         14  Mitchell.  Mr. Mitchell, are you here?  Okay.  Lydia

         15  Sierra.  Ms. Sierra.  Okay. Steve Strauss.  Mr.

         16  Strauss, are you here?  Majora Carter.  Ms. Carter.

         17  Ms. Carter, please join us.  Ramon Cruz.  Mr. Cruz.

         18  Ramon Cruz.  Bernardo Issel.  Mr. Bernardo Issel.

         19  Joan Byran.  Ms. Byran is here.  Great.  Please have

         20  a seat.

         21            Okay.  This will be our next panel.  I'm

         22  just going to call a few more names here, just to

         23  get the ball rolling for our next panel.  Clarence

         24  Forster.  Are you here?  Mr. Forster?  Just say your

         25  name if you are.  Okay.  Hilda Lynch.  Ms. Lynch.
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          2  Mr. Joseph Bastone.  You're here.  Okay.  Great.

          3  Thank you sir. Anthony Curry.  Mr. Curry, okay.

          4  We're going to get you in the next panel.  Geraldo

          5  Lopez.  Mr. Lopez.  Ari Holtzblatt.  Mr. Holtzblatt.

          6    Great.  Thank you.  You'll be in the next panel.

          7  John Dunham.  Okay. Mr. Dunham.

          8                 Okay.  The folks who just said that

          9  they are present for the next panel, just be ready.

         10  And we're going to start with Ms. Albertha Hunter.

         11  Ms. Hunter.  Welcome.

         12                 MS. HUNTER: Hello.  Thank you.  My

         13  name is Albertha D. Hunter.  I'm a resident of 1005

         14  Jerome Avenue, across from the parking lot that is

         15  supposed to be built by the Yankee Stadium.

         16                 Now there's an insinuation, there has

         17  been an insinuation that our community is too

         18  ignorant to see ahead, look ahead, and view the

         19  beautiful picture of the Bronx, what it's going to

         20  be in the later day.  I can call names, but I won't

         21  call all the names that I know about, but I will

         22  say, our own Bronx Borough President has made us

         23  look like dirt, I say.  Because he is one of the

         24  ones that said how beautiful the place is going to

         25  look.  And we don't have  --  he didn't say we
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          2  didn't have enough education, but he said we don't

          3  understand how it's going to be when it's all over.

          4                 So I am here to say to you, that even

          5  if we don't have a PhD, or a G.E.D. Or what have

          6  you, we have sense enough to know when we are being

          7  taken, or when we are ignored.  It doesn't take a

          8  Harvard student to know you've been taken or that

          9  you've been had.  Or that you don't know what's

         10  going on.  You do know what's going on.

         11                 So I suggesting that you take this

         12  back and find out something including us.  I'm so

         13  happy that what's his name, the ballplayer  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Mr. Reggie

         15  Jackson.

         16                 MS. HUNTER:  -- Gave  --  I'm so

         17  happy that he gave a card to my Council Lady, so

         18  that we can keep the heat on him.  On the Yankees.

         19  This is what we are asking for.  Include us in

         20  something.  We have not been included.  And if they

         21  say they sat down with this community, it is not

         22  true.

         23                 And another thing where we're being

         24  duped, the whole Bronx area around Jerome Avenue,

         25  where they're building  -- putting in the water
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          2  system, that's our money.  The way they fix it so

          3  the taxpayer has to do all this before the Yankees

          4  start.  But we're not crazy.  This is a project that

          5  our tax money is paying for as of now.  The reason

          6  there's blockage around there, you can't get by it,

          7  it's the water system, the main water system is

          8  being run.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

         10  Thank you Ms. Hunter.  Thank you very much for your

         11  testimony.  We appreciate your being here.

         12                 MS. HUNTER: Okay.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Mr. McColla.

         14                 MR. MCCOLLA: Okay.  My name is Daniel

         15  McColla.  I'm from Brooklyn.  I'm here to offer

         16  testimony in opposition of this Yankee Stadium

         17  redevelopment plan.

         18                 My main concerns are the dangers of

         19  the ULURP process itself.  Once you set the

         20  precedent of taking the parkland, then the sky is

         21  the limit.  Currently, in New York City, when large

         22  development projects are proposed, the developer

         23  normally approaches the City's Economic Development

         24  Corporation, and then City Planning plans the whole

         25  process.
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          2                 Another problem is, with the

          3  environmental impact statements, the developer

          4  provides that impact statement.  He is under no

          5  guarantees to give you an accuracy about air quality

          6  or anything else.  Over the last couple of years,

          7  we've seen this process get worse and worse.

          8                 I also have concerns of when the

          9  Yankees say they would pay for it, they're still

         10  always applying for a $950 million IDA bond.  But

         11  it's also my lack of confidence in the Parks

         12  Department.  This project seems to get bigger and

         13  bigger, but if you have a fiscal problem, the Mayor,

         14  all he has to do is just approach management and

         15  budget to freeze the funds for any new parkland.

         16  And when I say freeze, freeze.

         17                 And finally, in regards to jobs, a

         18  community benefits agreement will not work unless

         19  you put legislation of what your community benefits

         20  agreement is.  If I'm at table, or I'm making a real

         21  estate deal, and I get the better of a real estate

         22  deal, there's no sorry in real estate.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         24  much. Welcome.

         25                 MS. CARTER: Hi.  I'm Majora Carter.
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          2  I'm a lifelong resident of the South Bronx, and also

          3  the Executive Director of Sustainable South Bronx.

          4                 Sadly, if one looks at the kind of

          5  economic development coming down the pipe in the

          6  South Bronx today, it's big box stores and stadium

          7  deals that top the list.  And I'm still looking for

          8  evidence that accurately quantify that gains the

          9  local community will supposedly receive when these

         10  developments come to town.  Planners and economists

         11  have long recognized these types of subsidized

         12  developments are known losers for communities.

         13  Unlike manufacturing and local mom and pop stores,

         14  the exact opposite type of development needed to

         15  sustain economic and public health of local

         16  communities in the regions in which they are part.

         17                 The Yankee Stadium deal was brought

         18  in under the cover of darkness.  There were

         19  complicated park alienation process on the State

         20  level and other back room maneuverings so that the

         21  world's richest sports team could profit at the

         22  expense of the county's poorest congressional

         23  district.

         24                 Perhaps our South Bronx elected might

         25  have been misled at the beginning, but most of our
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          2  electeds really have not listened to our community.

          3  At least most of them.

          4                 We do not support this plan as

          5  written.  And today is your chance to listen and

          6  respect that community's voice.

          7                 And the Yankees have not justified

          8  why they can't rebuild the current stadium.  There

          9  are no real iron- clad rules as to making sure that

         10  we're going to have living wage and union jobs. If

         11  you look at the Borough President's plan, the CBA

         12  plan for the Bronx Terminal Market, in particular,

         13  it's really not worth the paper it's printed on.

         14  There are so many loop holes in that thing, it's not

         15  even funny.

         16                 There is definite  --  and also, as

         17  far as the other jobs are concerned, many of them

         18  will actually have to have  -- people will still

         19  need public assistance once they're on them.  So we

         20  need to make sure that we understand that as well.

         21                 The community has not been consulted

         22  in this project in a meaningful way, and has been

         23  ignored at every public comment period.  Sometimes

         24  even being locked out in the cold.

         25                 Please do not approve this project.
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          2  The South Bronx deserves better in both the short

          3  and long term.  This is corporate welfare at the

          4  expense of both our wallets and our quality of life

          5  well into the future.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          7  much.  Ms Byran.  Welcome.

          8                 MS. BYRAN: Thank you.  It's on.

          9  Great.

         10                 My name is Joan Byran.  And I direct

         11  the Sustainability and Environmental Justice

         12  Initiative at the Pratt Center for Community

         13  Development.

         14                 If you notice, we're outside

         15  agitators, and we've been outside agitating with

         16  community- based organizations in the Bronx since

         17  the mid 1970s.  We're architects and planners and we

         18  work with community- based organizations to help

         19  them realize their planning visions for their

         20  communities all over the City.

         21                 It's hard to imagine a less just plan

         22  than the Yankee Stadium project, as we've heard it

         23  described here.  And to hear both the local

         24  residential community and the parkland that is

         25  beloved and heavily used, and beautiful to the
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          2  community, described in the way we've heard them

          3  described by the projects proponents, and devalued

          4  in the way that they have been, makes you think the

          5  spirit of Robert Moses is with us.  He walks among

          6  us today.  I head an elected official say on the

          7  radio this morning, almost Robert Moses' words, you

          8  can't make an omelet without breaking eggs.  The

          9  eggs being broken are the eggs of the community.

         10                 The replacement parkland we heard

         11  described comes nowhere near being the equivalent in

         12  value to what the community has now, and stands to

         13  lose.  There is no reason why that parkland needs to

         14  be taken, except for the Yankees convenience and

         15  economic benefit.  There is no justification for

         16  building the stadium north of 162st Street.

         17                 We're not talking about money too

         18  much today. There's going to be time for that next

         19  week.  But the project is going to consume $400

         20  million all told, in public subsidies.  Not only the

         21  direct cost we heard about, for the construction of

         22  the garages and the replacement parks, but the

         23  foregone rent and revenue into the future that the

         24  City will give up to make this project happen.

         25                 The economic cost has been
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          2  understated.  The economic benefits have been

          3  overstated.  The actual wages for the permanent jobs

          4  are going to average something like $18,500 per

          5  year.  Poverty wages for hard working folks in the

          6  South Bronx that deserve much better.

          7                 We're told that the plan has been

          8  improved by negotiation with the Yankees.  I'm glad

          9  we didn't get to see the original version.  Thank

         10  you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         12  much Ms. Byran.  Thank you.

         13                 All right.  I'm going to now call the

         14  next panel. You know who you are.  John Dunham.  Ari

         15  Holtzblatt.  Anthony Curry.  And Joseph Bastone.

         16                 And while they're coming to the table

         17  here, I understand we have   --  our next panel will

         18  certainly consist of Henry Mitchell, who I

         19  understand is here.  Mr. Mitchell, are you in the

         20  room?  Okay.  We're going to get you on the next

         21  panel. Beverly Moore.  Ms. Moore, you're here.

         22  Thank you.  Teresa Toro. Ms. Toro is here.  Yes.

         23  And Gene Russianoff.  Okay.  And Bettina Damiani is

         24  here.  Okay.  So we've got our next panel.

         25                 And why don't we start with Mr.
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          2  Dunham.

          3                 MR. DUNHAM: Mr. Chairperson, Council

          4  Members, thank you very much for the opportunity to

          5  speak here.  My name is John Dunham.  I'm President

          6  of a Brooklyn- based economics firm named Gruel

          7  Economics.  And again, thank you for the opportunity

          8  to speak at the hearing.

          9                 We were asked by the New York Yankees

         10  to review all of the economic impacts studies.  All

         11  of the literature that's been produced to date

         12  regarding the new Yankee Stadium project.  And based

         13  on that review, and our analysis of the project, the

         14  stadium when operational, will create somewhere

         15  around 950 new jobs.  Now people have talked about

         16  these jobs, that they're not real jobs, or that

         17  they're bad jobs.  But let me assure you, these are

         18  real jobs. In fact, even more people will have

         19  employment opportunities than just the 950 jobs,

         20  because of how we measure full- time employment.   The

         21  project is going to create positive impact

         22  throughout the City.  I was calculating during the

         23  hearings in the other room, and about 82 percent of

         24  the jobs are going to be located in the districts of

         25  the members that were present in that hearing.  But
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          2  jobs are going to be created in every district in

          3  this City, from the stadium development.

          4                 Also, about $225 million in net tax

          5  impacts will be generated by the development.

          6                 We believe that this library of

          7  studies, and the analysis which has been created by

          8  the Yankees, by EDC, by other organizations are all

          9  conducted correctly, and are all actually pretty

         10  conservative.

         11                 I just want to make one more comment

         12  about jobs.  Or two more comments, if I have 30

         13  seconds.  First, Yankee Stadium is the largest

         14  private employer in the area.  And only because

         15  Atlantic Express, which operates school buses,

         16  employs more people in the neighborhood.  Which is

         17  actually one of the least economically well off in

         18  the City.  Actually, one of the least economically

         19  well off in the country.  We did some analysis and

         20  found that some zip codes in the area surrounding

         21  Yankee Stadium have over 50 percent of the

         22  population in poverty.  So all jobs are important

         23  jobs for people that have a hard time getting them.

         24                 I actually had the opportunity when I

         25  was young, to work in a stadium where I grew up in
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          2  Colorado, and that job allowed me to become an

          3  economist and come to speak to you folks today.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you for

          5  being here. Mr. Holtzblatt.

          6                 MR. HOLTZBLATT: Hello.  My name is

          7  Ari Holtzblatt. I want to thank the Chair and all

          8  the members of the Committee for giving me the

          9  opportunity to testify today.  And I will try to be

         10  brief.

         11                 I am the Assistant Political Director

         12  for Public Policy at Local 32BJ, SCIU.  We represent

         13  85,000 building service workers in commercial office

         14  buildings, residential buildings, and stadiums

         15  throughout New York, New Jersey, Connecticut,

         16  Pennsylvania, Delaware, Maryland, and the District

         17  of Columbia. Our members are cleaners, handymen,

         18  porters, doormen, superintendents, window cleaners,

         19  and security officers.  They work hard and get paid

         20  decent wages and benefits.  Our members live in the

         21  communities in which they work.  Ninety percent of

         22  our members that work in New York City live in New

         23  York City.  And I know that all you who are on this

         24  panel know that, because you know our members.  And

         25  our members come from every part of this City, and
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          2  live in every neighborhood.

          3                 No matter what neighborhood our

          4  members live in, one thing remains constant.  They

          5  value the good job that they have, and they have

          6  family members and neighbors that are out of work,

          7  or under employed and are desperate for that kind of

          8  good job.

          9                 This City needs economic development

         10  that creates good jobs.  And that kind of economic

         11  development will strengthen our communities.

         12                 We support the Yankee Stadium

         13  redevelopment project, and we believe that this City

         14  should also support this project.  It will create

         15  and retain good jobs in the Bronx.  Jobs that our

         16  communities need.

         17                 We represent over 370 workers who,

         18  every season, clean and maintain the ballpark.

         19  These workers get paid decent wages, and many live

         20  in the Bronx, and spend those wages also in the

         21  Bronx.

         22                 We hope that the City and the Yankees

         23  can resolve any remaining differences that they

         24  have, so that this project can go forward.  This

         25  project will be good for the Bronx, and good for New
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          2  York.

          3                 And I have extra copies of my

          4  testimony.  I'll leave that with you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          6  Please do.  Mr. Curry.

          7                 MR. CURRY: I'm going to turn it on.

          8  Okay.  My name is Anthony Curry.  I'm a resident of

          9  Highbridge for the last 36 years.  While I often

         10  agree with the Borough President in most things that

         11  he do, in fact, I helped him with his reelection,

         12  carried petitions as well.

         13                 I also liked the idea that he got

         14  from me, that he wants to build up the waterfront,

         15  and the idea of building up the waterfront in the

         16  Bronx, which is definitely deeply needed. However,

         17  he couldn't be more wrong about what's going on in

         18  this community here today.  Maybe because he lives

         19  in City Island.  I'm not sure.

         20                 But I'll tell you this.  In

         21  Highbridge, where I live, and where I reside, this

         22  is  --  the Yankees relationship with us has not

         23  been one of a good one, and this situation that is

         24  about to happen is a very bad one.

         25                 We must all be conscious of the mere
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          2  fact is that this land grab is what this is.  This

          3  is a land grab.  And while you City Council members

          4  are here today talking about what's going on in my

          5  particular area, and what's going on in my district,

          6  and Ms. Foster's district, and Ms. Arroyo's

          7  district.  And Ms. Baez almost district.  You must

          8  be mindful that the next district that we may be

          9  here with, and sitting on, as members, and sitting

         10  in the audience, may be your district.  Maybe

         11  tomorrow it will be Prospect Park.  Tomorrow  --  I

         12  mean, corporate welfare don't stop. This is what

         13  this is about.  We all know about what's going on.

         14  This is about  the corporation getting fatter, and

         15  the poor people getting poorer.  That's all this is

         16  about.

         17                 And the Yankees is the  --  as they

         18  stated, Yankees is second, they talk about how

         19  committed they are to Black people, spare me.  They

         20  were one of the last teams in the entire league to

         21  bring a Black player on the team.  The park that

         22  they're stealing, the track field, is a field that

         23  is of a Black man who was running --  one of the

         24  only men that would allow them  --  he would train

         25  athletes to participate in the Olympics.  He was not
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          2  allowed in his own country, here in America, to

          3  participate in the Olympics, and train people.

          4                 So we're not just talking about a

          5  stadium you're stealing, you're stealing a spirit

          6  from a people.  And I think you need to be mindful

          7  when all of you go home, to remember, we will be

          8  watching you.  Not only will we be watching, your

          9  community will be watching you, and God will be

         10  watching you.  Thank you for listening.  Have a good

         11  day.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         13  much Mr. Curry.  Mr. Bastone, you said.  Yes?  Okay.

         14  Mr. Bastone.

         15                 MR. BASTONE: I'm Joe Bastone.  I'm

         16  the owner and operator of the Yankee Tavern on 161st

         17  Street.  I am also one of the co- founders of the

         18  161st Street Merchants Association.  I'm an officer.

         19    And I helped establish  --  I was one of the co-

         20  founders of the Steering Committee that formed a new

         21  business improvement district.  I'm in the

         22  neighborhood seven days a week.

         23                 I look the new stadium as an

         24  opportunity.  An opportunity for more modern parks.

         25  I see it as an opportunity for more better road
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          2  infractures (sic) and more parking.

          3                 One thing is, I'm there before and

          4  after every game, and I see the tragedy of what's

          5  going on in our neighborhood with traffic.  People

          6  sitting in traffic, idling their cars, all kinds of

          7  pollution.  People parking on sidewalks.  We need

          8  more parking. We not only need more parking for the

          9  stadium, we need more parking for the community.

         10  And we need more parking for the court system and

         11  the businesses in the area.

         12                 Right now, they're ripping up the

         13  roads.  Some of the people that have been talking,

         14  they're not in the 161st Street neighborhood like I

         15  am.  And sat on various committees, and participated

         16  in the Community Board.  They're ripping up the

         17  Grand Concourse, they're ripping up 161st Street

         18  adjacent to the courthouse.  There's less parking

         19  than there ever was.  We seriously need parking, and

         20  we need it now.

         21                 We need new roads, as I said.  And

         22  also, with the stadium, we need more jobs.  I think

         23  it is going to bring more jobs to the neighborhood,

         24  and we need those jobs.

         25                 Also, we need the stadium to be built
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          2  where they want to build it, so we have a

          3  continuously running stadium to support the stores

          4  on 161st Street, and the people that work for us.

          5  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          7  much.  Thank you all gentlemen for being here.

          8                 Our next panel is Henry Mitchell,

          9  Beverly Moore, Teresa Toro, and Bettina Demiani.

         10  Bettina, I'm sorry if I'm destroying your last name.

         11    Okay, good.

         12                 And I'm just going to see if we have

         13  our next panel available here.  Please just speak up

         14  if you hear your name.  Rolf Kovenetsky.  Mr.

         15  Kovenetsky, you're here.  Thank you.  George Tim.

         16  Mr. Tim, thank you.  Julio Pabon.  Oh, we've heard

         17  from Mr. Pabon already.  Tom Miuk.  I'm sorry.  How

         18  do you pronounce it?  Miur. Ray Negron.  Okay.

         19  Thank you very much.  You're all here.

         20                 We're going to start with  --  why

         21  don't we start with Ms. Toro since you're right

         22  there at the microphone.

         23                 MS. TORO: My testimony will be brief.

         24    I am very concerned that you hear from as many

         25  community members as possible. My testimony really

                                                            269

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  is a joint letter from 11 groups, advocacy groups,

          3  to Speaker, Council Speaker Quinn.  And I have

          4  submitted it as the bulk of our testimony.  I'd just

          5  like to summarize a couple of points in that letter.

          6                 First, the capacity of the four new

          7  parking garages represents nearly a 75 percent

          8  increase in parking availability in the vicinity of

          9  the stadium.  Any traffic expert not under contract

         10  to the sponsors of this project, will tell you the

         11  more parking capacity invites more driving, period.

         12  The new parking will encourage more fans to drive to

         13  games, and more traffic will worsen already bad game

         14  day traffic congestion and air pollution in the

         15  South Bronx.

         16                 Second, the Yankees say they support

         17  a Metro North station.  But they haven't offered to

         18  provide any sort of financial assistance.  Nor has

         19  the Mayor sought to amend the MTA capital program to

         20  include the project.  Instead, the Yankees say the

         21  parking garages are all completely necessary.

         22  Meanwhile, the Chicago Cubs promote transit use to

         23  their stadium at every opportunity, and they kept

         24  parking at their new stadium to a minimum.  This

         25  includes a successful residential parking permit
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          2  program.  The Cubs did it.  Surely the number one

          3  ball team in the world can one- up the Cubs.

          4                 So, we urge the panel and the  City

          5  Council to recommend changes to the application

          6  before you.  The Yankees and the City have simply

          7  not made the case for all this park- destroying park

          8  capacity.  Parking capacity.  The new stadium will

          9  have fewer seats.  They claim all of the parking is

         10  needed, yet last year, the Yankees set a record for

         11  American League attendance under the stadium's

         12  current transportation arrangements.

         13                 Instead of destroying valuable

         14  parkland, and publicly subsidizing parking garages,

         15  the City and State should invest in the mass transit

         16  system.  By passing a resolution urging Mayor

         17  Bloomberg to amend the MTA capital program to

         18  include a Metro North station at Yankee Stadium.

         19  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

         21  Toro.  Mr. Mitchell.

         22                 MR. MITCHELL: Yes.  May name is Henry

         23  Mitchell.  I live at 1005 Jerome Avenue for the last

         24  25 years.  And during the whole time I was living

         25  there, and the Yankees played, they totally
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          2  disrespect the community.  The traffic, the parking

          3  on the sidewalk.  The drinking of the beer in the

          4  neighborhood.

          5                 And I believe that the park should

          6  stay there and they should build the Yankee Stadium

          7  right where it's at now.  I say, because it's not

          8  benefitting the neighborhood at all.  You know?  At

          9  all time of night, they were drinking beer, and you

         10  know, just making all type of noise, and everything.

         11    You know, it's totally disrespectful to the

         12  neighborhood.

         13                 And when the local official made

         14  their decision, no one ever come to anybody in the

         15  community.  So I think it's a disgrace as far as I'm

         16  concerned.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         18  Mitchell.  Ms. Moore.

         19                 MS. MOORE: Yes.  I'd like to get back

         20  on point here. We've discussed a lot of issues about

         21  how generous the Yankees have been.  They give us

         22  fifty cents for ice cream sometimes.  They give us

         23  new tee shirts when we have a baseball game.  And we

         24  like the Yankees.  And they're so good to us.  Some

         25  people are bought cheap. Others are not.  Okay?
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          2                 So, just to get back on point, we are

          3  talking about destroying a community and a

          4  neighborhood.  This is not about someone who lives

          5  in Baychester, Baybridge, Bay Ridge, Long Island

          6  Sound, wherever.  The teamsters who are looking for

          7  work.  They can work.  But let them work at the old

          8  site.  They don't have to destroy the entire

          9  neighborhood.

         10                 And the people  --  they're little

         11  lobbyist. They're little mini lobbyist.  You know,

         12  they're Abromson  -- what's the guy's name in

         13  Washington  --  they're not Abromsom type. But

         14  little mini lobbyist for the Yankees.  This is

         15  embarrassing. The Yankees should be embarrassed

         16  about that.

         17                 Mr. Levine, can you answer this

         18  question for me? Mr. Carrion said earlier that he

         19  was  --  you said earlier that Mr. Carrion was the

         20  one that pointed out our site to be given away.  Is

         21  that true?  Was that in the documentation that you

         22  told us about earlier?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Ms. Moore,

         24  this is your opportunity to speak, and I'm sorry,

         25  he's not  --
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          2                 MS. MOORE: Nevertheless, if that is

          3  so, Mr. Carrion, he's from my alma mater, so he's a

          4  very brilliant young man, but he blew it this time,

          5  okay?  2009 will come around very soon. Pictures are

          6  worth a thousand words.  These are the pictures of

          7  some of the main area, the one to start destroying.

          8  Jerome Avenue, the 164th Street, does this look like

          9  anybody floats around at night?  This is a beautiful

         10  landmark neighborhood.

         11                 The Yankees can certainly go south.

         12  They know they can do this.  And what was the point

         13  in bringing Mr. Jackson?  Who tapped me on the

         14  shoulder.  I am his age group, so maybe that's why

         15  he gave me a little pat, you know.  But it was

         16  embarrassing to have to bring someone in here, if

         17  you're claim to fame and all of that, that should be

         18  enough.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

         20  Moore.

         21                 MS. MOORE: We're citizens.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

         23                 MS. MOORE: And we will not allow

         24  people just to walk over us because they want a new

         25  stadium.  You want a new stadium. Well, I want my
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          2  neighborhood.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

          4  Moore.  Thank you.  Ms. Damiani.  It's your turn.

          5                 MS. DAMIANI: Good evening.  My name

          6  is Bettina Damiani.  And I'm Director of Good Jobs

          7  New York, we're a good government group.

          8                 We've been keeping track of what's

          9  going on in the Bronx since this past Summer.  I

         10  would venture to guess the Yankees have been having

         11  an eye on that park for a lot longer.

         12                 Good Jobs New York believes the

         13  Yankees should be able to upgrade the facility and

         14  they should do so with union workers.  But the

         15  community has a right to say, "Not on our parkland".

         16  And as fiscal watchdogs, we have a right to question

         17  why we're relinquishing 22 acres of heavily used

         18  parkland for the wealthiest sports team in the

         19  country.  These are just simple questions that have

         20  not really been asked.

         21                 We don't know the fiscal costs of

         22  this project.  You heard from the IDA briefly today.

         23    The IDA had a hearing on March ninth.  We follow

         24  the IDA.  That's what we do.  And at moments like

         25  this, it really starts to pay off.  Normally, they
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          2  always list their costs and their benefits.  In this

          3  cost- benefit analysis, they don't list the costs,

          4  but they admit that there's going to be a break on

          5  the mortgage recording tax exemptions with respect

          6  to mortgages securing the taxable bonds and the

          7  payment in lieu of taxes, and the exemption from the

          8  City and sales tax exemptions with the purchase of

          9  materials in construction.  There are many tax

         10  breaks with this.  Including property tax breaks.

         11  But we don't know the full cost of them.

         12                 Good Jobs New York has tried to make

         13  an estimate of them, and we've handed them out to

         14  you, and they've been put in our report as well.  I

         15  think the question needs to be is, what are the real

         16  costs of this project.

         17                 The gentleman that came up before

         18  talked about there will be about 950 new jobs.

         19  That's what we think as well.  That's what the City

         20  thinks as well.  And that 82 percent of the jobs

         21  will be located in the district.  No one is doubting

         22  that 82 percent of the jobs will be located in the

         23  district.  It's whether the people that live in the

         24  district will have access to those jobs.

         25                 This community benefit agreement, I
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          2  don't know where the community is in it.  It looks

          3  like it's a deal being done between the Bronx

          4  delegation and the Yankees.  Real CBAs, which were

          5  borne out of the west coast, take months of hard

          6  work to do, and are done before this.  This is at

          7  the very last second, and it includes the community,

          8  not only elected officials.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

         10  Thanks very much Ms. Damiani.  I'm just, since I'm

         11  sensing a little more applause in the course of

         12  events, I just want to ask you please, again, to

         13  hold your applause and we can all give ourselves a

         14  great big round of applause once we're all done, as

         15  we enter into our almost seventh hour.

         16                 Mr. Kovenetsky.  George Tim.  Tom

         17  Miur. Ray Negron. Please join us.  I'm going to ask

         18  of Gregory Bell is present.  No. Mr. Bell.  No?  Do

         19  you want to hand it out?  You can give it to the

         20  Sergeant- at- Arms, please.  Okay, so Mr. Bell is

         21  not here, correct? Okay.  Joan Pemberton.  Ms.

         22  Pemberton, are you here?  She's left. Anita

         23  Antonetty.  Anita Antonetty is gone.  We'll just

         24  check in the other room.  Carlos Alicea.  Mr.

         25  Alicea.  Okay.  Cosmo Canale. Canade.  Davia Gratt.
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          2  Okay.  Mr. Gratt.  Have a seat.  You're going to be

          3  on the next panel.  Okay.  All right.  Kulwadee

          4  Luang. Kulwadee Luang.  Angela Canale.  Okay.  Paul

          5  Luddine.  Ladine.  Mr. Ladine.  Tony Costa.  Okay,

          6  Mr. Costa.  Thank you.  Be a part of our next panel.

          7    Margaret Collins.  Margaret Collins is here. Thank

          8  you.  Pasquale Canale.  Gone.  Velvet Ross.  I think

          9  we  -- she spoke earlier, right?  Okay.  We had her

         10  earlier.  Jose Adams. Adamos.  Sorry.  Sorry sir.

         11  Okay.  You'll be part of our next panel.  Thank you.

         12                 Why don't we start with Mr.

         13  Kovenetsky.  Let's just check to make sure your

         14  microphone is on would you?

         15                 MR. KOVENETSKY: Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Try it again.

         17                 MR. KOVENETSKY: Good evening

         18  everyone.  I am Rolf Kovenetsky, from the New York

         19  Blood Center.  I'm here to give testimony on behalf

         20  of the Yankees, but want to first begin by saying,

         21  everyone who has testified today has created what I

         22  call "the creative zone" for this issue.  You can be

         23  in three zones. Either the creative zone, the

         24  comfort zone, or the comatose zone. And this has

         25  clearly put this issue in the creative zone, which I
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          2  think will inspire the Yankees, and inspire the

          3  community to make sure the Yankees stay inspired.

          4  So I think it's a good thing.

          5                 I'm here for a very obvious reason to

          6  me, but probably not obvious to anyone in the room.

          7  The New York Blood Center supports all 200 hospitals

          8  in the New York/New Jersey area with blood, every

          9  day.  A perishable product that's not made in a lab,

         10  is not given to us by paid donors, but by altruistic

         11  volunteer.

         12                 What you may not know, is a half a

         13  million donations of blood from volunteers are given

         14  every year to support these hospitals, and 50,000 of

         15  those donations come from high school kids.  When a

         16  kid in the Bronx does something bad, it's on the

         17  front page of the news and on these cameras.  When

         18  they roll up their sleeves altruistically to give

         19  blood, nobody hears about it.

         20                 The Yankees have supported that

         21  program.  In 1996, when both Joe Torre and Rolf

         22  Kovenetsky came to Yankee Stadium, he showed up to

         23  win pennants, I showed up to ask them would they

         24  step forward and sponsor the high school kids giving

         25  blood.  They do it. They do it with an event every
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          2  year at Yankee Stadium, thousands of tickets, videos

          3  that we send to schools about the importance of

          4  giving blood, personal stories from the Joe Torres

          5  of the world, about family members that use blood.

          6  And for those of you in the Bronx, just to let you

          7  know, one out of every five blood donations made in

          8  the Bronx, comes from one of your Bronx high school

          9  kids.               So they're supporting the

         10  patients every day. Whether they're cancer patients,

         11  or accident victims.  I thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         13  much sir.  Mr. Tim.  Welcome.

         14                 MR. TIM: Good evening.  My name is

         15  George N. Tim. And I'm the Director of Guest

         16  Relations and Community Services for the New York

         17  Marriott Marquise.  And I'm here today to represent

         18  the 11 Marriott Hotels in the City, which comprises

         19  of about 5,000 hotel rooms.

         20                 As you know, thousands of visitors

         21  come to New York City every year for leisure and

         22  business.  And major leisure development such as the

         23  Yankee Stadium keeps our City competitive with other

         24  leisure cities throughout the country.

         25                 The creation of New York Yankee
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          2  Stadium will place this stadium at a high level

          3  amongst other new ones in other destination cities.

          4  Obviously, New York City is a city that constantly

          5  recreates, and always looking for ways to remain a

          6  strong competitor.  Therefore, we support the New

          7  York Yankees in their efforts to gain approval for a

          8  new stadium to be built.

          9                 Frankly, I have, as you can tell from

         10  accent, I was born in Africa, and when I first came

         11  here, I had an open mind and I gave myself an

         12  opportunity.  So all I'm here to say is, please give

         13  the new project an opportunity.  And you never know

         14  what's going to come out of this.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         16  much.  Yes sir.  Mr. Miur.

         17                 MR. MIUR:  My name is Tommy Miur.  I

         18  represent the Empire State Carpenters.  I've been

         19  involved in development and in construction for over

         20  40 years now.  So I can look at this  --  one of the

         21  first things that came to my attention when

         22  everybody was speaking, from both sides, was that

         23  this is the poorest district, congressionally, in

         24  the country.  When Mr. Jackson spoke earlier about

         25  this is an opportunity for us to look at a
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          2  partnership going together, there is nothing better

          3  to look forward to than when you have a

          4  revitalization project that offers new incentives

          5  for not only the Yankees to join into, but for the

          6  public to join into also.

          7                 In a congressional area that probably

          8  doesn't get as much money back into it as other

          9  areas, it's the perfect opportunity for the template

         10  that Mr. Jackson was talking about this morning.

         11                 And the other opportunity that's

         12  there, is how often do you have that great public

         13  and private sponsorship that can go together when

         14  you're biggest employer is coming up with an

         15  improvement to the area.

         16                 Although no plan ever comes out to be

         17  perfect, I believe that what Mr. Jackson's offer

         18  was, to reach out to the Yankees and make this a

         19  good plan that works.  I think you have to go ahead

         20  and try to improve on what you have now, rather than

         21  to stay where you are.

         22                 So I would just, from a construction

         23  point, a development point, say that this is a

         24  perfect opportunity and it can be a very unique

         25  opportunity for the Bronx to be a leader in smart
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          2  growth.  That's  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          4  much.  Mr. Negron.

          5                 MR. NEGRON: Thank you very much.  My

          6  name is Ray Negron.  I've got 33 years in major

          7  league baseball.  Started in baseball as  --  I was

          8  on the streets in 1973, when, at the time, a young

          9  George Steinbrenner had just bought the ball club.

         10  I was doing graffiti outside one of the walls of the

         11  stadium, and he caught me.  And in the process of

         12  having me arrested, at the last minute, changed his

         13  mind, brought me into the Yankee Clubhouse, and he

         14  made me the batboy.  A couple of years later, I

         15  ended up being drafted in the second round by the

         16  Pittsburgh Pirates, and I've had a storied fantasy

         17  life per se.  You know, I'm --  I just want to say,

         18  I have worked with different organizations,

         19  Cleveland Indians, Texas Rangers.  There, in

         20  Cleveland, brand new ballpark, I saw what it did for

         21  the community.  I saw what it did for the kids of

         22  the area.  Texas Rangers, brand new ballpark.  I saw

         23  what it did for the community, I saw what it did for

         24  the kids of the areas.

         25                 I have four children, okay?  This is

                                                            283

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  my youngest here, his name is Ricky.  I have two

          3  more boys sitting in the stands over there.  I just

          4  want to say that in essence, my thing here  --  I'm

          5  not here for the Yankees.  I'm here for my kids.

          6  I'm here for the process that, in 33 years, and I'm

          7  not going to curse, I'm just going to say that in 33

          8  years, I have not seen the neighborhoods get better,

          9  I've only seen them get worse.  I know that I had a

         10  sister who in essence was beaten in the same park

         11  that everybody is praising.  I'm not saying that

         12  it's a good park or a bad park.  Or anything.  I'm

         13  just talking personal.  I'm talking family, okay?

         14                 And let me just say another thing.

         15  The New York Yankees, for your information, have 10

         16  Vice Presidents, okay?  Ten Vice Presidents.

         17  Minority Vice Presidents.  Okay?  More than anybody

         18  in professional sports, excuse me.  Okay.  So for

         19  whoever wanted to know.

         20                 I just want to say, if we also go to

         21   --  if we build a stadium at the site that it's in

         22  right now, we're going to have the same situation

         23  that we had back in 1974, when I was with the

         24  Yankees, and we were sharing Shea Stadium with the

         25  New York Mets, and it didn't work.  It didn't work,
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          2  and for two years, everybody was miserable,

          3  including the same fans, probably a lot of you that

          4  were here today.  Okay?

          5                 Let me just say, the kids are our

          6  future.  The future is the kids.  I'm not concerned

          7  about the people who have been living there their

          8  whole lives, from the standpoint of  --  I care

          9  about the children.  The kids who, 20, 30 years from

         10  now  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         12  Negron.

         13                 MR. NEGRON: -- Are going to be alive

         14  and be able to see that they have had a fair shot?

         15  Okay?  I want them to have a fair shot.  That's all

         16  I want.  That's all.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you for

         18  your testimony. We appreciate it.  Thank you all, to

         19  all of the panelists.  I'd like to bring up our next

         20  panel.  David Gratt.  Tony Costa. Margaret Collins.

         21  Jose Adamos.  And I'm going to call a few more names

         22  to see if anybody is present.  Fred Cambria.  Mr.

         23  Cambria, are you here?  Livio Guerrero.  Livio

         24  Guerrero.  Yes, you're here Mr. Guerrero.  Thank

         25  you.  Larry Dais.  Marc Ganis.  Mr. Ganis, thank
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          2  you.  Lisa Sorin.  Ms. Sorin.  Lisa Sorin.  Carol

          3  White. Carol White, Bronx Community College.  Carol

          4  White.  Lloyd Douglas. Mr. Douglas, thank you.

          5  Frank Cassano.  Feels like jury duty a little bit.

          6  Frank Cassano.  Mr. Cassano?  No.  Oh boy.  Julio

          7   -- somebody who lives at 888 Grand Concourse.

          8  Anybody live at 888 Grand Concourse?  We'll do it

          9  that way.  Okay.  George Natim, from Marriot Hotels.

         10    We just heard  --  okay, a double registrant. Doug

         11  Schallam.  Doug Schallam.  Junior Achievement of New

         12  York. Robert Williams.  Mr. Williams.  Robert

         13  Williams, are you here? He's in the other room?

         14  Okay.  All right.  Can you just alert him to the

         15  fact that he's up in the next panel?

         16                 And let's start with the folks who

         17  are here.  Please identify yourself.

         18                 MR. GRATT:  Mike check.  Mike check.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Yes, you're

         20  on.

         21                 MR. GRATT: My name is David Gratt.  I

         22  live around the corner from Yankee Stadium.  I'm a

         23  season ticket holder.  I have a Master's Degree in

         24  urban planning from Columbia.  I'm a former employee

         25  of City Planning.  There's something else I was
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          2  going to say, but I'm really tired.

          3                 The proposal before you to replace

          4  Yankee Stadium is mired in half truths,

          5  misinformation, and missing information. Because

          6  it's been stated previously while the Yankees will

          7  pay the entire cost of a new stadium, the entire

          8  project will cost in excess of $1.2 billion,

          9  requiring in excess of $400 million in direct and

         10  indirect funding and subsidies and lost revenue.

         11  That's all public investment.

         12                 Furthermore, information used to form

         13  the conclusions in the EIS indicate that the public

         14  will not make money off this plan, but actually lose

         15  more than $200 million over the next 30 years, as a

         16  result of this $400 million investment.

         17                 At the same time, the Parks

         18  Department wants itself to propose spending $135

         19  million on new or improved parks in the Yankee

         20  Stadium area.  But it's never indicated that it

         21  might cost as little as $30 million to renovate the

         22  existing park space.

         23                 The Yankees have said that it would

         24  cost more to renovate Yankee Stadium than to build a

         25  new.  But in 1998, the previous Borough President
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          2  proposed a plan to renovate Yankee Stadium for $189

          3  million.  The Red Sox are currently renovating

          4  Fenway for about $200 million.  And they continue to

          5  play at Fenway while the renovation goes on.

          6                 There's been discussion about the

          7  cost to maintain the building.  No one has brought

          8  up the fact that the lease can be rewritten, so that

          9  the tenant assumes the cost of the maintenance.    The

         10  list goes on and on and on.  All of the publicly

         11  available information indicates that this project

         12  will not create the benefits that its supporters

         13  claim.  It proposes to duplicate existing

         14  facilities, and will function as a drain on the

         15  public coffers for 30 years.  There is no compelling

         16  public rationale driving the approval of this

         17  project.

         18                 The prime beneficiaries of this plan

         19  are a wealthy private corporation, and certain

         20  politicians seeking higher office. The public, which

         21  owns the stadium and the parkland, is now left to

         22  fight for scraps.  This proposal is clearly doing

         23  less with more. I urge the Council to reject it.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you sir.
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          2    Thanks very much.  Welcome.  Please state your

          3  name before you get started.

          4                 MR. COSTA: My name is Tony Costa.  I

          5  was born and raised blocks away from Yankee Stadium,

          6  and I never left the neighborhood.

          7                 This Yankee proposal to steal a

          8  public good that is scare parkland in an area known

          9  as "asthma alley", and expects taxpayers to pay for

         10  separate and unequal park- like features on top of

         11  garages, five years later, is the worst proposal I

         12  have ever seen.  Who would ever think of putting a

         13  mega stadium smack in the middle of a residential

         14  neighborhood, and increase its attraction as a

         15  terrorist target?  Where is the police/terrorism

         16  study?

         17                 City Council, you have been misled by

         18  the richest sports franchise in America, that has

         19  lied at every turn, to my neighborhood.  The poorest

         20  congressional district in the country, where 61

         21  percent of my neighbors don't even speak English as

         22  their first language, and have been clearly left out

         23  of the decision making process.  The root to the

         24  problem is a political one, that occurred on 6/20.

         25  That is, June 20, 2005, when a cabal from the Bronx
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          2  delegation applied a tag- team trick to corrupt the

          3  democratic process, and mislead you to steal our

          4  City parks.  Here's a timeline as revealed in

          5  articles in the Metro New York, Village Voice, and

          6  Daily News on how the theft of the parks occurred in

          7  only eight days.

          8                 June 15, 2005.  The Yankees and New

          9  York City signed a Memorandum of Understanding that

         10  stifles any City agency opposition.

         11                 June 18.  Frank Daviano, a Republican

         12  State Senator from Queens sponsored a bill to

         13  alienate the 22 acres of parkland. June 19.

         14  Democrat Carmen E. Arroyo sponsored a bill in the

         15  Assembly.

         16                 June 20th.  This is the most

         17  important date.  Bronx Council Members Joel Rivera

         18  and Helen Foster introduced a measure before the

         19  Committee on State and federal legislation, giving

         20  Albany the go- ahead to alienate the parks.

         21  According to the minutes obtained by Good Jobs New

         22  York, Council Members never even discussed the issue

         23  at this meeting.  This measure however, arrived in

         24  the Council pre- considered.  The City's version of

         25  the State legislative inform is, measures of
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          2  necessity that allow makers to dispense with the

          3  debate.  Meanwhile, the Council Finance Division

          4  provided members with a fiscal impact statement

          5   "indicating no impact on City, expenditures

          6  resulting from the enactment of this legislation".

          7  Though by the City's own admission,  it will be on

          8  the hook for more than $135 million in land and

          9  infrastructure costs.  That afternoon, without any

         10  discussion, the measure was passed by the full

         11  Council.

         12                 June 23.  The State legislature  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Sir, I'm sorry

         14  to do this to you  --

         15                 MR. COSTA:  --  And the Yankees lost

         16  their land.  I urge you to vote "no".

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         18  much.  Thank you.  Mr. Adamos.

         19                 MR. ADAMOS: Hello.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: You're on.

         21                 MR. ADAMOS: I know.  Good evening.

         22  My name is Jose Adamos.  I call myself the legal

         23  measure of New York City.  Because I run on the

         24  ledge, and Mr. Bloomberg didn't submit one valid

         25  signature.  You are going to be running by the law.
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          2  Sooner or later, they gonna have to declare Mr.

          3  Bloomberg on a legal measure. The United States

          4  Court of Appeal is talking his millions doesn't

          5  allow it, but sooner or later, if you gonna have a

          6  civilized election.  The law say you have to submit

          7  signatures, a name.  He didn't submit one single

          8  name for his signature.

          9                 But I didn't came to make politics.

         10  I just came because I've been running the show for

         11  17 years on the cable, and many times I have spoke

         12  about the Yankee, the serious situation that concern

         13  me even before they talk about building a new

         14  stadium. Because I know what the Yankees  --  I'm

         15  Dominican  -- many Dominican plays in there, and

         16  work.  And I would like to have the opportunity to

         17  see the Yankee game some time.  I might try one

         18  time.

         19                 And you know what I have to do?  If I

         20  don't use my car?  I have to take the A Train to

         21  Port Authority.  Seven Train to Grand Central to

         22  take the Four Train up to there.  And that's good in

         23  the afternoon.  But when I came out, about one or

         24  two o'clock in the morning, it was no good at all.

         25  I have to wait on every stop, almost an hour to get
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          2  back to my house about four o'clock.  Never to do it

          3  again.  Just for the fun of it.

          4                 And that's what I know of the Yankee

          5  Stadium, to have fun.  Don't expect anybody to wait

          6  or suffer so much just to have fun.

          7                 And when they say  --  the Yankees

          8  say they moving up some more, I say the Yankees are

          9  going crazy.  Because now they getting away from the

         10  mass transit transportation, and even when they come

         11  out, the traffic is even worse, because maybe their

         12  lucky that we have the digging right there, that the

         13  Yankee Stadium, because of that they come frozen.

         14                 But I call a marvelous position for

         15  the Yankees, that is at Central Park when New York

         16  City have a space that won't affect them bad, the

         17  jockey Kennedy, where they don't have to kill so

         18  many grassland and most of the digging is already

         19  done.  We don't using the reservoirs.  It is a

         20  marvelous space for us and I've been saying that.

         21  In the Central Park.  And most of all, I mentioned

         22  this, subways are in every site.

         23                 MS. COLLINS: Hi.  My name is Margaret

         24  Collins.  I was born and raised in the Bronx.  But

         25  I'm here to speak as a health care worker.  Not to
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          2  discuss my zip code at the moment.

          3                 I'd like to say that as a health care

          4  worker, I've actually gotten to work in some of the

          5  biggest hospitals in the City, and I've seen what it

          6  looks like to have a child have an asthma attack

          7  right in front of you.  And you should think about

          8  this carefully.  Because the asthma rate in this

          9  whole country has gone up 160 percent for children

         10  under the age of five.

         11                 And there's been a lot of nonsense

         12  talked about asthma.  There are things that we don't

         13  understand about asthma. That is true.  But there's

         14  one thing we know very clearly, diesel exhaust and

         15  automobile fumes contribute to it.  And a doctor

         16  that tells you that that's not the case is not a

         17  real doctor.

         18                 And what we're going to have in this

         19  plan here, is an increase in diesel fumes and

         20  exhaust from automobiles.  That's for sure.  Astro

         21  turf does not create oxygen.  Taking public parks

         22  away from a community and creating parklets (sic)

         23  along the Major Deegan Expressway, wedged between a

         24  freight yard and an expressway, where kids can

         25  inhale more diesel exhaust, is not a solution for
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          2  the problem of asthma in the City.

          3                 And unfortunately, we've been treated

          4  to a lot of different sorts of hearings, where

          5  people who are representatives of Montefiore

          6  Hospital have gotten up.  People for blood banks.

          7  Playing golf in the Bronx.  Get up and say things.

          8  Frankly, as a health care worker, you cannot get up

          9  and speak in favor of a hospital, or even a blood

         10  donor drive, and say, in your right mind, that a

         11  project like this could help the health of children

         12  in any way.

         13                 You have to honestly say, "I'm

         14  getting paid to say this".  Frankly.  "I'm only

         15  thinking of my short- term interests". Because if in

         16  any way you are thinking of the long- term

         17  interests, you'd have to say no to this project.

         18                 And the last point I'd like to make

         19  is, I have to disagree with the comments Randy

         20  Levine made earlier, and Adolfo Carrion.  There was

         21  no political transparency about this process. I was

         22  the second person in the rotunda at one of the

         23  hearings, and they went through the crowd.  Carrion

         24  raising his hand in a support of the people that he

         25  liked that were hand picked.  And the people that he
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          2  didn't like, if they hadn't been locked out in the

          3  streets, they were not called on.  The second person

          4  in that hearing and they didn't have time to hear me

          5  speak.  After hours of testimony. This was a frame

          6  up from the very beginning.

          7                 And my family still lives in the

          8  Bronx.  My grandmother and my mother have been on

          9  the streets in this issue, and it's a serious issue.

         10    We hope you take it seriously.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Ms.

         12  Collins.  Thank you all for your testimony.  We

         13  appreciate your being here.

         14                 Our next panel is Robert Williams,

         15  LLoyd Douglas, Marc Ganis, and Livio Guerrero.

         16  Please join us at the witness table over here.  And

         17  I'm going to check a few more names.  Patti Hagan.

         18  Patti Hagan, are you here?  You are?  Okay.  We're

         19  going to get you in the next panel, okay?  Yvonne

         20  Thomas.  Ms. Thomas. Yvonne Thomas.  Vaughn.  I'm

         21  sorry.  Vaughn Thomas.  Sorry.  They wrote it with a

         22   "y" "v".  What can I tell you?  K.C. Roberts. Thank

         23  you.  We'll get you in the next one.  Constance

         24  Lesold. Ernesto Gonzalez.  Mr. Gonzalez.  Great.

         25  Thank you.  We have our next panel.
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          2                 Let's start with this one.  Mr.

          3  Guerrero.  Why don't we get you started.

          4                 MR. GUERRERO: Hello.  My name is

          5  Livio Guerrero.  I am a junior at the Morris Academy

          6  for Collaborative Studies, and the Captain of the

          7  Morris High School Campus Robotics Team.

          8                 I'm here to represent a high school

          9  team that serves as an example that the Yankees  --

         10  serves as an example of the Yankees outreach towards

         11  the community.  For those of you who don't know, a

         12  robotics team is a program that introduces

         13  engineering and technology to teenage kids that live

         14  in our society where the latest music video

         15  sometimes is more important than the latest

         16  technological advances.  So basically, the basis of

         17  this game is that we build a robot in six weeks,

         18  according to the objective of the game, and our game

         19  strategy.

         20                 The program is an expensive one, but

         21  it gets covered.  But also a rewarding one.  Our

         22  expenses are covered by our partnerships.  One such

         23  partnership is the one with the New York Yankees.

         24  Our partnership, most importantly, it shows that our

         25  national sports team such as the Yankees cares about
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          2  the community. The schools.  The kids.  Science.

          3  Technology.  And the future of science and

          4  technology.

          5                 See now, the reach of the Yankees

          6  extends further than just us.  Our school mentors 45

          7  other schools enrolled in a similar program.

          8  There's now more middle schools involved in this

          9  program in Region Two alone, than any other borough

         10  in New York City.

         11                 In this season, we went on to

         12  Pittsburgh and competed there.  We went on  --  we

         13  came back home and competed and to defend our

         14  titles.  We won first place in both competitions.

         15  Engineering Inspiration Award, which is the second

         16  most prestigious award in the whole competition.

         17  And we're currently exceeding the expectations of

         18  South Bronx high schools and it's all possible

         19  thanks to the Yankees.  And on April 25th, we're

         20  going down to Atlanta.  I invite all of you to come

         21  with us to an 18- hour bus ride and see what we

         22  could do when given a chance.  And let's see what

         23  the Yankees could do if they give them a chance.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         25  Guerrero.  We appreciate that.  Mr. Ganis.

                                                            298

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2                 MR. GANIS: Thank you Mr. Chairman.  I

          3  appreciate the opportunity to speak before the

          4  panel.  My name is Marc Ganis.  And I'm the

          5  President of a firm called Sports Corp Limited.  We

          6  are one of the firms around the country that has

          7  been involved in more stadium and arena developments

          8  than just about any other.  We've been involved in

          9  more than two dozen such facilities.  Lectured at

         10  Harvard in the role of public sector in sports

         11  facility development, the U.S. Senate, and other

         12  bodies.

         13                 And I'd like to tell you that the

         14  difficult issues with which you are all grappling,

         15  happens all around the country. Unfortunately, there

         16  are some balances that have to be dealt with some of

         17  these large- scale projects, and you, the political

         18  leadership here in New York is dealing with similar

         19  issues.

         20                 Let me first tell you that the  --

         21  and we were also engaged by the Yankees in order to

         22  be   --  to put together an economic impact study on

         23  the project itself.  Let me give you just a  --

         24  there are three basic issues that every community

         25  grapples with on these things.  First, what's the
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          2  public fiscal impact? What's the tax benefit versus

          3  the cost to the public sector. Second is the

          4  economic impact.  And that is, what jobs get created

          5  and how do they get created?  And the third is

          6  what's the long- term commitment of the public

          7  sector vis a vis the private sector in these

          8  projects?  Capital improvements.  Costs associated

          9  with it.

         10                 This project in the Bronx, by the

         11  Yankees, will be without any doubt, by far, the

         12  largest private investment by any team in the United

         13  States.  Actually, any team in the world. Towards a

         14  sports facility development.  Also, the team is

         15  taking over all cost overruns.  And cost overruns on

         16  stadium projects are typically quite significant.

         17  Third is that the team is going to assume all

         18  operating expenses associated with the project.

         19  Fourth, the team is going to assume virtually all

         20  capital expenses associated with the project, and

         21  over a 40- year term, that can be quite significant.

         22                 And the 40- year term is something to

         23  be considered. The Yankees will likely be the

         24  largest private enterprise in the Bronx.  Over 40

         25  years, the total spending of this business based in
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          2  the Bronx, would be almost a $30 billion.  It's very

          3  significant. Very significant dollars in the context

          4  of economic impact.

          5                 As you look at the project, and as

          6  you look the issues associated with the project,

          7  these are some of the issues to take into account.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

          9  much Mr. Ganis.  Mr. Douglas.  Just hit the button

         10  there and  --

         11                 MR. DOUGLAS. Oh, okay.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: You got it.

         13                 MR. DOUGLAS: Good evening.  My name

         14  is Lloyd Douglas.  I'm a minority business

         15  consultant.  I have 20 years experience in the field

         16  of designing and implementing minority owned

         17  business programs.  But I'm also a graduate of

         18  Morris High School.  And I graduated from junior

         19  high school with Bob Williams. He's been looking out

         20  for me for a long time.  Fifty years of history,

         21  Council Member.

         22                 This project, I believe, represents a

         23  great opportunity for New York City, but especially

         24  for the residents of the Bronx, and especially for

         25  Planning Board Number Four.
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          2                 To be brief, I believe that within

          3  the plan, there is a focus on opportunities for

          4  businesses that are Bronx based. And for training

          5  for the Bronx youth.

          6                 We welcome the efforts that are being

          7  made by the Council Members to be sure that the plan

          8  is improved, that there's a binding agreement, and

          9  that there's enforcement provisions.  As Mr. Jackson

         10  said, Mr. Randy Levine, Council Member Foster,

         11  Council Member Arroyo, Council Member Baez, Council

         12  Member Dickens, we appreciate the efforts that you

         13  are putting in.  And the leadership that you

         14  provide.  I believe at the engagement process that

         15  is spoken about, and the working relationship will

         16  benefit, in terms of win, win, win.  Win for the

         17  Bronx residents.  Win for the Yankees.  Win for the

         18  minority owned businesses, especially of the Bronx.

         19  And win for New York City.  Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         21  Douglas.  Mr. Williams.

         22                 MR. WILLIAMS: Good evening ladies and

         23  gentlemen.  My name is Robert Anthony Williams.  And

         24  I'm the Chairman of the New York Yankees Community

         25  Council.  I've served in this position since the 14-
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          2  member Council was formed in 1994.  And some of the

          3  Council members are here today.  Thank you for

          4  conducting this process in a manner that is open and

          5  accessible to the public, so that I may put my

          6  testimony in the public record regarding what the

          7  New York Yankees Council has done in the Bronx for

          8  the past 12 years, working closely with Mr. Brian

          9  Smith, the Yankee Executive Vice President.

         10                 Please note that this community

         11  council is not the only charity operated by the

         12  Yankees.  And the council has benefited the Bronx

         13  residents for many years, before this current issue.

         14

         15                 For your information, the first few

         16  years, the council accepted requests for funding for

         17  all five boroughs.  After which, I guess Bronx

         18  chauvinism clicked in, and we determined that

         19  $250,000 would be more effective serving the Yankees

         20  home borough of the Bronx.  Our specific objective

         21  was to serve residents in every geographic area of

         22  the Bronx, and not specifically right around the

         23  Yankee Stadium.  We established four funding

         24  categories. Little League support grants; the MVP

         25  Scholarship Award, that's the most valuable pupil;
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          2  the New York Yankee Youth Leadership Corps; and then

          3  we had a category for community- based

          4  organizations.

          5                 I come before you today to report

          6  that from 1994 to present, the Yankees Community

          7  Council has allocated funds in excess of $3 million;

          8  distributed 120,000 donated tickets to various

          9  nonprofits, senior citizens, school groups, and

         10  church groups; provided over 300 Little League

         11  support grants at $1,000 a piece; provided

         12  approximately 200 graduating seniors from Bronx high

         13  schools MVP Awards; funded in excess of 200

         14  community- based organizations with grants ranging

         15  from $3,500 and $7,500.

         16                 And if I may, I'd like to --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Please wrap

         18  up, thank you.

         19                 MR. WILLIAMS:  --  We identified and

         20  acknowledged the work of approximately 580 young

         21  individuals who are making a difference in their

         22  communities.  Each of whom were nominated by the

         23  District Manager and approved by the Chairperson of

         24  each Community Board in the Bronx.  Each youth

         25  received a stipend of $500  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you  --

          3                 MR. WILLIAMS:  --  And were honored

          4  on the playing field at Yankee Stadium at a game.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you.

          6  Thank you Mr. Williams.  And thank you all for your

          7  testimony.

          8                 I'm going to bring up the next panel.

          9    Patti Hagan. Mr. Thomas.  K.C. Roberts; Ernesto

         10  Gonzalez.  Please join us at the witness table.  I

         11  understand Mr. Syd Mandelbaum is here.  Is that

         12  right?  Mr. Mandelbaum, right?  Daniel Gonzalez.

         13  Daniel Gonzalez. Mr. Gonzalez.  John Catto.  Catto.

         14  John Oswald.  Mr. Oswald, are you here?  And Vaughn

         15  Thomas.  Wait a minute.  We've go you twice here.

         16  Okay.  Now we've got you once with your name

         17  actually spelled right.  So we're going to take that

         18  one, we're going to get rid of  --

         19                 MR. THOMAS: And pronounced right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Yes.  Did I do

         21  it?  Vaughn Thomas.  Did I do it.  Right.  Now we

         22  got you.

         23                 All right.  So then Mr.  --  Why

         24  don't we add Mr. Mandelbaum at the same time.  This

         25  is our final panel.  And so why don't you  --  is
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          2  there another seat?  Yes.  Have a seat at the table.

          3    And we'll start with Mr. Gonzalez.  Ernesto

          4  Gonzalez.

          5                 MR. GONZALEZ: My name is Ernesto

          6  Gonzalez.

          7                 How does a low wage, seasonal,

          8  temporary job help the community?  It only continues

          9  the cycle of poverty.  It is clear that the Yankees

         10  have only interests in their profits.  And not the

         11  health care or the welfare or the education of the

         12  community.

         13                 If education mattered to Borough

         14  President Carrion, he would have stayed at the

         15  meeting last  --  two weeks ago. However, for the

         16  Yankee meeting at the rotunda in December, he stayed

         17  throughout the entire meeting.  Showing that he

         18  cares only about the profits of the corporations and

         19  how they can further his political interests.

         20                 If you care about this community,

         21  prove it and reject this project.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         23  Gonzalez.  Mr. Roberts.

         24                 MR. ROBERTS: Hi.  How you doing?  I'm

         25  K.C. Roberts. You know, I'm from the Bronx.  And I
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          2  live like ten minutes away from Yankee Stadium.  I

          3  live in the Merrill's Projects Complexion (sic).

          4  And I live here in the Bronx of New York City for 30

          5  years, and I'm among other things, I'm a messenger

          6  as well.  I travel around.

          7                 This Yankee Stadium project is just

          8  doesn't sound right to build on its parklands,

          9  because you know, they must stay at the park where

         10  they belong.  Because it doesn't make no sense to

         11  build a new one, because it's been like

         12  approximately over 30 years that they renovated this

         13  house and remodeled it.  And it looks nice like the

         14  way it is like now.  Because the stadium has like

         15  58,000 seats, but the new one, over here, does not

         16  make no sense to build a new one that has like

         17  54,000.  Because fans, residents are not very happy

         18  about this, by one hundred percent at all.

         19                 And they must  --  and also, about

         20  those parks. They must be rebuilt, and start

         21  replacing all the old turf with the new turf and

         22  everything.

         23                 And I have friends of mine here,

         24  saying that the current ballpark must not be

         25  demolished because it's a big waste of money, and it
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          2  just doesn't make no sense, because things are going

          3  to look too different after all.

          4                 And basically, the new ballpark with

          5  the 54,000 seat stadium, that fans from Boston or

          6  Oakland, that takes up all the seats, is basically a

          7  problem.  The luxury seats are not too important at

          8  some levels.

          9                 See, all the turfs at the current

         10  ballparks, gonna have to be cleaned out.  And the

         11  more important things you're going to have to think

         12  about is the victims of Hurricane Katrina. There's

         13  more important things than building a new ballpark.

         14  At a certain level.

         15                 And some people just don't understand

         16  why they want to do something like this.  And I've

         17  just go a feeling because I grew up with those parks

         18  for quite amount of over 20 years.

         19                 And it's just perfect the way they

         20  are at some point.  So just rebuild the parks.

         21  That's all.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         23  Roberts.  Mr. Vaughn Thomas.

         24                 MR. THOMAS: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: How am I
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          2  doing?  I'm just going to keep saying --  I'm

          3  showing off now.

          4                 MR. THOMAS: I'm real proud of you.

          5                 My name is Vaughn Thomas.  And I'm

          6  the Executive Director of the Sports Foundation.

          7  And we're located in the South Bronx.  The hat that

          8  I'm wearing has the number "42" on it.  And that

          9  represents the number that Jackie Robinson wore.

         10  Unlike Jackie, we like the Yankees.  Okay.

         11                 Now since 1969, the Sports Foundation

         12  has been successfully creating programs that provide

         13  young people an opportunity to overcome social and

         14  academic handicaps.  And transform them into

         15  productive citizens.  At the core of our philosophy

         16  is the belief that by engaging young people in

         17  sports and teaching them healthy habits, we can

         18  develop a strong body and a strong mind.

         19                 Unfortunately, the young people we

         20  serve in the South Bronx, mostly African- Americans

         21  and Latinos, find themselves in constant battle

         22  against poverty, unhealthy habits, and unhealthy

         23  environments.  For over three decades, SFI has been

         24  there to help thousands of young people overcome

         25  this struggle.  However, we have not done it alone.
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          2                 The Yankee Community Council and the

          3  Yankee Foundation have also been there to partner

          4  with us and support community- based organizations

          5  like ours, in the South Bronx.  Their continued

          6  support most notably under the leadership of Brian

          7  Smith, has helped Sports Foundation impact lives of

          8  thousands of young people and their families with

          9  our year- round programs.  Through the years, the

         10  partnership has been productive and successful.  We

         11  want this relationship to continue.  And the cycle

         12  of success to continue.

         13                 The Yankees, and Yankee Stadium have

         14  been a source of pride, respect, entertainment, and

         15  represent a winning tradition.  We support the

         16  Yankee organization and its efforts to remain an

         17  active part of the South Bronx community.  Thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         20  Thomas.  Ms. Hagan.

         21                 MS. HAGAN: Hit this button?  I'm

         22  Patti Hagan, from Prospect Heights Action Coalition

         23  in Brooklyn.  I am a baseball fan from Brooklyn.  I

         24  am a fan of the New York City parks system, from

         25  Brooklyn.  I am a fan of Mullaly and Macombs Dam
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          2  Parks, in the Bronx, from Brooklyn.  I am also a fan

          3  of the New York City Parks Department, and the City

          4  Council when they live up to their obligations to

          5  defend the public parks from poachers, such as the

          6  Yankees.

          7                 The parks belong to the people of New

          8  York City in perpetuity.  They are an inalienable

          9  part of our history.  And our rights as citizens.

         10  You have an obligation to save Mullaly and Macombs

         11  Dam Parks.  What is proposed to the Land Use

         12  Committee is in fact, a massive land misuse project.

         13    Inalienably dedicated parks are suddenly

         14  undedicated and alienated in a secret, back room

         15  sell out to an obscenely rich sports franchise, last

         16  June.

         17                 Does anybody believe that Mullaly car

         18  park, or Macombs car park with synthetic turf, cut

         19  up by roads, adds up to the same thing as Mullaly

         20  Park?  And Macombs Dam Park?

         21                 Listen to Josh Laird, of the City

         22  Parks Department. November 17, 2005, explaining the

         23  tradeoff in purest green boondoggle- ese (sic).

         24                 I do want to talk about one of the

         25  hardest parts of this deal.  Some of the beautiful
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          2  old trees, 400 of them, will have to go.  The trees

          3  will be replaced.  Not in number, but in volume of

          4  wood.  We can't replace the grandeur of old- growth

          5  park trees, but we can replace the ecological

          6  function with synthetic turf? The answer to the

          7  trees is a two- part one.  We can all lament the

          8  losses of some beautiful trees, but you will all be

          9  living in a greener  world.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: I'm sorry Ms.

         11  Hagan.

         12                 If you have anything written that you

         13  wish to submit, you can leave it with us.   I'm

         14  sorry.

         15                 MS. HAGAN: If you rebuild it, they

         16  will come.  And that is an important thing to

         17  remember.  It is what New Yorkers do in our historic

         18  neighborhoods with our historic houses.  We rebuild

         19  them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         21  much for your testimony.  Mr. Mandelbaum.

         22                 MR. MANDELBAUM: Oh, my message didn't

         23    --

         24                 MR. CATTO: I'm Mr. Catto.  Sitting

         25  next to Vaughn Williams.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Okay.  Go

          3  ahead.  It's close.

          4                 MR. CATTO: Yes.  My name is John

          5  Catto, and I'm speaking on behalf of Ms. Elizabeth

          6  Toledo.  And I represent the Bronx YMCA.  And we're

          7  just here to talk in favor, and to just acknowledge

          8  the Yankees for our collaboration for the past ten

          9  years.

         10                 Not only have they provided us with

         11  resources to serve over the 10,000 children and

         12  families that we are able to serve at the Bronx

         13  YMCA, but in our conversations with the Yankees, we

         14  always get a sense that there is a real commitment

         15  to their community.

         16                 And we spoke earlier today, the

         17  Council spoke earlier today, about creating a new

         18  template and working with the Yankees.  We have

         19  spoken to them, and as the Bronx YMCA, we look

         20  forward to working with the Yankees, and designing

         21  and creating this new template, so that we can help

         22  the community in that area, in working with the

         23  parks, and also providing resources for seniors, for

         24  children and their families.

         25                 So we are in support of the new
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          2  stadium, and we look forward to working with the

          3  Yankees in creating this new template, and making it

          4  happen.

          5                 You know, there was a  --  five or

          6  ten years ago, in the Bronx, the Yankees were

          7  looking to move.  And it was proven that people

          8  would come to the South Bronx.  And we believe if we

          9  continue to work with the Yankees, other CBOs that

         10  we will create great opportunities for the people in

         11  the Bronx, and therefore, that's why we support the

         12  New York Yankees whole- heartedly.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you very

         14  much.  Mr. Mandelbaum.

         15                 MR. MANDELBAUM: Good evening.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Hit it one

         17  more time.  There you go.

         18                 MR. MANDELBAUM: Good evening.  We

         19  started, it was good morning.  I'd like to take this

         20  time just to thank the Council, really, for

         21  listening to all this testimony.  I may be the last,

         22  but hopefully not the least.

         23                 I'd like to introduce Santo Canores

         24  (phonetic) who is here with me.  He's not going to

         25  speak, but his agency receives thousands of dollars
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          2  in benefit from a project that the New York Yankees

          3  have partnered with or organization.  And he doesn't

          4  have to spend money on food, because food that is

          5  prepared but not served from Yankee Stadium, goes to

          6  his organization, on a weekly basis, as part of a

          7  project where dozens of community- based pantry

          8  shelters's kitchens are getting food from this

          9  project called "Yankee Sports Wrap".  It doesn't

         10  have a lot of publicity, because the Yankees didn't

         11  want that.

         12                 But as CEO of Rock and Wrap It Up, a

         13  national anti poverty organization, we do appreciate

         14  the Yankees joining this project, as have, by the

         15  way, the New York Mets, Giants, and Jets. And

         16  hopefully, we'll have a lot of the other teams.

         17                 But I want to challenge you, as a

         18  Council, to try to be proactive, and take a concept

         19  that we have, which is, if you know that you have a

         20  building taking place in a borough, put in your

         21  contract a stipulation that says all edible leftover

         22  food from this stadium must feed the hungry of those

         23  communities.  You are now looking at a NASCAR in

         24  Staten Island.  You're looking at Yankee Stadium.

         25  And hopefully, the Brooklyn Nets.  Eventually,
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          2  stadiums can be a huge resource of leftover food,

          3  which makes it so that programs can buy services,

          4  and not have to buy food.

          5                 And I will be available for the

          6  Council as I'm doing in other cities.  You were not

          7  part of the U.S. Conference of Mayors.  And we wish

          8  you would join one day.  But I will be available to

          9  consult with you on that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GARODNICK: Thank you Mr.

         11  Mandelbaum.  We appreciate it.

         12                 Let me thank our panel for your

         13  testimony.  Let me thank everybody for your patience

         14  today, and for your cooperation. Before I close the

         15  hearing, I just want to confirm that there is nobody

         16  who filled out a slip who's name I did not call.  Is

         17  there anybody?  If it's a written testimony, we'll

         18  receive it into the record.  But if Mr. Bell is not

         19  here, we're not going to read that. But if there's

         20  anybody else who is present who was not called.  If

         21  there's anybody who is present who wishes to

         22  testify, this is your last opportunity.  Okay.

         23                 Thank you.  I'm closing the hearing

         24  on this matter. Thank you all for being here.  We

         25  will considering everything that we heard during the
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          2  course of this six and a half hours worth of

          3  testimony today.  And we will be voting on this

          4  matter, as you know, on April 5th.  So thank you all

          5  for your time, and this meeting is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 7:35 p.m.)

          7                 (The following written testimonies

          8  were read into the record.)

          9

         10

         11  Written testimony of:

         12  Cosmo Canale, Bronx, NY

         13

         14                 My name is Cosmo Canale.  I am the

         15  seventh child in a family of twelve.  My father is

         16  Pasquale Canale.  I know first hand what affects my

         17  childhood had on the shaping of my life.  For most

         18  of my childhood, my father took us to the nearby

         19  park where I played football with my brothers.

         20  Being able to play sports with my brothers gave me

         21  something positive to look forward to every weekend.

         22    Something as simple as playing football and being

         23  able to exercise was a vital part of my childhood.

         24                 I can understand how these families

         25  are opposing this proposal to destroy this parkland.
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          2    Would you accept a proposal to place a stadium in

          3  front of your home?  These kids of the neighborhood

          4  do not have a voice to speak against the stadium. It

          5  is for this reason that I became involved.

          6                 Now bear in mind that I am, was, and

          7  always will be a diehard Yankee fan.  I bleed navy

          8  blue and white.  And I firmly believe that Derek

          9  Jeter is a positive role model to young sluggers

         10  everywhere.  But I became very disheartened about my

         11  team when I heard they are taking this park away

         12  from kids who need it most.

         13                 I believe every child in the world

         14  should be able to have the opportunity to play in a

         15  safe environment.  To be able to play where they

         16  live.  The community should not have to pay an

         17  admission fee to be able to access the park, which

         18  in this case, would be a tennis court.  A tennis

         19  court that you have to pay to gain entrance to is

         20  not the way to encourage people to use a facility.

         21                 The proposal, pound for pound, does

         22  not add up to what the community currently has.  I

         23  say, give this park to the community, and we will

         24  give these children of this community a chance.

         25  These kids are not asking for a state- of- the- art
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          2  facility. They are asking that the park they have

          3  played in for most of their lives does not get

          4  destroyed.

          5                 Today is the day where we can make a

          6  difference and give the children and this community

          7  what they deserve.  Thank you.

          8

          9  Written testimony of:

         10  Gregory D. Bell

         11  Founder

         12  Insight for New Housing

         13

         14                 Good afternoon City Councilpersons.

         15  My name is Gregory D. Bell.  I am a blind Vietnam

         16  veteran and the founder of Insight New Housing,

         17  Inc., which is a nonprofit real estate development

         18  corporation.  We are partially responsible for the

         19  development of Jessup Heights Apartments One and

         20  Two.  These apartments are designed for the entire

         21  community, able and differently able.

         22                 Working within the community of the

         23  Bronx, we have collaborated with the archdiocese of

         24  the Bronx, the Bronx Independent Living Center,

         25  Greater Universal Baptist Church, and the Bronx Net
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          2  Cable public access stations 67 through 70.

          3                 We advocate for the issues that

          4  confront the lives of the disabled and focus on the

          5  inclusion of the visually impaired.  We inform those

          6  who are able of the technology that allows disabled

          7  individuals to function with greater choices in

          8  their lives.  We in effect, sensitize the community

          9  and eradicate stereotypes.

         10                 Ny website better explains who I am

         11  and what my corporation's interest happens to be.

         12                 Today, I am here as co- chair of the

         13  Bronx Voices for Equal Inclusion (BVEI), a

         14  subcommittee of the Neighborhood Advisory Council.

         15                 My motto is, "If you live long enough

         16  you will acquire a disability".  Today, you are

         17  accepting testimony concerning the proposed new

         18  Yankee Stadium project.  Everyone here is directing

         19  themselves toward having the maximum impact on your

         20  deliberations, so that the results will affect the

         21  Bronx in the most positive manner.

         22                 I request that you look at what has

         23  been presented to you absent any preconceived

         24  notions real or unreal.  No one knows for sure what

         25  impact will result from your decision.  Based on the

                                                            320

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  available statistics we can make reasonable

          3  determinations about the negative impacts.  What we

          4  do know is that our families and community that we

          5  love and are concerned about have been left out of

          6  the processes.  Engaging in a meaningful dialogue

          7  prior and having those who have the authority to

          8  adjust this project in a way that would further

          9  their goals and include the community is what has

         10  been attempted to date.

         11                 We have been described as individuals

         12  attempting to stop the project, and therefore, we

         13  are ignorant of just what this project has to offer

         14  to the residents of the Bronx.  Nothing is further

         15  from the truth.  We are a cross section of young and

         16  not so young, educated and not so educated.  But the

         17  common denominator is that we recognize that our

         18  parks have been taken, and no one asked us.

         19                 A project is about to impact our

         20  community and we have not been informed.

         21  Individuals we have trusted to represent us have

         22  disrespected us, and allowed our voices to be

         23  silenced in the public discourse where this

         24  discussion should be resolved prior to coming to you

         25  for approval, regardless of the advent of a
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          2  community benefit agreement.

          3                 As a visually impaired person, a

          4  father, and grandfather, and a great grandfather, I

          5  do not like anyone robbing me of my freedom of

          6  expression.  I hired the elected officials with my

          7  vote, and if this project is not adjusted to a

          8  reasonable degree, I will make every effort to

          9  dislodge individuals from office with the same

         10  effort I opposed the present design of this stadium.

         11

         12                 Asthma rates, traffic increase, air

         13  quality, are not dismissed out of hand and

         14  forgotten.  If one child, or for that matter, if

         15  anyone loses their life due to lack of serious

         16  consideration of the design of this project, their

         17  blood is on your hands.

         18                 A life is worth a year's revenue

         19  loss.  The Yankees can withstand it.  Our parks have

         20  never been fully funded, so that the full

         21  appreciation by the City could be reconciled with

         22  the relationship it should have with the community.

         23                 The facts are before you, and the

         24  community has made their case.  Now we expect that

         25  you will vote in a manner that would send a clear
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          2  signal to both the business community and the

          3  borough of the Bronx that inclusion and transparency

          4  is what is called for.

          5                 If you recommend that the legislation

          6  that alienated the parkland should be rescinded, I

          7  would consider that wisdom. Let serious

          8  consideration be given to allowing the community a

          9  voice, and become a part of the process and not

         10  viewed as the obstacle and after thought.

         11                 I believe inclusion was the intent of

         12  the Universal Land Review process.  I believe some

         13  of you are lawyers and others understand just what

         14  the intent of the law or procedure in the City

         15  Charter was intended to accomplish.  If you state

         16  that the letter of the law and the intent has been

         17  satisfied, than I am wrong and I can stand

         18  correction.  I do not believe the individuals that

         19  have placed this plan before you have made enough of

         20  an alteration that the reduction will eliminate the

         21  negative effects of this project. Instead, the

         22  public has been led to believe that amenities have

         23  been added that are not included in the application.

         24    If for no other reason, misleading the public and

         25  attempting impacting public opinion should cause you
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          2  to look closer at the crossed "t"s and dotted "i"s.

          3                 I recognize that the work that you do

          4  is thankless and yet I thank you in advance.  I

          5  trust that you reach your conclusion with the

          6  diligence needed to have the children we intend to

          7  have vote in the future understand that it is all

          8  worth while.

          9                 May God continue to bless you in all

         10  your endeavors.

         11

         12  Written testimony of:

         13  Angela Canale

         14  Bronx, NU

         15

         16                 My name is Mrs. Angela Canale.  I am

         17  the wife of Pasquale Canale, President of the 161st

         18  Street Merchants Association.  I would like to take

         19  this opportunity to say a few words about this

         20  Yankee Stadium project.

         21                 I am the mother of 12 children.  I

         22  know that my children have always used our

         23  neighborhood parks for recreation and as a way of

         24  staying out of trouble in the streets.  So, I can

         25  easily put myself in the shoes of the parents with
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          2  families across the street from Macombs Dam Park and

          3  Mullaly Park.  These parents depend on these parks

          4  to provide recreation for their children and for

          5  family outings in general.  The taking away of these

          6  parks represents an injustice to these poor

          7  families.

          8                 I ask you to put yourselves in these

          9  parent's shoes and look at matters from their

         10  perspective.  They are trying to raise families and

         11  keep their children off the streets.  They need our

         12  help.  On behalf of these families, I ask you

         13  sincerely to stop this process.  Thank you.

         14

         15  Written testimony of:

         16  Pasquale Canale

         17  President

         18  161st Street Merchants Association.

         19

         20                 My name is Pasquale Canale, and I am

         21  the President of the 161st Street Merchants

         22  Association.  I was a member of the Community Board

         23  #4, and I have been a business owner for over 25

         24  years, at Hero Factory, which is located on Sheridan

         25  Avenue at 161st Street.  I care deeply about this
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          2  community, and the people who live here.  And that

          3  is the reason for my statement today, in opposition

          4  to the proposed Yankee Stadium development project.

          5                 I have reviewed and studied the

          6  proposed Yankee Stadium development project for

          7  quite some time, and I know full well what the

          8  consequences will be for this community if that

          9  project is allowed to go forward.  I cannot in good

         10  conscience support a project that would have such

         11  devastating effects on those who have the least to

         12  say in whether the plan goes forward.  As a member

         13  of the Community Board, I voted against this

         14  project, because of the harmful effects it would

         15  have on the neediest members of the community.

         16  Today, I ask you to do the same.

         17                 It would be an absolute tragedy if

         18  this Mullaly and Macombs Dam parkland, which is the

         19  only area available to the needy children of this

         20  community, were to be confiscated in order to erect

         21  a baseball stadium for the most valuable franchise

         22  in sports. These children usually come from single-

         23  parent households and desperately need a place where

         24  they can play until their parents return from work.

         25  If this parkland were confiscated from them to erect
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          2  this stadium, these children would have no

          3  alternative but to turn to the streets, which is a

          4  situation that we desperately need to avoid.

          5            We have heard about the plans for a so-

          6  called "new parks" that the project will create for

          7  the community, but to take away this parkland from

          8  these children and replace it with play areas on top

          9  of parking garages (as the plan intends) is to add

         10  insult to injury.  In addition to taking their

         11  neighborhood park from, the plan would give a

         12  community with a history of asthmatic conditions

         13  among children, a playground built on top of exhaust

         14  fumes.

         15                 Members of the City Council, it is

         16  because of the plight of these underprivileged

         17  children that I am here today.  I am the father of

         18  12 children myself, and my wife and I know that if

         19  the majority of these children came from households

         20  with both parents, the community resistance to a

         21  project that would erect a stadium directly in front

         22  of their homes would be even greater than it is

         23  today.  Unfortunately, these little children who

         24  come from single- parent homes in this community are

         25  the ideal targets for this sort of development.

                                                            327

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  Their parents, who are so burdened with trying to

          3  make a living, have no resources to fight this

          4  encroachment on their families' living area.  It is

          5  for these children that I am fighting, and I ask

          6  that you join me in this cause.

          7                 Before voting on this project, I beg

          8  of you to ask yourself, "If a sports team were to

          9  put a stadium directly in front of my family's home,

         10  how would I like it?".  That in essence, is the

         11  question before you today.  Is the erection of a

         12  stadium built to benefit the most valuable franchise

         13  in sports important enough to take away the only

         14  playground available for the neediest, most

         15  vulnerable members of our community?  Thank you for

         16  your time and attention today.

         17

         18                 Written testimony of:

         19                 Steve Strauss, Manhattan Community

         20  Board

         21                 Committee Chairman Garodnick and

         22  members of the Council, my name is Steve Strauss,

         23  and I want to thank you for the opportunity to speak

         24  on aspects of the proposed new Yankee Stadium that

         25  are before the subcommittee today.  Although I am
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          2  testifying as an individual, I would like to note

          3  that I am currently a member of a Manhattan

          4  Community Board, and spent 20 years working for the

          5  MTA and MTA New York City Transit from 1982 to 2002.

          6                 I am generally in favor of the plans

          7  to build a new Yankee Stadium in the Bronx.  It is

          8  good for New York and it's good for the Yankees.  My

          9  objections and concerns relate to the transportation

         10  plans for the stadium and the wrong message it sends

         11  on rational transportation policy in New York City.

         12                 My first concern is the expanded

         13  number of parking spaces.  It is odd that the

         14  Yankees are building a new stadium that seats

         15  slightly fewer people and are seeking public

         16  subsidies for a greatly expanded number of parking

         17  spaces in expensive decks.  The decks will generally

         18  be built on public parkland which would be much

         19  better used for either open space or housing.

         20                 Attendance at Yankee games has not

         21  seemed to suffer from a lack of parking.  Additional

         22  parking garages only encourages fans to drive to

         23  ball games rather than use public transportation.

         24  This a bad public policy decision for the Council to

         25  make and encourages gasoline consumption, greater
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          2  traffic congestion in Manhattan and the Bronx and

          3  increased air pollution.

          4                 Interestingly, according to

          5  transportation planners at NYC Transit, transit use

          6  at Yankee Stadium increases with higher attendance.

          7  Games with high attendance draw a greater mode share

          8  to transit than games that don't sell out.  This

          9  fact argues for less publicly subsidized parking

         10  decks and more investment by the Yankees and the

         11  City in mass transit options.

         12                 It was quite surprising to learn that

         13  the plans for the new stadium no longer include a

         14  Metro North station.  A Metro North station had been

         15  in the amenities package for a new stadium for over

         16  15 years.  A Metro North station would provide

         17  direct service to the stadium from Manhattan and the

         18  Hudson line and connecting service via a shuttle

         19  train to 125th Street for the Harlem and New Haven

         20  lines.

         21                 In addition, a Metro North station

         22  provides a number of benefits to NYC and suburban

         23  residents beyond baseball games. First, in the event

         24  of future transit strikes, a Yankee Stadium station

         25  provides a convenient and functional park and ride

                                                            330

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2  station (hopefully, with fewer parking spaces) for

          3  Bronx residents to access Metro North.  Conversely,

          4  in the event of a natural disaster or terrorist

          5  incident that shut down Metro North Park Avenue

          6  viaduct or tunnel, a Metro North station here with

          7  nearby connections to the D or No. 4 trains would

          8  provide suburban commuters with access options to

          9  the east and west sides of Manhattan.  It would also

         10  allow Metro North greater flexibility with respect

         11  to large maintenance and repair projects affecting

         12  the Harlem River bridge, the viaduct and the Park

         13  Avenue tunnel.

         14                 Lastly, all of this parking is just

         15  bad public policy in the area of transportation.

         16  Many Council Members including Chairman Garodnick

         17  spoke about traffic congestion and mass transit in

         18  their campaigns last Fall.  Here's an opportunity to

         19  actually do something about excessive gasoline

         20  consumption, traffic congestion, and open space.  If

         21  you provide public subsidies and zoning approval for

         22  all of these decks, people will drive to games.  If

         23  you just say no and require investment in public

         24  transportation options, people will come by train,

         25  subway, and bus, and we will all be better off.
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          2                 Thank you and I would be happy to

          3  respond to any questions.

          4                 Written testimony of:

          5                 Anita Antonetty, Bronx, NY

          6                 I want to thank you for meeting with

          7  me and other members of the community on the issue

          8  of the proposed new Yankee Stadium.  I want to also

          9  thank you for setting up the meeting of February 13,

         10  2006, with Speaker Quinn, and I hope that another

         11  meeting could be arranged that would allow more time

         12  with the Speaker.

         13                 The New York City Council needs to

         14  vote against the ULURP for the new Yankee Stadium

         15  project just as Bronx Community Board 4 did in

         16  November 2005.  The proposed project to build a

         17  stadium directly across the street from the

         18  residential community of Highbridge is a plan that

         19  would be unacceptable in any community.

         20                 Also, destroying the only large,

         21  natural public parkland in the area for parking

         22  garages and a commercial stadium is an atrocity that

         23  would never happen in Central Park, Riverside Park,

         24  or Prospect Park.  What is being promised as

         25  replacement is farther away from the residential
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          2  area, fragmented into pocket parks and plastic parks

          3  on top of garages, and unequal to what we have

          4  today.  Greed together with racism and classism is

          5  driving this project.

          6                 This community has borne the burden

          7  of the stadium and all that it brings for many

          8  years.  The community has also borne the neglect of

          9  the City in its refusal to maintain Macombs Dam and

         10  Mullaly parks.  The ball fields have been destroyed

         11  because the City has permitted them to be used as

         12  parking lots during Yankee games.  Yet, we are not

         13  demanding that the Yankees leave the neighborhood.

         14  We can work on these issues to make hosting a

         15  stadium less burdensome. What we are demanding is

         16  that the stadium not be brought into the residential

         17  community and that our public parks be maintained as

         18  parks and not as another parking lot.

         19                 The stadium should stay in the

         20  commercial area where it exists today.  The

         21  alternatives to rebuild the stadium at its present

         22  site or south and west of it have not been fully

         23  explored and have been dismissed out of hand as

         24  inconvenient and less profitable.  However, it quite

         25  all right to inconvenience and destroy the quality
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          2  of life of a residential community.

          3                 Since the Community Board vote, the

          4  Yankee organization has been very busy winning

          5  hearts and minds by getting involved in community

          6  programs and businesses, making promises, and giving

          7  out funds.  This is all well and good.  However, it

          8  is something that should have been happening

          9  throughout the last 30 years, and not just the last

         10  few months.  All of this good will should not be

         11  contingent on the stadium being built in the park.

         12  Because of this activity, many people will support

         13  this project. The up front investment of the City

         14  and State of approximately $1 billion for the

         15  possible return of $40- 60 million over 40 years is

         16  a great deal for the Yankee organization, but a loss

         17  for our community, the City, and the State.  Even if

         18  the Yankees actually do repay their much- touted

         19  investment, it will be after the loan of the less-

         20  touted public funds that come from our pockets.  The

         21  question we rally have to ask ourselves is for what

         22  price do we give up our mothers, our children, our

         23  community, ourselves?

         24                 The proposed plan only benefits the

         25  Yankee organization.  In this time of serious budget
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          2  cuts to vital programs and the still unfunded CFE

          3  settlement, why should the taxpayers have to pay to

          4  replace what already exists?  The City Council

          5  should demand a fully- detailed accounting of the

          6  cost for rebuilding the stadium at its current site

          7  and the costs of maintaining versus rebuilding of

          8  the public parkland.  The City Council should also

          9  ask why it is not okay to build a stadium on the

         10  west side of Manhattan because of increased traffic

         11  and quality of life issues, but it is okay to do it

         12  in the South Bronx, with the same issues and more.

         13  Quality of life should not depend on income,

         14  languages spoken, or skin color.

         15                 We are not afraid of change in our

         16  community.  In fact, we have been living with a lot

         17  of change for many years, especially with all the

         18  new housing construction and rapidly increasing

         19  gentrification.  This project is not change for the

         20  better.  It is an abuse.

         21                 We work very hard for what little we

         22  have in this community.  But in comparison to the

         23  Yankee organization, we have nothing.  And are,

         24  therefore, fighting against all odds to maintain our

         25  quality of life.  No one anywhere would want a
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          2  commercial stadium across the street from her/his

          3  home.

          4                 I hope that this dialogue can

          5  continue so that together we can work for benefit or

          6  this community where we live every day of every

          7  year.  I thank you again for your effort to

          8  represent this district, and I look forward to

          9  meeting with you again to further discuss this

         10  issue.

         11

         12                 Written testimony of:

         13                 Kathryn Wylde, President and CEO,

         14  Partnerships for New York City.

         15                 Good afternoon and thank you for the

         16  opportunity to submit testimony before the

         17  subcommittee in support of this important plan to

         18  build a new stadium for the Yankees in the Bronx.

         19                 The Partnership is an organization

         20  comprised of the chief executive of the City's

         21  largest employers.  It is committed to working in

         22  partnership with government, labor, and the

         23  nonprofit sector to enhance the economy and create

         24  jobs.

         25                 The Partnership has a long history
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          2  with the Bronx. In 1982, the Partnership founded the

          3  New York City Housing Partnership, a nonprofit

          4  organization that has sponsored development of

          5  20,000 owner- occupied homes and rental apartments

          6  valued in excess of $2.5 billion.  More than a

          7  quarter of this housing development occurred in the

          8  Bronx.

          9                 The new Yankee Stadium and related

         10  improvements in the surrounding area will be an

         11  important contribution to the continued

         12  revitalization of the South Bronx.  The spin of

         13  benefits of a new stadium, bringing additional

         14  visitors and jobs to the area, is a tremendous

         15  economic development opportunity for the surrounding

         16  community, especially for small businesses,

         17  restaurants, souvenir ships, and ultimately, even

         18  hotels and guest houses.

         19                 Studies by both the City and the

         20  State show that the new Yankee Stadium will have a

         21  net positive impact on City and Sate tax revenues.

         22  The project will produce thousands of construction

         23  jobs and almost 1,000 permanent jobs.

         24                 The new stadium will link to the

         25  proposed Gateway Center at Bronx Terminal Market, a
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          2  $394 million waterfront retail center that will

          3  create 3,000 new jobs in the South Bronx.

          4                 The Yankees have pledged to implement

          5  minority, women's and local business and worker

          6  participation in both the construction and permanent

          7  phases of the project.

          8                 Last year, the Partnership supported

          9  the authorization by the State Legislature to build

         10  the new stadium on City parkland.  As part of this

         11  plan, all of the parkland that will be taken by the

         12  new stadium will be replaced with even more

         13  parkland, along with new athletic facilities.  The

         14  Yankees have pledged to provide funds to help

         15  maintain these new parks and to expand their

         16  outreach efforts to schools, youth groups, and

         17  community groups in the Bronx.

         18                 Finally, the stadium plan will enable

         19  the Yankees to remain in the Bronx.  The Yankees

         20  organization has studied all of the alternatives,

         21  and the site that has been selected (directly across

         22  161st Street from the existing stadium) is the only

         23  viable site in the borough.  Moreover, if this plan

         24  is approved, the Yankees agreed to sign a long- term

         25  commitment to remain in the Bronx for at least 40
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          2  more years.

          3                 The Yankees are an important part of

          4  our City's history and its appeal to visitors from

          5  all over the world.  The recently published book by

          6  Jonathan Mahler, Ladies and Gentlemen; The Bronx is

          7  Burning, tracks the parallel histories of the team

          8  and the City through the decades when urban America

          9  and New York City was largely written off.  Through

         10  the 1970s, the Yankees symbolized the spirit that

         11  ultimately prevailed as the Bronx and New York City

         12  rebounded and began to thrive.  By approving this

         13  plan for a new Yankee Stadium, the City Council can

         14  help assure that this rich history continues,

         15  recognizing that the Yankees are integral to the

         16  resilience and future of the Bronx.

         17

         18                 Written testimony of:

         19                 Luz Reyes- Devine, Chairperson and

         20  Francisco Gonzalez, President of The Bronx Puerto

         21  Rican Day Parage, Inc.

         22                 I am here today on behalf of the

         23  Bronx Puerto Rican Day Parade, Inc., and we are here

         24  to support the Yankees and their move to Macombs Dam

         25  and Mullaly Park.
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          2                 We are pleased that the Yankees have

          3  modified their plans to include many of the

          4  recommendations which the community has requested,

          5  and while discussions continue, we are sure that all

          6  the parties involved will be satisfied at the end of

          7  the day with their new stadium.

          8                 What does the new stadium mean to the

          9  community?

         10                 Our community within the Bronx,

         11  numbers 300,000 persons strong, within this number,

         12  we host over 120 organizations as part of our

         13  family.  Health providers, social service

         14  organizations, baseball teams, unions, and

         15  educational institutions.  The diversity continues

         16  and includes agencies from throughout the nation and

         17  Puerto Rico.

         18                 We mention our organizations because

         19  the Yankees, as a member of the family, play an

         20  important role in the life of our community, not

         21  just because they are the employers of Jorge Posada,

         22  Bernie Williams, and Reggie Jackson Martinez, plus a

         23  great number of young talented players in their farm

         24  teams.  But because they give our children hope to

         25  stride to achieve greatness.  While everyone is not
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          2  going to play in the major leagues, the Yankees

          3  provide scholarships for students, they provide

          4  leadership stipends and they provide jobs locally.

          5                 As an economic engine it is our

          6  belief that the Yankees value to New York can not be

          7  measured and while we have examples of what has

          8  happen and could happen to a local economy when a

          9  team leaves the City, the Dodger and Giant, true

         10  fans would rather forget those negative memories.

         11                 Why do we support the new stadium?

         12                 It means jobs, not just construction

         13  jobs but permanent jobs, not just security jobs, but

         14  grounds keepers, trainers, physical therapist and

         15  lastly, jobs in management positions in local

         16  businesses.

         17                 While we watched the World Series in

         18  1977, Howard Cosells voiced that the Bronx is

         19  burning, and while this statement was true, what

         20  wasn't know, was that those who believed in future

         21  of the Bronx had already begun to rebuild, and in

         22  1997, we were given the recognition as one of the

         23  ten "All America Cites" for our efforts.

         24                 We didn't do it alone.  With the

         25  Yankees as one of our strong selling points, we
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          2  rebuilt our infrastructure. Institutions such as

          3  Montefiore Hospital, Bronx Lebanon, The New York

          4  Botanical Gardens, The New York Zoological Society,

          5  Fordham, Manhattan Universities and Lebanon College,

          6  Fordham Road Businesses, and K- Mart Mall, Target on

          7  Broadway, helped us to rebuild our anchors,

          8  attracting new investors, businesses, and visitors

          9  to the Bronx.

         10                 The Bronx is better than ever.

         11                 But as we all know, it has always

         12  been the Yankees which have driven our tourism

         13  trade.  The Yankees and their players are known

         14  throughout the world as the team which sets the

         15  standards in baseball.  Now, together, we Bronxites

         16  have set the standards of rebirth for other cities

         17  throughout the nation.

         18                 In closing, the Yankees are part of

         19  our extended family.  Let's all stand behind them

         20  and support the new Yankee Stadium.

         21

         22                 Written statement by:

         23                 Timothy McGuinness, Senior Vice

         24  President, NYC & Company

         25                 My name is Timothy McGuinness, Senior
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          2  Vice President at NYC & Company, the City's official

          3  tourism marketing organization.  Thank you for the

          4  opportunity to speak today.

          5                 NYC & Company strives to build New

          6  York City's economy by bringing more visitors to the

          7  City and encouraging them to experience all five

          8  boroughs of the City when they do visit. The new

          9  Yankee Stadium development is a project we believe

         10  in and encourage you to support.

         11                 As you know, the travel and tourism

         12  industry has become an increasingly important engine

         13  of economic development, through spending, jobs, and

         14  tax revenues in New York City.  Last year, New York

         15  City played host to 41 million domestic and

         16  international visitors.  Collectively, the spent

         17  over $22 billion on lodging, meals, transportation,

         18  shopping, and entertainment. Visitor dollars,

         19  including the nearly $3 billion spent on recreation,

         20  support over 325,000 good jobs throughout the City,

         21  and generate over $5 billion in tax revenues that

         22  support the City and State services.

         23                 In New York City, baseball is indeed

         24  a tourist attraction.  Last year, almost 4 million

         25  visitors took in a sporting event when they were in
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          2  the City.  That's about one visitor in ten to the

          3  City.  Baseball appears to be the most visited

          4  sports event, especially by family groups and

          5  international travelers, both likely to spend

          6  significant time and money in the City.

          7                 Recently, even as inbound

          8  international travel was declining, we found that

          9  baseball helped reverse the trend.  In 2004, NYC &

         10  Company increased travel from Japan to New York

         11  City, when Hideki Matsui became our official tourism

         12  ambassador.  Ardent Japanese baseball fans and other

         13  Japanese travelers responded to the invitation to

         14  visit New York City promoted in is Japanese language

         15  radio spots.  Some Japanese tour operators reported

         16  a doubling of their NYC bound bookings in 2004 and

         17  2005.  Other key New York City international origin

         18  markets are also big fans of baseball.

         19                 WE believe, based upon our research

         20  with visitors and our experience marketing New York

         21  City as a destination, that the new Yankee Stadium

         22  can benefit the City's leisure and hospitality

         23  businesses and workers in several ways.

         24                 First, it will assure that the

         25  Yankees continue their home town tradition, playing
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          2  world- class baseball in a modern, safe ballpark and

          3  neighborhood, that will become destinations in and

          4  of themselves.

          5                 The stadium project means

          6  construction jobs now, a variety of employment

          7  opportunities in the community for years to come,

          8  and the continued economic activity of uninterrupted

          9  baseball in the Bronx.  That means more money for

         10  the workers already employed at the stadium, and the

         11  businesses in the neighborhood as well as

         12  restaurants, hotels, and other tourism providers.

         13                 Second, the new stadium and related

         14  infrastructure improvements will add flexibility and

         15  depth to the tourism assets associated with sports

         16  facility developments.  Together with investment in

         17  the people and businesses in the borough, including

         18  some neighborhood retail, dining, and hotel

         19  developments, the project will create more reasons

         20  for visitors to travel here and into the Bronx.  For

         21  example, Monument Park, so essential to the sense of

         22  history shared by fans of Yankee baseball and the

         23  team, will not only be preserved, but it will now be

         24  open all year, bringing more people into the

         25  neighborhood to visit shops and restaurants nearby.
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          2                 Third, this is a good time for the

          3  City and State to reinvest in our City's residential

          4  and mixed use neighborhoods. The talked about

          5  transportation links for Metro North and parking

          6  facilities, rather than parking on park lawns and

          7  sidewalks, will make it easier for visitors to

          8  arrive and enjoy the revitalization and excitement

          9  that makes Bronx residents so proud of their

         10  borough.

         11                 Fourteen years ago, the city of

         12  Baltimore took a chance and built Oriole Park at

         13  Camden Yards.  The stadium was so successful, it

         14  quickly exceeded the projected economic benefits for

         15  the state of Maryland and the city, in the form of

         16  revenues from income, dining, shopping, hotel and

         17  admissions taxes.  We expect no less from the fans

         18  and teams of New York.

         19                 The plan is on an aggressive

         20  timetable.  Beginning this Spring, when the IDA

         21  backed bonds go on sale, the stadium project will

         22  create construction jobs and opportunities for many

         23  Bronx and City residents and businesses.  When play

         24  begins in the new stadium in 2009, there will be

         25  even more jobs and continued economic growth.

                                                            346

          1  PLANNING, DISPOSITIONS AND CONCESSIONS

          2                 We in the travel and tourism industry

          3  look forward to working with the NYC City Council

          4  and other City and State elected officials as this

          5  project takes shape and becomes the cornerstone in

          6  plans to rebuild an economically vibrant community

          7  in the South Bronx.

          8                 We ask that you approve the team's

          9  Land Use application.  Thank you.

         10

         11                 Written statement of:

         12                 Carol White, Director of Public

         13  Affairs, Bronx Community College

         14                 My name is Carol White, and I am the

         15  Director of Public Affairs of Bronx Community

         16  College.  I am here this afternoon to tell you about

         17  the New York Yankees support of the College's Annual

         18  Hall of Fame 10K Road Race.

         19                 Our former President, Roscoe C.

         20  Brown, Jr. Whom many of you know is one of the

         21  famous Tuskegee Airmen, started this race 28 years

         22  ago.  When Dr. Carolyn Williams assumed the

         23  Presidency of Bronx Community College 10 years ago,

         24  she was resolved to continue this special college

         25  event.  Ad indeed the race has become a Bronx Spring
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          2  ritual.  The race starts at the College and is run

          3  up and down the Grand Concourse on the first

          4  Saturday in May.  This year, the race will be May

          5  6th, and I invite you all to join us.

          6                 About four years ago, we approached

          7  the Yankees Community Affairs Department seeking

          8  their support for the race. The Yankees, through

          9  Brian Smith, the Director of Community Affairs

         10  Department, agreed to become one of the race

         11  sponsors, and since then, they have been among our

         12  staunchest race sponsors.

         13                 Next year, 2007- 2008, the College

         14  will be celebrating its 50th anniversary and we look

         15  forward to a continued relationship with the Bronx

         16  championship team.

         17                 Thank you for allowing me to speak.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 7:35 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 28th day of March 2006.

         18
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         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          JOAN GARCIA
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              JOAN GARCIA
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